

Functional analysis of plant RNaseIII enzymes Nahid Shamandi

▶ To cite this version:

Nahid Shamandi. Functional analysis of plant RNaseIII enzymes. Agricultural sciences. Université Paris Sud - Paris XI, 2013. English. NNT: 2013PA112157. tel-01374731

HAL Id: tel-01374731 https://theses.hal.science/tel-01374731

Submitted on 1 Oct 2016

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.





UNIVERSITE PARIS-SUD

ÉCOLE DOCTORAL : SCIENCE DU VÉGÉTAL Laboratoire Épigénétique et petits ARNs

DISCIPLINE : BIOLOGIE

THÈSE DE DOCTORAT

Soutenance prévue le 23/09/2013

Par

Nahid SHAMANDI

Functional analysis of plant RNaseIII enzymes

Composition du jury :

Directeur de thèse :	Hervé VAUCHERET	Directeur de Recherche (IJPB)
Rapporteur :	Cécile BOUSQUET-ANTONELLI	Chargé de Recherche (LGDP)
	Olivier VOINNET	Directeur de Recherche (ETH)
Examinateur :	Moussa BENHAMED	Maitre de Conférences (IBP)
	Martin CRESPI	Directeur de Recherche (ISV)

Table of Contents

Abstract	4
1 - Introduction	5
1.1 - RNA Silencing: Definition, History & Key factors	5
1.2 - RISC: the main actor for RNA silencing	7
1.2.1 - Argonaute proteins	7
1.2.2 - Small RNAs	9
1.3 - Modes of action	16
1.3.1 - Transcriptional gene silencing	16
1.3.2 - Post transcriptional gene silencing	17
1.4 - RNAi as an Antiviral Response	17
1.4-1 - Actors of the antiviral RNA silencing	18
1.4.2 - Viral suppressors of RNA silencing	18
1.5 – Presentation of the objectives of the thesis	19
1.5.1 - Dicer-independent small RNAs	19
1.5.2 - The RNaseIII family	21
1.5.3 – Functions of plant RNaseIII	24
2 – Materials and Methods	
2.1 – Plants and viruses	
2.1.1 – Plant material	
2.1.2 – Plant transformation	
2.1.3 – Virus and Bacterial inoculation	26
2.2 - Plasmid constructs	28
2.2.1 – RTL1 and RTL2 tag fusion	28
2.2.2 – RNaseIII mutation	28
2.2.3 – DRB deletion	
2.2.5 – amiR-RTL1	30
2.3 – DNA, RNA and protein analysis	
2.3.1 – RNA extraction and Northern analyses	
2.3.2 - RT reactions	
2.3.3 – Protein extractions and immunoblotting	
2.3.4 – GUS enzymatic activity test	
3 – Results	
3.1 – RTL1	32
3.1.1 – Induction and suppression of RTL1 by viruses (article)	32
3.1.2 - Supplementary Results	70
3.2 – RTL2	76
3.2.1 - RTL2 enhances the accumulation of 21- and 24-nt siRNAs	79
3.2.2 – Mutations in the RTL2 RNaseIII domain mostly affect the accumulation of 24-m	t siRNAs
3.2.3 - The second DKB domain is required for RTL2 activity	81
5.5 – Epistatic relationship between KTLT and KTL2	
4- Discussion	
4.1 - RTL1	85
4.2 - RTL2	87
5 - Possibilities for future research	80
5 - 1 Ussibilities for future research	
5.1 - Shot - Com goals	
5.1.2 - RTL1 localization	89 89
5.1.3 - Complimentary viral trails with RTL1	

5.1.4- RTL2 overexpression in <i>dcl</i> mutants	90
5.2 - Long term goals.	
5.2.1- Functional studies of other RTLs	90
5.2.2 – RTL interactions with other proteins/RNAs	90
6 - References	

Abstract

Small RNAs, including miRNA and siRNA, play essential regulatory roles in genome stability, development and stress responses in most eukaryotes. Plants encode four DICER-LIKE (DCL) RNaseIII enzymes. DCL1 produces miRNAs, while DCL2, DCL3 and DCL4 produce diverse size classes of siRNA. Plants also encode RNASE THREE-LIKE (RTL) enzymes that lack DCL-specific domains and whose function is largely unknown.

Arabidopsis plants over-expressing RTL1 exhibit morphological defects and lack all types of small RNAs produced by DCL2, DCL3 and DCL4, indicating that RTL1 is a general suppressor of plant siRNA pathways. RTL1 activity requires a functional RNaseIII domain. RTL1 is naturally expressed only weakly in roots, but virus infection strongly induces its expression in leaves, suggesting that RTL1 induction is a general strategy used by viruses to counteract the siRNA-based plant antiviral defense. Accordingly, transgenic plants over-expressing RTL1 are more sensitive to TYMV infection than wild-type plants, likely because RTL1 prevents the production of antiviral siRNAs. However, TCV, TVCV and CMV, which encode stronger suppressors of RNA silencing (VSR) than TYMV, are insensitive to RTL1 over-expression. Indeed, TCV VSR inhibits RTL1 activity, suggesting that inducing RTL1 expression and dampening RTL1 activity is a dual strategy used by viruses to establish a successful infection.

Plants over-expressing RTL2 and *rtl2* mutants do not exhibit morphological defects and do not show major changes in the endogenous small RNA repertoire. However, RTL2 over-expression enhances the accumulation of exogenous siRNAs in transient assays, and this activity requires a functional RNaseIII domain. Therefore, it is possible that plant RTL2 processes certain substrates to facilitate the action of DCL enzymes.

1 - Introduction

1.1 - RNA Silencing: Definition, History & Key factors

RNA silencing, also known as RNA interference (RNAi) is a conserved eukaryotic mechanism that regulates gene expression at transcriptional or post-transcriptional levels (Ghildiyal and Zamore, 2009; Lee et al., 2010).

The first RNAi phenomenon described in scientific literature dates back to 1928. In an article published in the Journal of Agricultural Research, S. A. Wingard reported that 23 days after inoculation of Turkish tobacco plants with ring-spot virus, only the leaves that had been specifically inoculated with the virus expressed symptoms of the disease while the others did not (Fig.1.1.A) (wingard, 1928). In top most leaves of the plants, a gradual decline and an eventual disappearance of the symptoms was observed. It was only in 1997 that Ratcliff et al. postulated that the recovery from viral infection involved specific targeting of viral RNAs by RNA silencing (Ratcliff et al., 1997).

In 1990 Napoli et al. observed another type of RNAi phenomenon, this time in petunia breeding (Napoli et al., 1990). Looking for new petunia varieties with deep purple petals, Napoli et al. cloned the petunia gene for chalcone synthase (CHS), which is a key factor in flavonoid biosynthesis during flower pigmentation pathways of petunia, under the cauliflower mosaic 35S promoter. Introduction of 35S::CHS in petunia resulted in an unexpected reduction in floral pigmentation - either a homogenous bleaching (up to full white) or variegated in sector/ring pigmentation patterns (Fig. 1.1.B)(Napoli et al., 1990). Molecular analyses showed that the level of endogenous and transgenic CHS in petunia transformants was 50-fold lower compared with control wild type plants. The same results were reported separately by Van der Krol et al. (van der Krol et al., 1990). Overall it was ascertained that RNA Silencing could not only suppress the expression of a transgene, but also can affect and reduce the expression of the homologous endogens of the host. This phenomenon was dubbed "cosuppression" (Napoli et al., 1990). Remarkably, the morphological and molecular phenotypes observed in 35S::CHS transgenic petunia plants resemble that of the petunia Red-Star variety (Fig 1.1.B) (Koseki et al., 2005). The Red-Star variety was obtained in 1830 through crosses between uniformly colored petunias and exhibits a duplication of the CHS genes, indicating that transgeneinduced co-suppression mimics a natural manifestation of RNA silencing.

In animals the RNAi silencing mechanism was first reported by Guo and Kemphues (Guo and Kemphues, 1995). In an attempt to better understand the mechanisms of asymmetric cell division in *Caenorhabditis elegans*, Guo and Kemphues observed that the introduction of sense or antisense par-1mRNA, a protein kinas required for many aspects of early embryonic polarity, results in degradation of the endogenous par-1mRNA in *C. elegans*. In 1998, inspired by these findings Fire and Mello, suggested that it was double, not single, stranded RNA that was the trigger for gene silencing effect





Red-Star

В

35S::CHS

Fig. 1.1 Natural manifestations of RNA silencing

A) Recovery from virus infection: Turkish tobacco plants inoculated with ring-spot virus exhibit symptoms in the bottom leaves and progressive recovery in the upper leaves. Top leaves are immune to re-inoculation (Wingard, 1928).

B) Petunia Red-Star : this variety was obtained in 1830 and results from crosses between uniformly colored petunia. It exhibits spontaneous CHS silencing due to the duplication of endogenous CHS genes (Koseki et al, 2005). The Red-Star silencing phenotype resembles that of transgenic 35S::CHS petunia plants (Napoli et al., 1990).

(Fire et al., 1998). They observed that the purified single stranded RNAs (ssRNAs) (sense or antisense) were significantly less effective than double stranded RNAs (dsRNA) in targeting the same mRNA (Fire et al., 1998). Indeed, ssRNA was effective only if the sense strand was injected into the animals, which will be hybridizing in to dsRNA *in vivo*. Although Fire and Mello provided the first explanations for previous paradoxical observations, yet the mechanisms by which dsRNA could cause the degradation of endogenous mRNA remained unclear.

In 1997, Palauqui et al showed that PTGS could be transmitted from a silenced root-stock to a nonsilenced scions through a graft union (Palauqui et al., 1997). The same year, Voinnet and Baulcombe showed that the injection of dsRNA of a jellyfish green florescent protein (GFP) into one leaf of a plant carrying a GFP transgene led to the systemic silencing in the upper leaves of the infiltrated plants (Voinnet and Baulcombe, 1997). Still the nature of those signals was unclear as was the mechanism of their propagation and their specific targeting of mRNAs. Although it was generally thought that the antisense RNA molecules resulting from the unwinding of dsRNAs are main actors in detecting and binding to mRNA, the full-length antisense RNA was never detected in plants or animals exhibiting RNAi (Hamilton and Baulcombe, 1999). Hamilton and Baulcombe therefore speculated that although specific antisense RNAs are required for post-transcriptional gene silencing (PTGS), they still may be short and therefore hard to detect. They successfully detected the presence of 25-nt RNA in plants with PTGS activities and concluded that they were long enough to detect the specific sequences yet small enough to move through plasmodesmata and it was possible that they were components of the systemic signal and specificity of PTGS (Hamilton and Baulcombe, 1999). Shortly after, 21-23nt RNA was copurified with RNAi in Drosophila cells suggesting that dsRNA was converted to shorter intermediates - small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) - which can bind to their homologous mRNA targets and cause their cleavage (Hammond et al., 2000; Zamore et al., 2000).

Since then siRNAs have been discovered in every eukaryotic kingdom with the notable exception of *Sacharomyces cerevisiae* (Drinnenberg et al., 2009). Their crucial role in different pathways has become increasingly clear, nevertheless many more factors and enzymes associated with RNAi have been discovered and many more are still unknown.

1.2 - RISC: the main actor for RNA silencing

The activity that targets and cleaves mRNAs is related to the action of RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) (Song et al., 2004). Small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) and Argonaute proteins are the known signature components of RISC.

1.2.1 - Argonaute proteins

To purify RISC, Tuschle et al. used a cell extract derived from human HeLA cells. They developed a technique for partially purifying RISC by conjugating the 3' termini of siRNAs to biotin, which

enabled coimmunoprecipitation of siRNAs with the associated protein complex (Martinez et al., 2002). Two proteins of ~ 100 kDa were identified that corresponded to Argonaute 1 and Argonaute 2 (Ago 1 and Ago 2) (Martinez et al., 2002).

Argonaute proteins are a highly conserved family that have been implicated in RNAi across several species (Carmell et al., 2002). Argonaute proteins are named after AGO1, the first discovered member, which was discovered in a forward genetic screen for genes involved in development (Bohmert et al., 1998). Argonaute proteins consist of four distinct domains: the N-terminal, PAZ, MID and PIWI domains (Hutvagner and Simard, 2008; Mallory and Vaucheret, 2010; Song et al., 2004).

The PAZ and Mid domains both help to anchor the small RNA guide: The PAZ domain binds to the 3' end using a series of conserved aromatic residues and the Mid domain provides a binding pocket for the 5'end (Hutvagner and Simard, 2008; Song et al., 2004). The Piwi domain contains an RNase-H-motif. Loading a highly complementary target into an Argonaute protein brings the scissile phosphate into the enzyme active site, which leads to the cleavage of the mRNA at the opposite nucleotides 10 and 11 of the small RNA guide. The PIWI domain cleavage products contain 3'-OH and 5'-phosphate, which is a characteristic feature of RNase-H-like processing (Hutvagner and Simard, 2008; Schwarz et al., 2004; Song et al., 2004).

AGO proteins are deeply conserved and are expressed in different tissues of almost all eukaryotes (Carmell et al., 2002). The exception being Saccharomyces cerevisiae which does not express Ago proteins and therefore does not appear to encode the small RNA pathway factors (Mallory and Vaucheret, 2010). In other species at least two Argonaute protein subfamilies exist: AGO and PIWI; and some references account a third subfamily: WAGO (Cheloufi et al., 2010; Faehnle and Joshua-Tor, 2007; Mallory and Vaucheret, 2010). The AGO subfamily is defined by similarity to Arabidopsis thaliana AGO1(Bohmert et al., 1998; Cheloufi et al., 2010; Hutvagner and Simard, 2008). AGO proteins are found in both plants and animals and they have a common role in gene regulation. The PIWI subfamily is closely related to the Drosophila melanogaster PIWI protein (Hutvagner and Simard, 2008). PIWI proteins are animal-specific and forms part of an elegant innate immune system which can control the activity of mobile genetic elements (Malone and Hannon, 2009). The WAGO subfamily, the recently identified *Caenorhabditis elegans*-specific group, is specified to worms and acts in a variety of different biological process (Cheloufi et al., 2010; Faehnle and Joshua-Tor, 2007; Hutvagner and Simard, 2008; Yigit et al., 2006). Unlike the AGO and PIWI subfamilies the majority of WAGOs lack conservation of the DDH metal binding residues, suggesting a slicer-independent function (Faehnle and Joshua-Tor, 2007).

Although Argonaute proteins are present in bacteria, archaea and eukaryotes, the number of Argonaute genes that are present in different species varies. For instance, there are 8 proteins in humans (4 AGO and 4 PIWI), 27 in *C.elegans* (5 AGO, 3 PiWI and 19 WAGO), 10 AGO in *Arabidopsis thaliana*, 5 in

D. melangaster (2 AGO and 3 PIWI) and only 1 Ago in *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* (Hutvagner and Simard, 2008; Mallory and Vaucheret, 2010).

The association of small RNAs and Argonaute proteins is influenced by some specific factors. 5' nucleotide identity, small RNA length and mismatches in small RNA duplex all contribute to the sorting of small RNAs into specific AGO proteins (Forstemann et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2008). In Arabidopsis, AGO4, AGO6 and AGO9 mostly associate with 24-nt siRNAs whereas AGO1, AGO2, AGO5, AGO7 and AGO 10 are mostly associated with 21 and 22 nt molecules. AGO1 binds to sRNAs with 5'U while AGO2 prefers 5'A. AGO4, AGO6 and AGO 9 all bind to 24-nt siRNA, which mostly have 5'A, while AGO5 prefers 5'C (Aregger et al., 2012; Mallory and Vaucheret, 2010).

1.2.2 - Small RNAs

Small RNAs is the name using for small non-protein coding RNAs, 20 to 30 nucleotides (nt) in length, which play central roles in RNAi pathways (Baulcombe, 2004; Ghildiyal and Zamore, 2009; Mello and Conte, 2004). Different types of small RNAs exist which can recognise the mRNA target by base pairing interactions and cause either transcriptional inhibition or mRNA degradation in a posttranscriptional mode (Ghildiyal and Zamore, 2009). Small RNAs can also control histone modifications and chromatin formation (Buhler and Moazed, 2007). Different classes of small RNA have been found in eukaryotes which are different in their size, their origin and partially in their biogenesis (Castel and Martienssen, 2013). Most of small RNAs are produced by a specific cleavage of perfectly or imperfectly double-stranded (ds) RNA molecules by DICER or DICER-LIKE (DCL) proteins, which belong to the RNase III family of dsRNA specific endoriboucleases (Chapman and Carrington, 2007; Ghildiyal and Zamore, 2009). Following their production, small RNAs are loaded into specific AGO proteins (Hutvagner and Simard, 2008; Mallory and Vaucheret, 2010; Tolia and Joshua-Tor, 2007). Small RNAs guide AGO proteins to their target through complementary base pairing. Then, AGO (often associated with other proteins) silences these targets through RNA cleavage, translational interference, or chromatin modifications (Bartel, 2009; Brodersen and Voinnet, 2009). Plant small RNAs can be divided into two main classes: microRNAs (miRNA) and small interfering RNAs (siRNA), which comprise several subclasses (Castel and Martienssen, 2013; Vaucheret, 2006).

1.2.2.1 - miRNAs

miRNAs are the results of specific non-protein-coding *MIR* genes, which are transcribed by DNA-DEPENDENT RNA POLYMERASE II (Pol II). Pol II processes long single-stranded primary transcripts (pri-miRNA). Like regular protein-coding mRNAs, pri-miRNAs are capped at their 5' end, may contain introns, and are poly-adenylated at their 3' end (Jones-Rhoades et al., 2006). One of the specific and defining steps during miRNA biogenesis is the formation of a characteristic fold-back



Fig. 1.2 miRNA and trans-acting siRNA pathways.

A) miRNA pathway: Non-protein-coding *MIR* genes are trascribed by Pol II. Long single-stranded primary transcripts (pri-miRNA) fold-back and form a specific stem-loop structure. DCL1, HYL1 and SE protein are required for excision of miRNA/miRNA* duplexes. Their 3' ends are methylated by HEN1 to protect them from degradation. Most miRNA are exported from the nucleus to the cytoplasm by HST. The two strands of the miRNA/miRNA* duplexes separate, and the mature miRNA is loaded onto an AGO protein, mostly AGO1, to guide cleavage or translation repression of cognate target transcripts though sequence complementarity.

B) ta-siRNA pathway: Non-protein coding TAS genes are transcribed by Pol II, addressed by the THO/TREX complex to specific miRNA/AGO complexes. Clived TAS transcripts are protected from degradation by SGS3, while RDR6 and SDE5 generate dsRNA. These dsRNAs are diced by DCL4 and DRB4 into the 21-nt ta-siRNA duplexes, which are methylated by HEN1. One strand of the ta-siRNA duplex is loaded onto an AGO protein, mostly AGO1, to guide cleavage of cognate target transcripts though sequence complementarity.

stem-loop structure, which results from their transcript's intramolecular sequence complementarity (Brosnan and Voinnet, 2009; Vaucheret, 2006; Voinnet, 2009). In plants conversion of pri-to-premiRNA and then pre-to mature miRNA is catalyzed by the action of DCL1 (Kurihara et al., 2006). Besides DCL1, nuclear maturation and pri-to-pre-miRNA conversion also requires the presence of the double-stranded RNA-binding protein HYPONASTIC LEAVES1 (HYL1)(Han et al., 2004), the RNA binding protein DAWDLE (Yu et al., 2008), the CAP-BINDING PROTEINS CBP20 and CBP80/ABH1 (Gregory et al., 2008; Kim et al., 2008; Laubinger et al., 2008) and the C2H2-zinc finger protein SERRATE (SE)(Fig.1.2.A)(Lobbes et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2006).

In plants the dicing action of DCL1 and miRNA maturation occurs in the nucleus. The end result of the combined action of these proteins is a miRNA/miRNA* duplexe, which has typically two-nucleotide 3' overhangs (Jones-Rhoades et al., 2006). To protect the miRNA/miRNA* duplex from degradation, its 3' ends are methylated by the methyltransferase HUA ENHANCER 1 (HEN1). Mutation in HEN1 results in 3'-end uridylation of miRNA and siRNAs, which leads to reduced accumulation (Li et al., 2005). After DCL1-mediated processing and HEN1-mediated methylation, most miRNA exit the nucleus and enter the cytoplasm. This exportation is facilitated by HASTY (HST), a member of the importin β family of nucleoplasmic transporters (Park et al., 2005). Upon export, the two strands of the miRNA/miRNA* duplex are separated and the miRNA strand, also called guide strand, is bound by an AGO family protein. The miRNA governs the AGO protein for the target transcript recognition though sequence complementarity to the loaded miRNA. Thus, miRNAs act *in trans* upon the mRNAs of other genes to modulate their expression spatially and temporally. In the majority of studied cases, targeting leads to slicing of at least a fraction of total target RNAs (Fig. 1.2.A)(Mallory et al., 2008), although it is clear that suppression of targets involves both degradative and non-degradative mechanisms (Voinnet, 2009).

1.2.2.2 - siRNAs

The majority of the small RNAs population in plants is represented short interfering RNAs, also known as siRNAs. There are a few key differences in the biogenesis of miRNA and siRNAs. siRNAs are derived from endogenous genes or inverted repeats, transgenes or viruses (Brodersen and Voinnet, 2006; Vaucheret, 2006). During their biogenesis they normally form a perfect double stranded RNA, which is then diced by the action of different types of DCLs. As a result of the different DCL enzymes, there are different sizes of 21, 22 or 24 nt for siRNAs. Mature siRNAs are loaded to different AGO proteins allowing them to have different functions. Based on their origin and their functions, the siRNA population in *Arabidopsis thaliana* can be divided to 5 subclasses: trans-acting siRNAs (ta-siRNAs), natural antisense trancript-derived siRNAs (nat-siRNA), endogenous IR-derived siRNAs (endo IR-siRNAs), PoIIV/PoIV siRNAs (p4/p5-siRNA) and NERD-siRNAs.

1.2.2.2.a - ta-siRNAs

The ta-siRNA pathway is one of the most remarkable examples of overlapping between different small RNA pathways as its biogenesis requires components from both miRNA and siRNA biogenesis (Fig. 1.2.B). ta-siRNAs origin from non-protein coding TAS genes, which are transcribed by POI II (Allen et al., 2005; Peragine et al., 2004; Vazquez et al., 2004). The TAS transcripts contain a specific miRNA-binding site, they can therefore be recognized and sliced by a miRNA/AGO complex. The exportation of the primary transcripts to RISC complex depends on the THO/TREX complex (Jauvion et al., 2010; Yelina et al., 2010). Once the precursors are cleaved, they are protected from degradation by the action of SUPPRESSOR OF GENE SILENCING 3 (SGS3) (Elmayan et al., 2009). To generate a double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) from cleaved ssRNAs, both RNA DEPENDENT RNA POLYMERASE 6 (RDR6) and the putative RNA export factor SILENCING DEFECTIVE 5 (SDE5) are required (Hernandez-Pinzon et al., 2007; Yoshikawa et al., 2005). These dsRNAs are recognized by DCL4, which will then cut them in to the 21-nt ta-siRNAs duplex (Fig. 1.2.B)(Gasciolli et al., 2005; Xie et al., 2005).

This DCL4 dicing action requires the DOUBLE STRANDED RNA BINDING PROTEIN 4 (DRB4)(Nakazawa et al., 2007). Newly generated ta-siRNA also need to be methylated by HEN1(Li et al., 2005). One strand of the ta-siRNA duplex is loaded onto AGO1 to guide cleavage of target mRNA (Fig. 1.2.B)(Allen and Howell, 2010). ta-siRNAs seems to function mostly in developmental pathways like miRNAs (Vaucheret, 2005).

1.2.2.2.b - nat-siRNAs

Nat-siRNAs are derived from the convergent transcription of two overlapping sense and antisense transcripts (NAT), which can potentially form dsRNAs. These transcripts can originate from close genomic locus (cis-NAT genes) or from two distinct loci (trans-NAT genes) (Wang et al., 2005). This first overlapped double stranded RNA is processed into 24- nt nat-siRNAs due to the action of DCL2 (Borsani et al., 2005). Despite the fact that the dsRNA precursor of nat-siRNAs result from the overlapping between two transcripts, the presence of Pol IV, RDR6 and SGS3 seems to be essential for the accumulation of primary nat-siRNAs (Borsani et al., 2005). In reported examples of nat-siRNAs it has been shown that one of the overlapping genes is regularly expressed while the expression of the complementary strand is stress-induced (Borsani et al., 2005; Katiyar-Agarwal et al., 2006). Primary nat-siRNAs are loaded on to an unidentified AGO protein, which in follow directs the cleavage of the constrictively expressed transcript (Fig. 1.3.A).

At this stage, the products of this cleavage will be turned to dsRNAs via the actions of Pol IV, RDR6 and SGS3 (Borsani et al., 2005). DCL proteins produce the short 21-nt nat-siRNAs from dsRNAs, which then also needs to be methylated by HEN1 to be protected from degradation (Borsani et al., 2005). 21-nt nat-siRNAs are capable of down regulating their original constitutive expressed



Fig. 1.3 Nat-siRNA and endoIR-siRNA pathways.

A) nat-siRNA pathway : Overlapping sense and antisense transcripts (NAT) derived from convergent transcription can potentially form dsRNA. Pol IV, RDR6, SGS3 and DCL1 or DCL2 are required for the production of primary nat-siRNAs, which are methylated by HEN1. Primary nat-siRNAs are loaded on to an unidentified AGO protein, which cleaves one of the original transcript and initiate the formation of secondary nat-siRNAs.

B) endoIR-siRNA pathway: transcription of endogenous inverted repeat (IR) loci produce non proteincoding RNAs that fold back into perfect or near perfect dsRNA. DCL2, DCL3, or DCL4 process these dsRNAs into 21-, 22- or 24-nt siRNAs. 24-nt siRNAs target methylation of the locus of origin. transcribed. This category of siRNAs seems to be important during the plant adaptation to either biotic (for ex. in response to *Pseudomonas syringae* infection) (Katiyar-Agarwal et al., 2006) or abiotic stresses (for ex. in response to salt stress) (Borsani et al., 2005).

1.2.2.2.c - endoIR-siRNAs

Genome-wild analyses of Arabidopsis revealed the existence of many discrete loci corresponding to inverted repeats (IR) of different sizes. The transcription of such IRs can fold back and produces perfect or near perfect complimentary long dsRNA (Fig. 1.3.B).

DCL2, DCL3, DCL4 but not DCL1 can process these dsRNAs and produce siRNAs of all sizes referred to as endoIR-siRNAs (Fig.1.3.B). The evolution, genetics and biological implications of IR loci remain relatively unexplored. It has been proposed that their pathways might have important implications in adaptation to stress, epiallelism and epigenetic memory (Dunoyer et al., 2010).

1.2.2.2.d - p4/p5-siRNAs

The majority of the small RNA population in plants are 24-nt which are mostly derived from transposons and DNA repeats (Kasschau et al., 2007). During their biogenesis, Pol IV is needed to transcribe specific genomic loci. The mechanism during which Pol IV is able to find its target genome remains largely unknown (Lahmy et al., 2010; Pikaard et al., 2008).

ssRNAs resulting from the action of Pol IV are transformed in to dsRNA by RDR2 (Pikaard et al., 2008). It has been shown that the presence of a putative chromatin-remodeling factor, CLASSY1 (CLSY1) is essential during both the Pol IV and RDR2 processing steps (Dunoyer et al., 2010; Greenberg et al., 2011; Smith et al., 2007). Consequently, dsRNAs are sliced into 24-nt duplexes by DCL3. HEN 1 is also needed to methylate and protect these 24-nt siRNAs duplexes (Li et al., 2005). AGO4, AGO6 or AGO9 can interact with one of the strands of theses duplexes to form RISC complexes that cleave transcripts produced by Pol V and address the *de novo* DNA methylase DRM2 to the corresponding loci (Fig. 1.4)(Haag and Pikaard, 2011).

1.2.2.2.e - NERD siRNAs

NEEDED FOR RDR2-INDEPENDENT DNA METHYLATION (NERD)- siRNAs, are a newly discovered class of 21- and 22-nt siRNAs which appear to be unique to plants. The functional characterization of NERD siRNAs revealed the existence of an additional siRNA-mediated DNA methylation pathway, which silences a specific subset of genomic regions in Arabidopsis. Not only NERD siRNAs are shorter that classical 24-nt siRNAs, which mediate TGS, their processing requirements are also different from those of p4/p5-siRNAs. As it is obvious from their name, their biogenesis does not require RDR2 but RDR1 and/or RDR6 instead. Their processing into short siRNAs requires DCL4 and/or DCL2. Finally, they interact with AGO2 to bind to unmethylated



Fig. 1.4 p4/p5-siRNAs pathway.

24-nt p4/p5-siRNAs mostly derive from transposons and DNA repeats, which are transcribed by Pol IV at loci associated to CLSY1. ssRNAs resulting from the action of Pol IV are transformed into dsRNA by RDR2. Consequently, dsRNAs are diced into 24 nt duplexes by DCL3 and are methylated by HEN 1. 24-nt siRNAs associate with AGO4, AGO6 or AGO9 and PolV-derived non protein-coding transcripts, to guides the *de novo* DNA methyltransferase DRM2.

histone3 lysine4 (H3K4) as specific genomic target loci and direct DNA methylation (Pontier et al., 2012).

1.3 - Modes of action

RNAi is based on the action of RISC complex. Once the small RNAs of different sizes are processed, one of the duplex strands is loaded onto one or more AGO proteins. The Arabidopsis genome encodes 10 AGO proteins (Mi et al., 2008; Montgomery et al., 2008; Takeda et al., 2008; Zhu et al., 2011). Base-pairing between the small RNA guide strand and the target RNA determines locus specificity, whereas the distinct activity of 24-nt *vs.* 21-22-nt small RNAs determines the type of silencing. Indeed, 24-nt siRNAs mediate transcriptional gene silencing (TGS) through DNA methylation and chromatin modifications while 21- and 22-nt siRNAs and miRNAs mediate post-transcriptional gene silencing (PTGS) through RNA cleavage and translational inhibition (Ding and Voinnet, 2007; Mallory and Vaucheret, 2009; Voinnet, 2009). A common set of enzymatic activities (RDRs, DCLs and AGOs) and mechanisms (synthesis of dsRNA, dicing into small RNA, and small RNA-directed RNA cleavage) are shared between TGS and PTGS pathways. However, the two processes have different outcomes as well as specific actors.

1.3.1 - Transcriptional gene silencing

TGS is a function of nuclear RNAi, which in plants and fungi can repress target genes at the transcriptional level by epigenetic modification of chromatin. Different studies have shown the transcriptional silencing in yeast, cytosine methylation in plants and genome rearrangement in ciliates. Plants use DNA methylation to modulate the expression of transposons and repeats. In plants, DNA methylation in the promoter region can lead to transcriptional inhibition while methylation in the coding parts do not generally affect the transcription (Mette et al., 2000; Sijen et al., 2001). The first example of the RNA-directed DNA methylation (RdDM) in plants was reported during viroid infection in tabacco. DNA methylation of a transgene sequence homologous to that of the viroid genome was observed (Stam et al., 1998; Wassenegger et al., 1994).

As mentioned before, p4/p5-siRNAs are the main actors in directing RdDM. The transcripts from Pol IV serve as substrate for siRNA generation. RNA Pol IV interacts with RDR2 to produce dsRNA, which then are diced into 24 nt-siRNAs by the action of DCL3 (Kasschau et al., 2007; Law et al., 2011). These 24-nt siRNAs are exported into the cytoplasm where they can be loaded to one or more AGO proteins. AGO4 is the first AGO protein that has been shown to play a role during RdDM but there are at least 3 out of 10 Arabidopsis Argonautes, which are involved in this pathway (Zilberman et al., 2003). In fact, AGO6 was also found to act in certain cases, additionally to AGO4 to guide DNA methylation and TGS (Zheng et al., 2007). Also it has been shown that AGO9 can interact with

24 nt siRNAs and is required in silencing repetitive genomic regions involved in heterochoromatin formation (Duran-Figueroa and Vielle-Calzada, 2010).

Once the siRNA/AGO complex is formed, it will be imported to the nucleus and be guided to complementary pol V intergenic non-coding transcripts. The final result of this co-transcriptional silencing is the deposition of repressive cytosine methylation at the loci, which are transcribed by Pol V. In plants, DNA methylation occurs at cytosine bases in all CG, CNG (where N is any nucleotide) and CHH (any asymmetric site, where H is A, C or T) sequences. The genetic requirements for each kind of methylation are different and specific (Chan et al., 2005; Law and Jacobsen, 2010).

In general, plant DOMAINS REARRANGED METHYLTRANSFERASE 2 (DRM2) catalyses the *de novo* methylation at asymmetric CHH sites, whereas the maintenance of CG methylation is carried the maintenance of CHG methylation by CHROMOMETHYLASE 3 (CMT3)(Cao and Jacobsen, 2002; Matzke et al., 2009). At some RdDM loci, siRNAs are not detected in the absence of DRM2 which would suggest that a positive feedback loop is required for efficient siRNA dependent *de novo* methylation and gene silencing (Cao et al., 2003).

1.3.2 - Post transcriptional gene silencing

Post-transcriptional gene silencing was first observed as an unexplainable co-suppression of the transgene and the homologous endogenous gene(s) in petunia and tomato (Napoli et al., 1990; Smith et al., 1990; van der Krol et al., 1990). Although both sense and antisense transgenes can lead to PTGS, inverted repeat transgenes more frequently induce PTGS (Beclin et al., 2002; Vaucheret, 2006). In fact, the inverted repeat transgenes produce RNA that are able to fold back directly and form a long dsRNA while sense transgenes need the action of RDR6 and SGS3 to be converted into a dsRNA (Brodersen and Voinnet, 2006; Vaucheret, 2006). Transgene-derived and endogenous dsRNA are diced into different size of small RNAs, but only 21- and 22-nt small RNAs have been identified as effectors of PTGS (Brodersen and Voinnet, 2006; Chapman and Carrington, 2007; Hamilton and Baulcombe, 1999; Vaucheret, 2006). 21- and 22-nt siRNAs can act either *in cis* or *in trans* if they exhibit complementarity with mRNA targets produced from loci that are distinct from the locus of origin. Post-transcriptional regulation in plants involves either RNA cleavage or translational repression (Brodersen et al., 2008).

1.4 - RNAi as an Antiviral Response

Since the discovery of small RNAs, their vital functions became more and more clear. It may prove difficult to find a biological function or process that is not influenced at least to some degree or in some cell type, by small RNAs. Indeed, small RNAs participate to plant development, to adaptation to biotic and abiotic stress and to transposon control (Law and Jacobsen, 2010; Navarro et al., 2006;

Robert-Seilaniantz et al., 2007; Vaucheret, 2006; Zhang et al., 2011). Moreover, RNA silencing participates to antiviral defense in plants.

1.4-1 - Actors of the antiviral RNA silencing

Most plant viruses have an RNA genome and replicate through dsRNA intermediates, which can trigger RNA silencing (Ding and Voinnet, 2007). Indeed, DCLs likely process these intermediate dsRNA into primary viral siRNAs (v-siRNAs), which loaded onto a RISC complex, can mediate the cleavage of viral transcripts (Ruiz-Ferrer and Voinnet, 2009; Shimura and Pantaleo, 2011). DNA viruses do not replicate through dsRNA intermediates, therefore the v-siRNAs precursors are likely produced from transcription of both strands of the viruses (Chellappan et al., 2004).

All four plant DCLs participate to the production of v-siRNAs (Blevins et al., 2006; Moissiard and Voinnet, 2006), but mostly DCL2 and DCL4 produce v-siRNAs that target viral RNA for destruction (Bouche et al., 2006; Deleris et al., 2006). DCL2 antiviral activity is only a replacement of DCL4 in case of genetically compromising or suppressing of DCL4 by dedicated proteins called viral suppressors of RNA-silencing (VSRs) (see below).

AGO1 and AGO2 are able to bind v-siRNAs and thus are key component of antiviral RISC (Takeda et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2006). Indeed, *ago1* mutants are hyper-susceptible to *cucumber mosaic virus* (CMV) (Morel et al., 2002), and AGO1 is up-regulated upon virus infection (Zhang et al., 2006). In addition, AGO2 provides a secondary antiviral mechanism that is important when the primary AGO1-mediated layer is not active (Harvey et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2011).

RDR proteins also participate to the antiviral response. Indeed, RDR6 and RDR1 are required for efficient antiviral response by converting cleaved viral transcripts into dsRNA for the production of secondary v-siRNAs (Garcia-Ruiz et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2010).

1.4.2 - Viral suppressors of RNA silencing

Plant viruses encode suppressor proteins of RNA silencing as counter-defense mechanisms that influence their accumulation and spread in their host plants (Bivalkar-Mehla et al., 2011; Burgyan and Havelda, 2011; Harvey et al., 2011; Zamore, 2004). The various VSRs are able to target many effectors of the silencing pathway involved in viral RNA recognition, dicing, RISC assembly, RNA targeting and amplification. Most of the identified VSRs are multifunctional. Indeed, they often perform essential roles for viruses such as coat proteins, replicases, movement proteins and transcriptional regulators (Gillet et al., 2013; Hao et al., 2011; Sansregret et al., 2013).

The V2 protein of *tomato yellow leaf curl gemnivirus* (TYLCV) competes with SGS3 for RNA binding, thus preventing the production of secondary v-siRNAs (Glick et al., 2008).

The *pothos latent aureusvirus* P14 protein inhibits the processing of dsRNAs into siRNAs by binding to dsRNA in a size-independent manner (Merai et al., 2006; Merai et al., 2005).

The *cauliflower mosaic virus* (CaMV) P6 is a viral transcriptional trans-activator protein, which has been recently described as a VSR factor. In fact, P6 is able to suppress RNA silencing by interacting with dsRNA-binding protein 4 (DRB4), which is required for DCL4 functioning (Haas et al., 2008).

The *cucumber mosaic virus* (CMV) 2b protein is able to physically interact with the PAZ domain and part of PIWI domain of AGO1, which inhibits AGO1activity (Zhang et al., 2006).

The *turnip crinckle virus* (TCV) P38 protein is also able to directly interfere with AGO1 function by binding to the PIWI domain through its GW motif (Azevedo et al., 2010).

The P0 protein of the phloem-limited *poleroviruses* can perturb AGO1 activity in an indirect manner. This protein contains an F-box motif, which hijacks the host SCF ubiquitin-protein ligase (E3) to promote AGO1 degradation (Baumberger et al., 2007; Pazhouhandeh et al., 2006).

The *tombuvirus* P19, which is one of the most studied VSRs, prevents RNA silencing through binding double-stranded siRNA (Silhavy et al., 2002).

The *Beet yellows virus* p21 protein can suppress silencing by binding directly to v-siRNAs (Ye and Patel, 2005).

At last, *sweet potato chlorotic stunt virus* (SPCSV) encodes an RNaseIII that likely cleaves siRNA, including v-siRNAs, thus inhibiting antiviral silencing activity (Cuellar et al., 2009; Kreuze et al., 2005).

A summary of different types of VSRs and their effects on RNAi pathways can be found in Fig. 1.5.

1.5 – Presentation of the objectives of the thesis

1.5.1 - Dicer-independent small RNAs

In eukaryotes, the biogenesis of small RNAs generally requires Dicer. However, a few Dicerindependent small RNAs have been reported in fungi, invertebrates and mammals (Cheloufi et al., 2010; Halic and Moazed, 2010; Lee et al., 2010).

In mammals, the conversion of pre-miR-451 to mature miR-451 requires the action of Ago 2 and not Dicer (Cheloufi et al., 2010). The mammalian Ago 2 protein is the only Ago that has endonuclease activity, and this activity is required for the production of miR-451(Liu et al., 2004). Indeed, in vitro incubation of the wild type, but not catalytically inactivated, Ago2 with 5'end-labelled pre-miR451 produces mature miR-451(Cheloufi et al., 2010).

In *Neurospora crassa*, a filamentous fungus, two dicer enzymes process dsRNAs into small RNAs, which are loaded onto the Argonaute protein QDE-2 (QUELLING DEFFICIENT-2). QDE-2 interacts



Fig. 1.5 Plant antiviral defense and viral suppressors of RNA silencing.

A fraction of viral sense RNAs is translated into viral proteins. Another fraction is transformed into dsRNA by viral RNA-dependent RNA polymerases during viral replication. Viral dsRNA are diced by DCLs, mostly DCL2 and DCL4. Viral siRNAs associate with AGOs, mostly AGO1 and AGO2, to guide the cleavage of viral sense RNA. Cleaved viral products are protected from degradation by SGS3 and copied into dsRNA by cellular RNA-dependent RNA polymerases, mostly RDR6 and RDR1. dsRNA are diced by DCL2 and DCL4 to form secondary viral siRNAs, which reinforce the cleavage of viral sense RNAs.

Viruses encode proteins that act as suppressors of RNA silencing (VSR). These VSRs are able to inhibit many steps of the plant antiviral silencing pathway, including the protection of cleavage products by SGS3 (V2), the dicing of dsRNA by DCL4 (P14) and DRB4 (P6), the loading of siRNA duplexes onto AGO1 (P19, P21 and RNaseIII), the stability of AGO1 (P0), and the cleavage of viral sense RNA by AGO1 (2b).

with QIP, an exonuclease that removes the siRNA* strand, resulting in an active RISC complex (Maiti et al., 2007). Sequencing results of QDE-2 associated small RNAs allowed identifying a distinct classe of miRNA-like small RNAs (milRNAs). Both pre-milR and mature miRL remain constant in the *dcl-1/dcl-2* double mutant, indicating that the biogenesis of milR is Dicer independent but requires QDE-2 (Lee et al., 2010).

In *Caenorhabditis elegans*, a substantial fraction of siRNA does not derive directly from input dsRNA. Instead, a population of antisense siRNAs called secondary siRNAs derives from the direct action of a cellular RNA-directed RNA polymerase (RdRP) on mRNAs that are targeted by primary siRNA(Sijen et al., 2007).

In the fission yeast *S. pombe*, a distinct class of small RNAs, called primal small RNAs (priRNAs), exists beside Dicer-dependent siRNAs. priRNAs are degradation products of abundant transcripts that result from bidirectional transcription of DNA repeats (Halic and Moazed, 2010)

Up to now, Dicer-independent small RNAs have been only found in fungi, invertebrates and mammals, but not in plants. However, beside its four Dicer proteins, the Arabidopsis genome potentially encodes five non-Dicer proteins that are referred to as RNASE THREE-LIKE (RTL) proteins because they carry at least one RNase III domain (Fig. 1.6.B). So far, it has not been determined if these proteins participate to the small RNA repertoire, either by playing a direct role in small RNA production or an indirect role in regulating small RNA biogenesis or degradation.

1.5.2 - The RNaseIII family

Double-stranded (ds)RNA-specific endoribonucleases referred to as RNaseIII enzymes, are found in all eukaryotes and bacteria (Comella et al., 2008). All members of the RNase III family are characterized by a highly conserved stretch of nine amino acid residues referred to as the RNaseIII signature motif (Comella et al., 2008; Du et al., 2008). RNaseIII enzymes range in length from approximately 200 to 2000 amino acid residues depending on the number of additional domains that they carry. Accordingly, they are divided in four classes based on their molecular weight and structural complexity (Fig. 1.6.A)(Filippov et al., 2000).

Class I has single RNase III and dsRNA-binding (DRB) domains (Kharrat et al., 1995). Enzymes of this class are found in bacteria and viruses. *Escherichia coli* and *Aquifex aeolicus* RNase III are representative enzymes of this class. Class II differs from Class I by the presence of a highly variable N-terminal domain extension of approx. 200 amino acid residues. *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* Rnt1 and *S.pombe* Pac1 enzymes are both members of class II (Lamontagne et al., 2004; Rotondo et al., 1997; Wu et al., 2004). Class III contains two RNase III domains, one DRB domain and a large N-terminal extension. Drosha, which processes pri-miRNAs to pre-miRNAs in animals, is a member of this class (Du et al., 2008; Filippov et al., 2000). Class IV is by far the largest and structurally most complicated





Fig. 1.6 RNaseIII structures

A) Canonical and atypical RNaseIII: *Escherichia coli* and *Aquifex aeolicus* RNaseIII are representatives of class I (one RNaseIII + one DRB). *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* Rnt1 and *S.pombe* Pac1 are representatives of class II (one RNaseIII + one DRB + N-terminal domain). Animal Drosha is representative of class III (two RNaseIII + one DRB). Animal and plant Dicer are representatives of class IV (one RNA helicase + one PAZ + two RNaseIII + one or two DRB). Atypical Dicer proteins lacking some of the Class IV domains are found in *S. castelli* and *G. intestinalis*.

B) Plant RNaseIII: Arabidopsis contains four DICER-LIKE (DCL) and five RNASE-THREE-LIKE (RTL) proteins. RTL1 resembles Class I proteins. RTL2 resembles atypical *S. castelli* Dicer. RTL3 exhibit an atypical organisation of multiple RNaseIII and DRB domains. RTL4 and RTL5 contain only one RNaseIII domain but no DRB domains.

RNaseIII family and corresponds to small RNA-producing Dicer enzymes, which generally contain two RNase III domains, one or two DRB domains, one PAZ domain, one RNA Helicase domain and one domain of unknown function (DUF283).

Class I and Class II enzymes, which carry a single RNase III domain, form a catalytic RNase III site by intermolecular homodimerization. The enzymatic studies on *Escherichia coli* RNase III have suggested a "single processing center model" for RNase III cleavage. In this model the action of RNaseIII proteins relies on the formation of a catalytic dimer of RNase III domains, which can be obtained by intermolecular homodimerization. Moreover, studies on the *Aquifex aeolicus* RNase III protein revealed that four patches of residues, also known as RNA-binding motifs1-4 (RBM1-4) are involved in protein-RNA interactions. RBM1 and RBM2 are located in the DRB domain whereas RBM3 and RBM4 are located in RNaseIII domain (Gan et al., 2006). The RNaseIII activity on dsRNA requires divalent cations such as Mg⁺² or Mn⁺² (Kreuze et al., 2005).

For the most part bacterial and eukaryotic RNase III cleavage of dsRNA precursors is performed in a non-sequence-specific manner. Nevertheless, the presence of AGNN or AAGU terminal tetraloops is a strong determinant for *S.cerevisiae* Rnt 1 binding and cleavage (Gaudin et al., 2006; Wu et al., 2004). RNaseIII products contain 5' phosphate and 3'hydroxyl termini and a 2-nt overhang at the 3' ends (Du et al., 2008). Generally, RNA cleavage mediated by Class I or Class II enzymes is performed in a non-sequence-specific manner. Nevertheless, the presence of AGNN or AAGU terminal tetraloops is a strong determinant for *S.cerevisiae* Rnt 1 binding and cleavage (Gaudin et al., 2008). Generally, RNA cleavage mediated by Class I or Class II enzymes is performed in a non-sequence-specific manner. Nevertheless, the presence of AGNN or AAGU terminal tetraloops is a strong determinant for *S.cerevisiae* Rnt 1 binding and cleavage (Gaudin et al., 2006; Wu et al., 2004).

Class III and Class IV, which carry two RNase III domains, form a catalytic RNase III site by intramolecular heterodimerization between their two RNaseIII domains (Zhang et al., 2004). Class III Drosha proteins, which are involved in the first cut of animal miRNA precursors, are incapable of producing small RNAs. In contrast, Class IV Dicer proteins produce small RNAs. Dicer proteins contain one or two DRB domains. They also contain one PAZ, one RNA Helicase and a DUF283 domain. The PAZ domain recognizes the 3' 2-nt overhang of dsRNAs, while the RNA helicase act as a molecular ruler to measure the distance from the dsRNA end (recognized by the PAZ domain) (Liu et al., 2009). The DUF283 domain has recently been suggested to play significant roles for partner protein selection in small RNA processing (Fig. 1.6.B) (Qin et al., 2010).

Remarkably, some Dicer proteins from lower eukaryotes have simpler domain structures. For example, the *Giardia intestinalis* Dicer protein only contains a PAZ and two RNase III domains (Macrae et al., 2006). The PAZ domain is directly connected to the RNase IIIa domain by a long α helix that runs through the handle of the molecule. This "connector" helix is encircled by the N-terminal residues of the protein, which form a platform domain composed of an antiparallel β sheet and three α helices. Measuring from the active site of the first RNase III domain of *Giardia* Dicer to the 3' overhang-binding pocket in the PAZ domain gives a distance of ~65 Angstrom, which matches

the length of RNA fragments produced by *Giardia* Dicer, which are 25 to 27 nucleotides long (Macrae et al., 2006).

Moreover, *S. castelli* Dicer has one RNAseIII domain and two DRB domains, and thus differs from Class II Rnt1 by an additional DRB domain (Drinnenberg et al., 2009; Weinberg et al., 2011). Despite significant differences in domain structure between the budding-yeast and canonical Dicers, the RNase III signature motif and active site residues important for dsRNA cleavage are conserved in Dcr1, suggesting that the RNase III cleavage activity is conserved in Dcr1. In fact, *S. castellii* extract contains an activity that produces 22- to 23-nt RNAs from dsRNA precursors. Moreover, in $\Delta dcr1$ *S.castellii* mutants, siRNAs failed to accumulate, suggesting that the Dcr1 functions in Dicer-specific activities (Drinnenberg et al., 2009). However, budding-yeast Dicers produce siRNAs through a mechanism different from that of canonical Dicers. Instead of successively removing siRNA duplexes from the dsRNA termini, Dcr1 starts in the interior and works outward (Weinberg et al., 2011).

1.5.3 – Functions of plant RNaseIII

The Arabidopsis genome encodes four Dicer-Like (DCL) proteins with known functions. DCL1 produces miRNAs from imperfectly double-stranded stem-loop RNA transcripts which are generated from MIR genes (Park et al., 2005). DCL2, DCL3 and DCL4 process near-perfect long dsRNA precursors to generate either siRNAs or young miRNAs. 24-nt p4/p5-siRNAs are derived from the action of DCL3 (Daxinger et al., 2009). DCL4 produces 21-nt young miRNA, ta-siRNAs and v-siRNAs during viral infections (Bouche et al., 2006; Gasciolli et al., 2005; Xie et al., 2005). DCL2 produces 22-endoIR-siRNAs and can replace DCL4 and DCL3 in their absence (Bozorov et al., 2012; Deleris et al., 2006; Dunoyer et al., 2010).

Beside the four DCL proteins, the Arabidopsis genome potentially encodes five RNASE THREE-LIKE (RTL) proteins, which have not been well studied yet. RTL1 contains only one RNase III and one DRB domain. RTL1 is only expressed in Arabidopsis roots at very low levels, and its function is unknown. RTL2 contains one RNaseIII domain and two DRB domains. RTL2 is ubiquitously expressed. RTL2 cleaves the 3'External Transcribed Spacer (EST) of ribosomal 45S-pre-rRNA *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Comella et al., 2008). An in vitro assay has revealed that RTL2 processes dsRNA into 21-25-nt small RNAs (Kiyota et al., 2011). *rtl2* mutants do not show any obvious developmental defects (Comella et al., 2008). RTL3 is the biggest member of the RTL family and has two RNase III domain and three DRB domains. RTL3 mRNA has not been detected in any tested tissue (Comella et al., 2008). RTL4 contains only one RNaseIII domain but no DRB domain, which makes it similar to the *Bacillus subtilis* Mini-III structure (Redko et al., 2008). RTL4 is expressed in almost every tissue. *rtl4* mutants are impaired in male and female gamethophyte formation; however, RTL4 function remains unclear (Portereiko et al., 2006). RTL5 contains only one RNaseIII domain but no DRB domains. RTL5 is expressed in almost every tissue. RTL5 is similar to maize RNC1, which splices several chloroplastic group II introns (Watkins et al., 2007).

The aim of this project is to expand our understanding of RTL1 and RTL2 functions and to shed light on their potential interaction with plant small RNA pathways.

2 – Materials and Methods

2.1 – Plants and viruses

2.1.1 – Plant material

All Arabidopsis plants are in the Col-0 ecotype. Transgenic lines *L1* and *L2* carry a 35S::GUS transgene silenced by PTGS (Elmayan et al., 1998). The *rtl2* mutant corresponds to line GABI_568D10 (Comella et al., 2008).

2.1.2 – Plant transformation

2.1.2.1 – Arabidopsis transformation

400 ml of overnight culture at 28°c of *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* C58C1 (pMP90) carrying plasmids of interest were centrifuged at 6000 rpm. The bacterial pellets were suspended in 300 ml of 5% sucrose, MgCl₂ 10 mM and Silwet L-77 0,015%. Plants at the early flowering stage were then dipped in to this solution for 30 seconds. This process was repeated on the same plants 6 days later. T1 plants, which carry the T-DNA, were identified on selective medium. Selected plants were kept in standard long–day conditions (16h of light and 8 h of dark at 20°c). 14-day old seedlings were used for majority of GUS enzymatic activity testes while 3-week old Arabidopsis leaves and/or flowers were used for different Northern and Western analyses.

2.1.2.2 – Nicotiana benthamiana Agroinfiltration

10 ml of overnight culture at 28°c of *A.tumefaciens* C58C1 (pMP90) carrying plasmids of interest were centrifuged at 6000 rpm. The bacterial pellets were suspended in a 10mM MgCl₂, 10mM MES pH5.2, 150 mM acetosyringone solution to a final OD_{600} of 1. The bacterial solution was then incubated at RT for 3 hours after which a final OD_{600} of 0,1 was used to infiltrate the *N. benthamiana*'s leaves. These leaves were harvested 3 days after Agroinfiltration and used for the RNA extraction.

2.1.3 – Virus and Bacterial inoculation

2.1.3.1- Virus inoculation

10-day old in vitro plants were inoculated with *Turnip Crinkle Virus* (TCV), *Cucumber Mosaic Virus* (CMV), *Turnip Vein-Clearing Virus* (TVCV) or *Turnip Yellow Mosaic Virus* (TYMV) one day after transfert to soil. Virus inoculations were performed as previously described (Bouche et al., 2006; Mourrain et al., 2000). Plants were kept for 3 weeks in controlled-environment chambers (14h of

Table 2.1.	Oligonucleotide	sequences
	0	

Name	DNA Sequence			
Oligonucleotides used for RT and PCR amplification				
attB1RTL1F	GGGGACAAGTTTGTACAAAAAAGCAGGCTTGATGGGATCGCAACTCTCAAA			
attB2RTL1R	GGGGACCACTTTGTACAAGAAAGCTGGGTAAAGGTCTCCGAAAAATTTAGC			
attB1RTL2F	GGGGACAAGTTTGTACAAAAAAGCAGGCTTGATGGATCACTCTATCTCACC			
attB2RTL2R	GGGGACCACTTTGTACAAGAAAGCTGGGTAGAGATAATGAGATTTTCTCAAGG			
attB2RTL1-R3-R	GGGGACCACTTTGTACAAGAAAGCTGGGTAGTCTAAATGTATTATTGGCTCCAAC			
attB1amiRF	GGGGACAAGTTTGTACAAAAAAGCAGGCTCTGCAGCCCCAAACACACGC			
attB2amiRR	GGGGACCACTTTGTACAAGAAAGCTGGGTATCCCCCCATGGCGATGCTGCCTT			
attB2RTL2-DRB1-R	GGGGACCACTTTGTACAAGAAAGCTGGGTGAATCTCTACACTATCTTCAT CAATAACC			
attB1AT3G18145-F	GGGGACAAGTTTGTACAAAAAAGCAGGCTTGATGGCGGCTACGAAAGCTCTGG			
attB2AT3G18145-R	GGGGACCACTTTGTACAAGAAAGCTGGGTAAGTGCTTCGTTTAAATCTTTTCATAAGC			
RTL1-6	GTTCTGTCATTGGATGGCTC			
RTL1-7	CCAAAACCATCGGATCAGCGG			
RTL1m2-F	GAATCGTACGCACTCCTAGAACTTTTAGGAGCTTCGATCC			
RTL1m2-R	GGATCGAAGCTCCTAAAAGTTCTAGGAGTGCGTACGATTC			
RTL2m-F	CCT TCT TAC GCG CGG CTA GAG TTC ATA GGC GCC AGT GCT ATT GG			
RTL2m-R	CCA ATA GCA CTG GCG CCT ATG AAC TCT AGC CGC GCG TAA GAA GG			
Oligonucleotides used a	s probes for small RNA detection			
miR159	TAGAGCTCCCTTCAATCCAAA			
miR160	TGGCATACAGGGAGCCAGGCA			
miR173	GTGATTTCTCTCTGCAAGCGAA			
miR167	TAGATCATGCTGGCAGCTTCA			
miR164	TGCACGTGCCCTGCTTCTCCA			
miR156	GTGCTCACTCTTCTGTCA			
miR839	GGGAACGATGAAAGGTTGGTA			
amiR-RTL1A	AAGAGTGAATCGTACGAACTA			
amiR-RTL1b	CGGGTCCCTGTAAATCACCAA			
TAS1	TACGCTATGTTGGACTTAGAA			
TAS2	GTGCTTCACAATGCTCTTTC			
siR1003	ATGCCAAGTTTGGCCTCACGGTCT			
siR02	GTTGACCAGTCCGCCAGCCGAT			
IR71	TCCTTTCCCTTTCTAC			
U6	TTGCGTGTCATCCTTGCGCAGG			
siRNA- At3g18145	AGTACGCTTCCCTTGACCAATCCA			

light and 10 h of dark, at 20°C) after which the aerial parts of 4 to 12 plants were harvested, pooled separately for each treatment and used for RNA extraction.

2.1.3.2- Bacterial infection

Arabidopsis plants were grown for 5 weeks in soil and were subjected to an 8 hour light and16 hour dark cycle at 20°C, with 70% relative humidity. Leaves were infiltrated with bacterial suspensions of *Pseudomonas syringe* DC3000 AvrRpm1 or *Edwina amylovora* CFBP1430 at a concentration of 10^7 CFU per millilitre in sterile water or with sterile water (mock-inoculation), using a needleless syringe. At least 12 rosette leaves were used per condition for each biological replicate. These leaves were harvested 24 hours after infiltration with *E.amylovora* CFBP1430 and 3 days after infiltration with *P. syringe* DC3000 AvrRpm1. The infected leaves were grinded and then suspended in sterile water, which was used for serial dilutions and then plated on an LB medium. Bacterial colonies were counted 3 days later for each sample.

2.2 - Plasmid constructs

2.2.1 - RTL1 and RTL2 tag fusion

RTL1 and RTL2 genomic sequences (AT4G15417 and AT3G20420 respectively) were cloned into the pDONR207 (Gateway ® Technology- invitrogen) using attB1RTL1F, attB2RTL1R, attB1RTL2F and attB2RTL2R Gateway adapted primers (table 2.1). A series of LR reactions were performed to fuse RTL1 or RTL2 to Flag or Myc tags at their N- or C-terminus, under the control of the 35S promoter.

2.2.2 - RNaseIII mutation

The point mutations in conserved amino acids of RNaseIII and/or DBR domains of RTL1 were done using a QuikChange ® Site-Directed Mutagenesis Kit. In the RNaseIII sequence, the amino acids 37 (Glutamin) and 44 (aspartic acid) were replaced by an Alanine using RTL6m2-F and RTL6m2-R primers for RTL1 and RTL2m-F and RTL2m-R primers for RTL2 (table 2.1).

2.2.3 – DRB deletion

In order to generate the RTL1ΔDRB, the RNase III sequence of RTL1 was amplified with attB1RTL1-F and attB2RTL1-R3-R primers (table2.1). For RTL2 ΔDRB, the RTL2 RNaseIII and the first DRB domain sequences were amplified with attB1RTL2F and attB2RTL2-DRB-R primers. Each recombinant RTL was cloned in to the Gateway pDONR207 vector (Gateway ® Technology-invitrogen) and then transferred to the pGWB Gateway series under the control of the 35S promoter.





В

1	ATGGGATCGC	AACTCTCAAA	CGCAATCGAC	GGTAAAGATA	ACACCAAAAC	50
51	CATCGGATCA	GCGGATCCGG	ACCAGCTTAT	GGAGATCGAA	TCCTTGGAGA	100
101	AGATCTTAAA	TTACAAGTTC	AAAGACAAGA	GTTTGTTGCT	GAAAGCGTTC	150
151	ACAGACGCTA	GTTACGTTGA	TGACAAGAGT	GAATCGTACG	AACTCCTAGA	200
			TTCTCA	CTTAGCATGC	TTGAT (amiR	-RTL1a)
201	ACTTTTAGGA	GATTCGATCC	TAAATATGGG	TATAATCTAT	GATTTTATTA	250
251	AGCTCTACCC	TAAAGAAGCA	CCTGGTCCGT	TGACCAAGCT	CCGAGCCGTC	300
301	AACGTAGATA	CCGAGAAATT	GGCACGGGTC	GCTGTAAATC	ACCAACTCTA	350
			GCCCAG	GGACATTTAG	TGGTT (amiR	-RTL1b)
351	TAGCTATCTC	CGTCATAAGA	AACCCTTGCT	TGAGGAGCAA	ATACTAGAAT	400
401	TTGTGGAAGC	CATGGAAAAA	TATCCATTAC	ATTCAAATGG	TCTTTTAAAA	450
451	GTTCCTAAAG	TTCTAGCAGA	CATAGTAGAG	TCTACCATTG	GAGCTATCTT	500
50 1	CATGGACTGC	AACTCCACCG	AGACCGTCTG	GAAGGTGATA	AAACCATTGT	550
551	TGGAGCCAAT	AATACATTTA	GACAAAATGA	AGAGCCATCC	AATGACAGAA	600
601	CTCAATGAGA	TGTGTCAGAA	GAGGAACTTG	AAATTGACGT	CCAAAGACAC	650
651	TTGGGAAGAA	AATCAAACCT	ATTGTTTCCA	TATTGAGGAT	AAGTTTGTTG	700
701	GATGTGGTCA	CCATCCTGTC	AAGAAAGAAA	CTGCTCGTAA	TTTCGCTGCA	750
7 51	AAAAATGCTA	TTGACAATTT	TGCTAAATTT	TTCGGAGACC	TTTAG 795	

Fig. 2.1 Summary of RTL-derived constructs generated during this project.

A) RTL1 and RTL2 genomic sequences from ATG to stop were cloned and then fused to a Flag or a Myc tag at their N- or C-terminus. For RTL1mR3 and RTL2mR3, the conserved E and D amino acids of the RNaseIII catalytic domain were replaced by A. For RTL1 Δ DRB, the RNase III sequence of RTL1 was amplified. For RTL2 Δ DRB, the RTL2 RNaseIII and the first DRB domain were amplified.

B) Alignment of RTL1 coding sequence with amiR-RTL1a and amiR-RTL1b.

2.2.4 – RTL1 target

The At3g18145 genomic sequence was cloned into the pDONR207 (Gateway ® Technologyinvitrogen) using attB1At3g18145-F and attB2 At3g18145-R Gateway adapted primers (table 2.1) and then was transferred to pGWB2 Gateway vector.

2.2.5 – amiR-RTL1

Two different amiRs, amiR-RTL1a and amiR-RTL1b were synthesized (Genscript) using the MIR319a backbone (Schwab et al, 2006). Sequence complementarity of amiR-RTL1a and amiR-RTL1b with RTL1 is shown in Fig. 2.1.B. Then by using Gateway adapted oligonucleotides attB1amiR-F and attB2-amiR-R we transferred these two constructs into the Gateway pDONR207 vector. This was followed by different LR reactions to construct vectors containing amiR-RTL1a and amiR-RTL1b under the control of the UBQ10 promoter.

A summary of all the generated constructs is available in Fig. 2.1.A.

2.3 – DNA, RNA and protein analysis

2.3.1 – RNA extraction and Northern analyses

For RNA gel blot analyses, frozen tissue was homogenized in a buffer containing; 0.1 M NaCl, 2% SDS, 50 mM Tris-Hcl (pH 9), 10 mM EDTA (pH 8) and 20 mM beta mercaptoethanol. RNAs were then obtained through a two-stage phenol extraction.

High molecular weight (HMW) and low molecular weight (LMW) RNA gel blot analyses were performed as previously described using 2 to 10 μ g of the total RNA or HMW RNA extraction (Gy et al., 2007). A Fuji phosphor imager was used to quantify the hybridization signals where a U6 oligonucleotide probe was used for normalization of miRNA gel blot analyses. A list of all the probes, which were used in this study, is available in the table 2.1.

2.3.2 – RT reactions

To synthesize cDNA, 2 μ g of total RNA extractions were digested with DNaseI (Fermentas). 500 ng of final DNA-free RNA was used to do a reverse transcription with oligo-dT (Fermentas). Final PCR with Taq DNA polymerase (Thermo Scientific-fermantas) was then done on 5 μ l of 1:5 dilutions of RT products using RTL1-6 and RTL1-7 primers (table 2.1). These results were standardized by comparing to the EF1 α expression level.

2.3.3 – Protein extractions and immunoblotting

Protein was extracted in a buffer containing 20 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 300 mM NaCl, 5 mM

MgCl ₂ , 0.1% IGEPAL CA-630, 5 mM DTT, Sigma Protease Inhibitor . Protein concentrations were determined using a BioRad DC protein assay. 20 ug of protein was resuspended in a Laemmli buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl pH 6.8, 2% SDS, 5% glycerol, 40 mM DTT and 0.02% bromophenol blue), heated at 100 °C for 5 minutes, and separated on a 10% SDS-PAGE gel. Proteins were then transferred to PVDF membrane (BioRad). For detection, the membrane was blocked in 5% non-fat dry milk in 1× TBS, 0.1% Tween-20 (1×TBST) for 1 hour at room temperature, and incubated with a 1:1000 dilution of antiFlag or anti Myc primary polyclonal antibody (Agrisera) in 5% non-fat dry milk and 1× TBST for 1.5 hours at room temperature. The membrane was then rinsed in 1×TBST for 45 minutes before incubation with a secondary peroxidase-conjugated anti-rabbit antibody (Sigma) in 5% non-fat dry milk in 1×TBST at room temperature for one hour. After the membrane was rinsed in 1×TBST for 45 minutes, Flag and Myc signals were revealed using the Western Lightning kit (PerkinElmer Life Sciences) and the Immunstar WesternC kit (Biorad) as per the manufacturer's specifications.

2.3.4 – GUS enzymatic activity test

GUS activity was quantified by measuring the quantity of 4-methylumbelliferone product generated from the substrate 4-methylumbelliferyl-b-D-glucuronide (Duchefa) on a fluorometer (Fluoroscan II; Thermo Scientific), and fluorescence values were normalized to total protein extracted, which was quantified using an absorbance microplate reader (Elisa Elx 808; Avantec) and the Bradford protein assay.

3 – Results

In eukaryotes, the biogenesis of most small RNAs depends on Dicer proteins that are the members of the Class IV of RNaseIII enzymes. The plant model Arabidopsis encodes four Dicer-like (DCL) proteins (Schauer et al., 2002). DCL1 produces ancient, conserved, miRNAs that average around 21-nt in length and derive from relatively short, imperfectly double-stranded stem-loop RNA precursors transcribed from non-protein coding MIR genes. By contrast, DCL2 and DCL3 produce siRNAs and DCL4 produces young miRNAs and siRNAs, all of which derive from long dsRNA precursors originating from either long inverted repeats (young miRNAs and some siRNAs) or from the action of RNA-dependent RNA polymerases (RDR) on single-stranded RNA precursor (some siRNAs). DCL2 produces 22-nt endoIR-siRNas and viral/transgene siRNAs, DCL3 produces 24-nt PolIV/PolV-siRNAs and DCL4 produces 21-nt young miRNAs, ta-siRNAs and viral/transgene siRNAs (Bouche et al., 2006; Henderson et al., 2006). Most 21- and 22-nt small RNAs are loaded onto AGO1 to guide the cleavage of complementary mRNA (Voinnet, 2009), whereas 24-nt siRNAs associate with AGO4, which recruits PolV and DRD1, leading to transcriptional silencing through histone modification, DNA methylation and chromatin remodeling (Law and Jacobsen, 2010).

Aside from DCL1-4, the Arabidopsis genome has the capacity to encode five proteins referred to as RNASE THREE-LIKE (RTL), which mostly have unknown functions. RTL1, RTL2 and RTL3 harbor RNaseIII and DRB domains (Comella et al., 2008), whereas RTL4 and RTL5 contain only RNaseIII domains(Portereiko et al., 2006; Watkins et al., 2007).

3.1 – RTL1

RTL1 has one RNase III and one DRB domain. To gain insight into the biochemical function and biological roles of RTL1, the small RNA repertoire of Arabidopsis plants over-expressing RTL1 was compared to that of wild-type plants. We also investigated the importance of the RNaseIII and DRB domains in RTL1 function. Finally given the effect of RTL1 on siRNA accumulation we analyzed the biological role of RTL1 in plant-virus interactions.

3.1.1 – Induction and suppression of RTL1 by viruses (article)

The results from this part of our study are collated in an article entitled "Plants encode a general siRNA suppressor that is induced and suppressed by viruses" which can be found bellow. As at the time of writing, this article has been submitted to the PLoS Biology journal.

Plants encode a general siRNA suppressor that is induced and suppressed by viruses

Nahid Shamandi¹*, Matthias Zytnicki²*, Cyril Charbonnel^{3,4}, Gersende Lepère¹, Allison C. Mallory¹, Julio Sáez-Vásquez^{3,4} and Hervé Vaucheret¹

¹Institut Jean-Pierre Bourgin, UMR 1318, INRA, Route de St-Cyr, 78000 Versailles, France.
²URGI, INRA, Route de St-Cyr, 78000 Versailles, France.
³CNRS, UMR 5096, LGDP, 66860, Perpignan, France.
⁴Univ. Perpignan Via Domitia, UMR 5096, LGDP, 66860, Perpignan, France.

*These two authors contributed equally to this work Author for correspondence: <u>herve.vaucheret@versailles.inra.fr</u>

Short title: Induction and suppression of RTL1 by viruses

Abstract

Small RNAs play essential regulatory roles in genome stability, development and stress responses in most eukaryotes. Plants encode DICER-LIKE (DCL) RNaseIII enzymes, including DCL1, which produces miRNAs, and DCL2, DCL3 and DCL4, which produce diverse size classes of siRNA. Plants also encode RNASE THREE-LIKE (RTL) enzymes that lack DCL-specific domains and whose function is largely unknown. Small RNA sequencing in plants over-expressing RTL1 or RTL2 or lacking RTL2 revealed that RTL1 over-expression inhibits the accumulation of all types of small RNAs produced by DCL2, DCL3 and DCL4, indicating that RTL1 is a general suppressor of plant siRNA pathways. By contrast, RTL2 plays minor, if any, role in the small RNA repertoire. In vivo and in vitro assays revealed that RTL1 prevents siRNA production by degrading dsRNA before they are processed by DCL2, DCL3 and DCL4. The substrate of RTL1 cleavage is likely long perfect (or nearperfect) dsRNA, consistent with the RTL1-insensitivity of miRNAs, which derive from short imperfect dsRNA. RTL1 is naturally expressed only weakly in roots, but virus infection strongly induces its expression in leaves, suggesting that RTL1 induction is a general strategy used by viruses to counteract the siRNA-based plant antiviral defense. Accordingly, transgenic plants over-expressing RTL1 are more sensitive to TYMV infection than wild-type plants, likely because RTL1 prevents the production of antiviral siRNAs. However, TCV, TVCV and CMV, which encode stronger suppressors of RNA silencing (VSR) than TYMV, are insensitive to RTL1 over-expression. Indeed, TCV VSR inhibits RTL1 activity, suggesting that inducing RTL1 expression and dampening RTL1 activity is a dual strategy used by viruses to establish a successful infection. These results reveal another level of complexity in the evolutionary battle between viruses and plant defenses.

Author summary

Most eukaryotes encode essential regulatory molecules called small RNAs. These molecules are mostly produced by a class of RNaseIII enzymes called DICER, which excise small RNA duplexes from long double-stranded (ds)RNA precursor molecules. Plants also encode several RNaseIII enzymes called RNASE THREE-LIKE (RTL) whose function is largely unknown. Here we show that RTL1 represses small RNA production by degrading dsRNA before they are processed by the DICER enzymes. RTL1 appears specific to a class of small RNAs called siRNAs but not to miRNAs, suggesting that it cleaves long perfect (or near-perfect) dsRNA but not short imperfect dsRNA. We found that RTL1 expression is induced after virus infection, which should favor infection by counteracting the plant anti-viral PTGS defense that is based on the production of siRNAs that target the virus for destruction. However, several viruses inhibit RTL1 activity, suggesting that a savant dosage between inducing and dampening RTL1 allows viruses to establish a successful infection.

Blurb

Plants encode an RNaseIII enzyme that is induced after virus infection and which represses siRNA production by degrading long dsRNA.
Introduction

In eukaryotes, the biogenesis of small RNAs is either Dicer-dependent or Dicer-independent. Dicerdependent small RNAs have been found in every eukaryotic kingdom (Bartel, 2009; Voinnet, 2009), with the notable exception of a few yeast species (Drinnenberg et al., 2011; Drinnenberg et al., 2009; Weinberg et al., 2011). In contrast, Dicer-independent small RNAs resulting from the action of RNAdependent RNA polymerases, exoribonucleases, AGO proteins or a combination of these factors have been found in fungi, invertebrates and mammals but not in plants or protists (Brennecke et al., 2007; Cheloufi et al., 2010; Halic and Moazed, 2010; Sijen et al., 2007)

RNaseIII enzymes are double stranded (ds)RNA-specific endonucleases and are found in bacteria and eukaryotes. All members of the RNaseIII family contain a characteristic RNaseIII domain, which has a highly conserved stretch of nine amino acid residues known as the RNaseIII signature motif (Blaszczyk et al., 2001). RNaseIII proteins vary widely in length, from 200 to 2000 amino acids and have been subdivided into four classes based on their domain composition (Filippov et al., 2000). Class I is the simplest and the smallest, containing a single RNaseIII domain and a dsRNA binding domain (DRB); the bacterial and bacteriophage RNaseIII proteins belong to this class. Class II proteins, like class I, contain both an RNaseIII domain and a dsRNA binding domain but are distinguished from class I by the presence of a highly variable N-terminal domain extension and include the S. cerevisiae Rnt1 and S. pombe Pac1 proteins. Both of these yeast proteins are longer than bacterial RNaseIII proteins and contain an additional 100 amino acids at their N-terminus. Class III proteins have a DRB and two RNaseIII domains and include Drosha, which is involved in the first cut of miRNA precursors in animals but is incapable of producing small RNAs by itself. Class IV proteins correspond to animal and plant Dicer and contain an RNA helicase domain, a PAZ domain, either one or two RNaseIII domains and one or two DRB domains. Animal and plant Dicer proteins are the only RNaseIII proteins that have been shown to produce small RNAs in the size range of 18-24-nt, with the exception of class II RNaseIII from a few budding yeasts (Weinberg et al., 2011).

The plant model Arabidopsis encodes four Dicer-like (DCL) proteins (Schauer et al., 2002). DCL1 produces ancient, conserved, miRNAs that average around 21-nt in length and derive from relatively short, imperfectly double-stranded stem-loop RNA precursors transcribed from non-protein coding *MIR* genes. By contrast, DCL2 and DCL3 produce siRNAs and DCL4 produces young miRNAs and siRNAs, all of which derive from long dsRNA precursors originating from either long inverted repeats (young miRNAs and some siRNAs) or from the action of RNA-dependent RNA polymerases (RDR) on single-stranded RNA precursor (some siRNAs). DCL2 produces 22-nt endoIR-siRNas and viral/transgene siRNAs, DCL3 produces 24-nt PolIV/PolV-siRNAs and DCL4 produces 21-nt young miRNAs, ta-siRNAs and viral/transgene siRNAs (Bouche et al., 2006; Henderson et al., 2006). Most

21- and 22-nt small RNAs are loaded onto AGO1 to guide the cleavage of complementary mRNA (Voinnet, 2009), whereas 24-nt siRNAs associate with AGO4, which recruits PolV and DRD1, leading to transcriptional silencing through histone modification, DNA methylation and chromatin remodeling (Law and Jacobsen, 2010).

Aside from DCL1-4, the Arabidopsis genome has the capacity to encode five proteins referred to as RNASE THREE-LIKE (RTL). RTL1, RTL2 and RTL3 harbor RNaseIII and DRB domains (Comella et al., 2008), whereas RTL4 and RTL5 contain only RNaseIII domains (Portereiko et al., 2006; Watkins et al., 2007). RTL1, which carries one RNaseIII domain and one DRB domain, is weakly expressed uniquely in roots (Comella et al., 2008). Mutants defective for RTL1 are not available in any of the public Arabidopsis stock centers, and RTL1 function is unknown. RTL2, which contains one RNaseIII domain and two DRB domains, is ubiquitously expressed. RTL2 processes, both in vivo as in vitro, the 3'External Transcribed Spacer (ETS) from ribosomal 45S pre-rRNA; however, mutants defective for RTL2 are viable and do not exhibit obvious developmental defects (Comella et al., 2008). RTL3 harbors two RNaseIII domains and three DRB domains, but its expression has not been detected in any tested tissue (Comella et al., 2008). RTL4 and RTL5 carry a single RNAseIII domain but lack DRB domains, and both genes are expressed in almost every tissue. Whereas the targets of RTL4 remain unknown, mutants defective in RTL4 are impaired in male and female gametophyte formation (Portereiko et al., 2006). RTL5 shares sequence similarity to maize RNC1, which is required for the splicing of several chloroplast group II introns (Watkins et al., 2007). Here, we show that RTL1 exhibits RNA cleavage activity, and that its over-expression prevents the accumulation of young miRNAs and all size classes of siRNAs, but does not affect ancient miRNA accumulation. Our results suggest that RTL1 processes long perfectly (or near-perfectly) paired dsRNA, thus preventing DCL2, DCL3 and DCL4 cleavage of these substrates. The possible roles of RTL1 in plant antiviral PTGS defenses also are discussed.

Results

Plants over-expressing RTL1 lack ta-siRNAs, endoIR-siRNas, p4/p5-siRNAs and young miRNAs

To gain insight into the biochemical function and biological roles of RTL1 and RTL2, the small RNA repertoire of Arabidopsis plants over-expressing or lacking RTL1 or RTL2 was compared to that of wild-type plants. Plants over-expressing *RTL1* (*35S::RTL1* plants) exhibited consistent developmental defects; they remained small, had yellow and downward-curled rosette leaves, flowered late and were largely sterile. All progeny plants that carried the *35S::RTL1* transgene exhibited these developmental defects whereas siblings that had segregated the transgene away resembled wild-type plants, indicating that these developmental defects were directly caused by the presence of the *35S::RTL1* transgene. In





Small RNAs from wild-type (Col), *dcl2dcl3dcl4* and *rtl2* mutants and *35S::RTL1* and *35S::RTL2* transgenic plants were subjected to highthrough-put sequencing. Reads that match the Arabidopsis genome, excluding rRNA and tRNA matches, were retrieved. A) Size distribution of all reads, including unique and non-unique miRNAs and siRNAs. The proportion of each size of small RNA is indicated by a different color: 21-nt (blue), 22-nt (green), 23-nt (pink) and 24-nt (red). B) Normalized abundance of unique siRNAs spanning the nuclear genome. Normalization was made to the total of conserved miRNAs.

contrast, 35S::RTL2 plants did not exhibit consistent developmental defects under standard greenhouse growth conditions. One phenotypically representative 35S::RTL1 line and two independent 35S::RTL2 lines that accumulated high levels of RTL2 mRNA were selected for genome-wide small RNA profiling. In addition, small RNAs were sequenced from a wild-type control, an *rtl2* loss-of-function mutant (Comella et al., 2008) and a *dcl2 dcl3 dcl4* triple mutant for comparison (Henderson et al., 2006).

The distribution of the 21-, 22-, 23- and 24-nt reads matching the Arabidopsis genome but excluding tRNA- and rRNA-derived RNAs was examined. The two *35S::RTL2* lines and the *rtl2* mutant exhibited a small RNA profile comparable to that of the wild-type control. The 23-24-nt reads represented 90% of the small RNA reads (Figure 1A), and the distribution of unique siRNA reads along the five chromosomes was similar to that of wild-type plants (Figure 1B), suggesting that RTL2 has no major contribution to the small RNA repertoire. By contrast, the small RNA size distribution in *35S::RTL1* plants resembled that in the *dcl2 dcl3 dcl4* triple mutant, i.e. they accumulated equal amounts of 21-22-nt and 23-24-nt reads (Figure 1A). To determine better the quantitative changes occurring in *35S::RTL1* plants, RNA gel blot analyses were performed using representative miRNA, ta-siRNA and PolIV/PolV-siRNA probes. Analysis of the *35S::RTL1* plant used for sequencing (Figure 2A), or two additional independent *35S::RTL1* reads (Figure 2B), showed that conserved miRNA levels were largely unchanged in *35S::RTL1* plants, whereas the levels of ta-siRNAs and PolIV/PolV-siRNAs were reduced strongly.

Because canonical miRNAs accumulate to similar levels in *35S::RTL1* and wild-type plants, the sequence data were normalized to the 20 conserved, DCL1-dependent miRNAs. Analysis of the normalized chromosomal distribution of unique small RNA reads that do not correspond to conserved miRNAs, i.e. primarily siRNAs, revealed that *35S::RTL1* plants almost entirely lack siRNAs (Figure 1B). Furthermore, sorting siRNAs into their major functional categories showed that RTL1 over-expression strongly impacts the accumulation of ta-siRNAs, endoIR-siRNas and PoIIV/PoIV-siRNAs (Figure 3 for whole-genome analysis and supplemental Figures 1, 2 and 3 for the analysis of representative loci). We also analyzed the levels of young miRNAs because their long dsRNA precursors resemble more the precursors of endoIR-siRNas than the precursors of canonical miRNAs. Similar to ta-siRNAs, endoIR-siRNas and PoIIV/PoIV-siRNAs, miR833, miR838 and miR869 were reduced strongly in *35S::RTL1* plants (Figure 2 and supplemental Figure 4), indicating that RTL1 affects the accumulation of all classes of endogenous small RNAs, except canonical miRNAs.





Figure 2: RNA gel blot analysis of diverse types of small RNAs.

Gel blots of total RNA from wild-type (Col) and 35S::RTL1 plants were hybridized with the indicated probes. A) RNA blot analysis of the 35S::RTL1#1 plant used for sequencing in Figure 1. B) RNA blot analysis of two additional independent 35S::RTL1 plants

Given the ability of RTL1 to inhibit the accumulation of endogenous siRNAs, we examined whether RTL1 over-expression also impacted transgene-derived siRNAs. To this end, a 35S::GU-UG transgene expressing a inverted repeat hairpin RNA consisting of the 5' part of the GUS reporter sequence (GU) was introduced transiently into Nicotiana benthamiana leaves together with either 35S::RTL1 or a 35S::GFP control. As expected, 35S::GU-UG + 35S::GFP infiltrated leaves accumulated high levels of 21- and 24-nt GU siRNAs, whereas 35S::GU-UG + 35S::RTL1 infiltrated leaves did not accumulate detectable levels of GU siRNAs (Figure 4A), indicating that RTL1 prevents the accumulation of transgene siRNAs deriving from an inverted repeat. We also determined the effect of RTL1 on PTGS, by co-infiltrating the 35S::GU-UG construct and a target 35S::GUS reporter with either 35S::RTL1 or a 35S::GFP control. Leaves infiltrated with 35S::GU-UG + 35S::GUS + 35S::GFP lacked GUS mRNA, indicating that PTGS of GUS was established, whereas 35S::GU-UG + 35S::GUS + 35S::RTL1 infiltrated leaves accumulated GUS mRNA (Figure 4B), indicating that RTL1 prevents transgene siRNA-mediated PTGS of the 35S::GUS target. RTL1-mediated inhibition of transgene PTGS was confirmed in the Arabidopsis line L1, which undergoes spontaneous PTGS of a stably integrated 35S::GUS reporter transgene. Transgenic L1/35S::RTL1 plants lacked GUS siRNAs, whereas L1 controls accumulated GUS siRNAs (Figure 4C).

RTL1 activity requires functional RNaseIII and DRB domains

To determine if an intact RNaseIII domain is required for RTL1 to inhibit siRNA accumulation and PTGS, first, the conserved catalytic site amino-acids E89 and D96 of RTL1 were both mutagenized to alanine (we refer to this transgene as *RTL1mR3*). Then, *N. benthamiana* leaves were co-infiltrated with *35S::GU-UG* and either *35S::RTL1* or *35S::RTL1mR3*. *35S::GU-UG* + *35S::RTL1mR3* infiltrated leaves accumulated high levels of 21- and 24-nt GU siRNAs, similar to *35S::GU-UG* + *35S::GUS* +

To monitor RTL1 and RTL1mR3 protein accumulation, two different epitope tags were added individually to RTL1 as C-terminal or N-terminal fusions, and then the RNaseIII domain was





Small RNAs from wild-type (Col), *35S::RTL1* transgenic plants and *dcl2dcl3dcl4* mutants were classified as ta-siRNAs (A), endoIR-siRNas (B) and PolIV/PolV-siRNAs (C) based on published annotation. Small RNA abundance was normalized to the total amount of conserved miRNAs. Each size of small RNA is indicated by a different color: 21-nt (blue), 22-nt (green), 23-nt (pink) and 24-nt (red).

А

mutagenized. To determine if the presence of the epitope tags impaired wild-type RTL1 function, the 35S::GU-UG construct was infiltrated into *N. benthamiana* leaves with either 35S::RTL1, 35S::Flag-RTL1, 35S::RTL1-Flag, 35S::Myc-RTL1 or 35S::RTL1-Myc constructs. The 35S::RTL1-Flag and 35S::RTL1-Myc constructs reduced GU siRNA accumulation almost as efficiently as the 35S::RTL1 control, whereas the 35S::Flag-RTL1 and 35S::Myc-RTL1 constructs had a weaker effect (Figure 4D), suggesting that the addition of these N-terminal tags impacted RTL1 activity. Consistent with this observation, 35S::Flag-RTL1 and 35S::Myc-RTL1 Arabidopsis transformants did not exhibit developmental defects, whereas 35S::RTL1-Flag and 35S::RTL1-Myc transformants displayed developmental defects similar to, although less severe than, 35S::RTL1-Myc plants exhibited downward leaf curling, typical of plants lacking TAS3 ta-siRNAs. However, they were less dwarf, yellow and sterile than 35S::RTL1 plants (data not shown). The 35S::RTL1-Flag and 35S::RTL1-Myc constructs, they showed the strongest reduction in siRNA accumulation (supplemental Figure 5B), and the strongest effect on L1 PTGS (supplemental Figure 5C).

To ensure that the absence of developmental and molecular defects in 35S::RTL1mR3 plants was not due to destabilization or impaired production of the RTL1 protein, the RNaseIII domain of the 35S::RTL1-Myc construct was mutagenized as previously described, and N. benthamiana leaves were co-infiltrated with the 35S::GU-UG and either 35S::GFP, 35S::RTL1-Myc or 35S::RTL1mR3-Myc constructs. 35S::GU-UG + 35S::RTL1mR3-Myc infiltrated leaves accumulated high levels of 21- and 24-nt GU siRNAs, whereas 35S::GU-UG + 35S::RTL1-Myc infiltrated leaves lacked GU siRNAs (Figure 4D and supplemental Figure 6A), similar to the results obtained with non-tagged RTL1 and RTL1mR3 constructs (Figure 4A). However, western blot analysis revealed that the RTL1mR3-Myc protein accumulated to a lower level than the RTL1-Myc protein in infiltrated leaves (supplemental Figure 6A), raising concerns about the effect of the two introduced mutations on protein stability. To address this question, Arabidopsis L1 plants were transformed with either 35S::RTL1-Myc or 35S::RTL1mR3-Myc, and the amount of RTL1-Myc and RTL1mR3-Myc protein was determined by western blot in a series of individual transformed plants (Figure 4E). Two L1/35S::RTL1-Mvc (#1 and #2) and two L1/35S::RTL1mR3-Myc (#1 and #8) plants accumulating comparable amounts of RTL1 protein were selected for analysis of endogenous and transgene siRNAs. Both L1/35S::RTL1-Myc plants accumulated GUS mRNA and lacked GUS siRNAs and endogenous ta-siRNAs, whereas L1/35S::RTL1mR3-Myc plants lacked GUS mRNA and accumulated GUS siRNAs and endogenous tasiRNAs (Figure 4F and data not shown), indicating that the wild-type RTL1 RNaseIII domain is required to suppress small RNA accumulation.



Figure 4: The RTL1 RNaseIII domain is required for inhibition of transgene PTGS

A) Nicotiana benthamiana leaves were infiltrated with a 35S::GU-UG construct (GU-UG) together with either a wild-type 35S::RTL1 construct (RTL1), a construct mutated in the RNaseIII domain (RTL1mR3) or a 35S::GFP control (GFP). Low molecular weight (LMW) RNAs were hybridized with a GUS probe and with U6 as a loading control. B) Nicotiana benthamiana leaves were infiltrated with a 35S::GU-UG construct (GU-UG) and a 35S::GUS construct (GUS) together with either a wild-type 35S::RTL1 construct (RTL1), a construct mutated in the RNaseIII domain (RTL1mR3) or a 35S::GFP control (GFP). LMW RNAs were hybridized with a GUS probe and with U6 as loading control. High molecular weight RNAs were hybridized with a GUS probe and with 25S as loading control. C) The Arabidopsis line L1 carrying a 35S:: GUS transgene silenced by PTGS was transformed with a wild-type 35S::RTL1 construct (RTL1). LMW GUS RNA from two independent transformants were analyzed. D) Nicotiana benthamiana leaves were infiltrated with a 35S::GU-UG construct (GU-UG) together with either a wild-type 35S::RTL1 construct (RTL1), tagged constructs (RTL1-Myc, Myc-RTL1, RTL1-Flag, Flag-RTL1) or a 35S::GFP control (GFP). LMW RNAs were hybridized with a GUS probe and with U6 as a loading control. E) The Arabidopsis line L1 was transformed with either a wild-type tagged 35S::RTL1 construct (RTL1-Myc) or a tagged construct mutated in the RNaseIII domain (RTL1mR3-Myc). Proteins were extracted from three independent RTL1-Myc transformants and eight independent RTL1mR3-Myc transformants and hybridized with a Myc antibody. F) LMW RNAs from RTL1-Myc and RTL1mR3-Myc transformants expressing comparable amount of proteins were hybridized with GUS and TAS2 probes and with U6 as a loading control.

To determine if RTL1 activity also requires its DRB domain, a $35S::RTL1-\Delta DRB-Myc$ construct lacking the C-terminal DRB domain was generated. $35S::GU-UG + 35S::RTL1-\Delta DRB-Myc$ infiltrated *N. benthamiana* leaves accumulated high levels of 21- and 24-nt *GU* siRNAs, similar to 35S::GU-UG+ 35S::GFP infiltrated leaves, indicating that the DRB domain is required for RTL1 activity (supplemental Figure 6B).

RTL1 cleaves near-perfectly paired long dsRNA

The selective effect of RTL1 on young miRNAs, ta-siRNAs, endoIR-siRNAs, p4/p5-siRNAs and transgene siRNAs could be explained by several, non-exclusive mechanisms:

1) inhibition of the enzymes involved in the biogenesis of their dsRNA precursors,

2) degradation of their dsRNA precursors,

3) inhibition of or competition with the DCLs processing their dsRNA precursors

4) degradation of these small RNAs.

The fact that RTL1 over-expression impairs the accumulation of young miRNAs and endoIR-siRNAs rules out that RTL1 inhibits RDR activity. Indeed, young miRNAs and endoIR-siRNAs are processed from self-complementary single-stranded RNAs that do not require RDR for their production. The fact that levels of young miRNAs, ta-siRNAs, endoIR-siRNAs and p4/p5-siRNAs are more strongly reduced in 35S::RTL1 plants than in the dcl2 dcl3 dcl4 triple mutant (Figure 1B and Figure 3) makes also unlikely that RTL1 inhibits DCL2, DCL3 and DCL4 activity or that RTL1 selectively degrades small RNAs produced by DCL2, DCL3 and DCL4. Indeed, the residual level of siRNAs observed in the dcl2 dcl3 dcl4 triple mutant likely results from a weak activity of DCL1 on siRNA precursors in the absence of DCL2, DCL3 and DCL4, and the disappearance of these siRNAs in 35S::RTL1 plants suggests that RTL1 acts upstream of the DCLs. Therefore, it is very tempting to speculate that RTL1 degrades the dsRNA precursors of young miRNAs, ta-siRNAs, endoIR-siRNAs, p4/p5-siRNAs and transgene siRNAs, thereby preventing their processing by any of the four DCLs. To test this hypothesis, we examined the accumulation of the endoIR-siRNA precursor IR71 because IR71derived siRNAs are totally absent in plants expressing the 35S::RTL1 construct (Supplemental Figure 2). As shown before (Dunoyer et al, 2010), the *IR71* precursor accumulates in the *dcl2 dcl3 dcl4* triple mutant, but does not accumulate in wild-type Col, likely because it is efficiently processed by DCL2, DCL3 and DCL4 (Figure 5A). The IR71 precursor did not accumulate in the dcl2 dcl3 dcl4 triple mutant transformed with the 35S::RTL1 construct (Figure 5A), suggesting that it is degraded/destabilized by RTL1.

Confirmation that RTL1 acts on dsRNA was further obtained using an *in vitro* cleavage assay. A soluble His-RTL1 fusion protein was expressed in *E. coli*, purified to near homogeneity and incubated



Figure 5: RTL1 cleaves dsRNA.

A) RNA gel blot detection of *IR71* precursor RNA in wild-type (Col), Col transformed with the *35S::RTL1* construct (*Col/RTL1*), the *dcl2dcl3dcl4* triple mutant (*dcl234*), and *dcl234* transformed with the *35S::RTL1* construct (*dcl234/RTL1*). Transformants exhibiting a strong RTL1 developmental phenotype were analyzed. High molecular weight (HMW) RNAs were hybridized with a probe complementary to the *IR71* RNA and with *25S* as loading control. B) RT-PCR reactions to detect *IR71* precursor RNA and *U3* snoRNA in Arabidopsis RNA samples. RNAs were denaturated or not before incubation with the His-AtRTL1 recombinant protein (RTL1). Untreated samples were used as controls (mock). RT-PCR amplification of *U3* snoRNA sequences shows similar amount of RNA in each reaction.

with total RNA extracted from wild-type Arabidopsis seedlings. RT-PCR analysis reveals that purified His-RTL1 cleaves *IR71* precursor RNA, which can be visualized by the absence of amplification in the presence of His-RTL1, whereas amplification is detected in RNA fractions incubated without His-RTL1 (Figure 5B). The specificity of RTL1 towards dsRNA was demonstrated by incubating His-RTL1 with denatured or non-denatured RNA. Indeed, His-RTL1 was able to cleave non-denatured but not denatured *IR71* precursor RNA (Figure 5B). However, His-RTL1 activity is specific to certain dsRNA. Indeed, the abundant and highly structured *U3* snoRNA (Marshallsay et al., 1990), which is not a siRNA precursor, was not cleaved by His-RTL1 (Figure 5B), indicating that RTL1 cleavage activity is sequence- or structure-specific, or depends on a co-factor that recognizes siRNA precursors.

Viruses induce RTL1 mRNA but viral suppressors of RNA silencing counteract RTL1 activity

Given its ability to cleave dsRNA, RTL1 could play several non-exclusive roles in plant-virus interactions. Indeed, RTL1 could cleave dsRNA intermediates of virus replication generated by viral RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRP), which in theory should enhance plant resistance. However, RTL1 could also cleave viral dsRNAs generated by cellular RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RDR), which in theory should enhance plant susceptibility because RDR-derived dsRNAs give rise to siRNAs that normally are loaded onto AGO1 and AGO2, which target viral RNAs for destruction. However, RTL1 is not expressed under normal laboratory conditions in leaves, and is only weakly expressed in roots (Comella et al, 2008). Thus, RTL1 likely could only play a role in plant-virus interactions if it is induced during virus infection. To test this hypothesis, we inoculated wild-type Col plants with representative viruses from four different families: *turnip crinkle virus* (TCV), *turnip vein clearing virus* (TVCV), *cucumber mosaic virus* (CMV) *and turnip yellow mosaic virus* (TYMV). Upon inoculation, *RTL1* mRNA accumulated in systemic leaves whereas it was below detectable levels in mock-inoculated plants (Figure 6A), indicating that *RTL1* expression is generally induced in response to virus infection.

To further examine the biological role of RTL1 in plant-virus interactions, we attempted to compare virus-sensitivity in wild-type Col and *rtl1* mutants. However, *rtl1* null alleles could not be found in publicly available libraries. Moreover, neither of two artificial miRNAs directed against RTL1 (amiR-RTL1a and amiR-RTL1b) was able to suppress the RTL1 overexpression phenotype conferred by the *35S::RTL1* construct, despite an abundant accumulation of the two amiRNAs (Supplemental Figure 7), suggesting that *RTL1* mRNA is reluctant to silencing. Therefore, we attempted to address the biological role of RTL1 in plant-virus interactions by comparing the responses of wild-type Col and *35S::RTL1-Flag* plants after infection with the four representative viruses used in our previous experiments. For this purpose, we chose a *35S::RTL1-Flag* line that accumulates *RTL1* mRNA at a





A) RNAs extracted from mock-inoculated wild-type (Col) and 35S::RTL1-Flag plants (RTL1) and from TCV-, TVCV-, CMV- and TYMV-inoculated wild-type (Col) were subjected to oligo-dT reverse transcription followed by PCR with oligos specific to either RTL1 or EF1a. B) Pictures of mock-, TCV-, TVCV-, CMV- and TYMV-inoculated wild-type (Col) and 35S::RTL1-Flag plants (RTL1). Ten-day-old plants were inoculated. Pictures were taken three weeks following inoculation. C) RNA gel blot detection of TCV, TVCV, CMV and TYMV siRNAs in mock- and virus-inoculated wild-type (Col) and 35S::RTL1-Flag plants (RTL1). U6 was used as a loading control.

higher level than that observed in wild-type Col inoculated with viruses so that the effect of *RTL1* over-expression could be determined.

RTL1 over-expression caused a severe aggravation of TYMV-induced symptoms. Indeed, whereas TYMV-inoculated wild-type Col plants only showed mild symptoms and were able to bolt, flower and set seeds, TYMV-inoculated *35S::RTL1-Flag* plants resembled TCV- and TVCV- inoculated wild-type plants, which are unable to bolt and which eventually die from the infection (Figure 6B). TYMV-derived siRNAs accumulated in TYMV-inoculated wild-type Col plants, but they were below detectable level in TYMV-inoculated *35S::RTL1-Flag* plants (Figure 6C). These results indicate that, when artificially over-expressed, RTL1 prevents the accumulation of TYMV siRNAs as efficiently as it prevents the accumulation of transgene siRNAs (Figure 4), thus making RTL1 an antagonist of plant antiviral PTGS defenses. Thus, *35S::RTL1-Flag* plants are deprived of the plant antiviral PTGS defense, which normally limits the proliferation of TYMV by targeting TYMV RNA for destruction, resulting in severe symptoms of viral infection.

In contrast to TYMV, TCV-, TVCV- and CMV-inoculated 35S::RTL1-Flag plants did not show aggravated viral symptoms compared with wild-type Col infected plants (Figure 6B). Indeed, TCV- and TVCV-inoculated wild-type Col plants developed severe symptoms similar to TCV- and TVCV-inoculated 35S::RTL1-Flag plants, and all these plants eventually died from the infection. CMV-inoculated 35S::RTL1-Flag plants developed milder symptoms than TCV- and TVCV-inoculated 35S::RTL1-Flag plants; however, these symptoms were similar to that of CMV-inoculated wild-type plants (note that the late flowering phenotype observed in CMV-inoculated 35S::RTL1-Flag plants is also observed in mock-inoculated 35S::RTL1-Flag plants). Strikingly, TCV- and TVCV-derived siRNAs accumulated at similar levels in wild-type and 35S::RTL1-Flag plants (Figure 6C), as if RTL1 was unable to prevent the accumulation of TCV- and TVCV-derived siRNAs. CMV-derived siRNAs also accumulated in 35S::RTL1-Flag plants, although at a level lower than in wild-type Col plants (Figure 6C), suggesting that RTL1 only partially prevents the accumulation of CMV-derived siRNAs.

These results indicate that viruses induce the expression of the native RTL1 gene, but that most of them have the capacity to inhibit the anti-silencing activity of RTL1, either completely (TCV, TVCV) or partially (CMV). To test this hypothesis, the accumulation of endogenous ta-siRNAs was compared in TCV-, TVCV-, CMV- and TYMV-inoculated *35S::RTL1-Flag* and wild-type Col plants. *TAS2* ta-siRNAs of the correct 21nt length accumulated in both TYMV-inoculated wild-type plants and mock-inoculated wild-type plants, although at a lower level TYMV-inoculated plants (Figure 7A). However, they were absent in both TYMV-inoculated *35S::RTL1-Flag* plants and mock-inoculated *35S::R*

Shamandi_Fig7



Figure 7: Virus impact on RTL1 activity.

A) RNAs extracted from mock- or virus inoculated wild-type (Col) and 35S::RTL1-Flag plants (RTL1) were hybridized with a TAS2 probe and U6 as a loading control. B) Nicotiana benthamiana leaves were infiltrated with a 35S::GU-UG construct (GU-UG) together with either a wild-type 35S::RTL1 construct (RTL1), a 35S::P38 construct (P38), a mix of the 35S::RTL1 and 35S::P38 constructs (P38 + RTL1), or a 35S::GFP control (GFP). LMW RNAs were hybridized with a GUS probe and with U6 as a loading control.

Flag plants, confirming that TYMV does not inhibit RTL1 activity. In contrast, *TAS2* ta-siRNAs accumulated in TCV-, TVCV- and CMV-inoculated *35S::RTL1-Flag* plants , whereas they were absent in mock-inoculated *35S::RTL1-Flag* plants (Figure 7A), confirming that TCV, TVCV and CMV reduce RTL1 activity. Note that the difference in ta-siRNA size between mock-inoculated and TCV-inoculated wild-type plants results from the inhibiting effect of the TCV P38 protein on DCL4 activity (Bouche et al., 2006; Deleris et al., 2006; Schott et al., 2012).

Together, these results indicate that RTL1 expression is induced in response to virus infection, but that some viruses have evolved strategies to inhibit RTL1 activity. It is long known that most viruses encode proteins that inhibit components of the plant antiviral PTGS defense, which allow most viruses to counteract plant defenses and establish infections. These proteins are referred to as viral suppressors of RNA silencing (VSR). To determine if VSR proteins are also responsible for the inhibition of RTL1 activity, the well-characterized TCV VSR P38 was used in Agro-infiltration experiments. *N. benthamiana* leaves were co-infiltrated with the 35S::GU-UG construct and either 35S::GFP, 35S::RTL1, 35S::P38 constructs, or 35S::RTL1 + 35S::P38 constructs. Whereas 35S::RTL1 infiltrated leaves, 35S::RTL1 + 35S::P38 infiltrated leaves accumulated *GU* siRNAs at a level similar to that of 35S::P38 infiltrated leaves (Figure 7B). These results indicate that P38 is sufficient to prevent RTL1-mediated inhibition of TCV-derived siRNAs, and suggest that P38 likely also prevents RTL1-mediated inhibition of TCV-derived siRNAs (Figure 6C).

Discussion

Unlike the DICER-type RNAseIII enzymes that produce small RNAs necessary for silencing in a range of eukaryotes, the plant non-DICER RNaseIII enzyme RTL1 does not promote small RNA production but rather represses it. Genome-wide profiling of small RNAs in plants ectopically expressing RTL1 under the control of a strong promoter (*35S::RTL1*) revealed that RTL1 inhibits the accumulation of all types of small RNAs normally produced by DCL2, DCL3 or DCL4. Because RTL1 over-expression does not affect the accumulation of DCL1-dependent conserved miRNAs, which are processed from imperfectly-paired short hairpins, it is likely that RTL1 specifically affects perfectly paired long dsRNA, such as the precursors of ta-siRNAs and p4/p5-siRNAs, which derive from RDR activity, or near-perfectly paired long dsRNA, such as the precursors of young miRNAs and of endoIR-siRNAs. Consistently, *in vivo* and *in vitro* assays show that RTL1 cleaves dsRNA. Because siRNAs are almost totally absent in *35S::RTL1* plants where the four DCLs are present, RTL1 likely has a very high affinity for long dsRNA and thus cleaves dsRNA before they enter processing by the DCLs.

RTL1 is conserved in plants (Supplemental Figure 8), suggesting that it has essential functions. When overexpressed, not only does RTL1 interfere with the accumulation of endogenous siRNAs, but it also interferes with the accumulation of exogenous siRNAs, such as transgene-derived siRNAs, indicating that RTL1 is a general suppressor of plant siRNA pathways. However, under laboratory growth conditions, RTL1 is very weakly expressed in the roots and below detection levels in leaves and flowers (Comella et al, 2008), consistent with the accumulation of siRNAs in these tissues in wildtype plants. RTL1 is induced in leaves in response to viral infection, suggesting that upon viral infection, RTL1 could suppress the accumulation of virus-derived siRNAs and thus counteract the plant anti-viral PTGS defense. PTGS was first identified in plants that did not express transgenes, but it rapidly became obvious that it naturally serves as a mechanism of antiviral defense in plants, flies and worms (Ding and Voinnet, 2007; Felix et al., 2011; Li et al., 2002; Mourrain et al., 2000). Indeed, a fraction of viral RNA is transformed into siRNAs by Dicer enzymes (DCL2 and DCL4 in plants), which, upon loading onto AGO proteins (AGO1 and AGO2 in plants), target viral RNA for destruction (Wang et al., 2011). However, this mechanism is rarely efficient to protect plants against infection because most viruses have evolved proteins that suppress PTGS at various steps (Ding and Voinnet, 2007). These proteins are referred to as viral suppressors of RNA silencing (VSR). For example, CMV encodes 2b, a VSR protein that exhibits the dual activity of binding dsRNA and AGO1, thus blocking its activity (Duan et al., 2012). TCV encodes P38, a VSR protein that also binds AGO1 and blocks its activity. In addition, P38 indirectly alters the activity of DCL4 (Azevedo et al., 2010; Deleris et al., 2006b; Schott et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2006). Besides targeting cellular components of the PTGS machinery, viruses can also suppress plant PTGS by expressing VSR proteins that target RNAs. For example, TBSV encodes P19, a VSR that sequestrates siRNAs (Silhavy et al., 2002), while SPCSV encodes an RNAseIII enzyme that likely degrades siRNAs (Cuellar et al., 2009). As a result of the action of VSRs, viruses generally succeed to infect plants. However, each VSR exhibits a different strength in blocking plant antiviral PTGS defenses. For example, the VSR activity of TYMV P69 is weaker than that of CMV 2b, which is weaker than that of TCV P38, resulting in mild symptoms in TYMV-infected Arabidopsis, intermediate symptoms in CMV-infected Arabidopsis and severe symptoms in TCV-infected Arabidopsis, as well as partial suppression of transgene PTGS by TYMV (Chen et al., 2004), intermediate suppression by CMV and complete PTGS suppression by TCV (Beclin et al., 1998; Mourrain et al., 2000).

Surprisingly, plants also encode proteins that counteract their antiviral PTGS defense. For example, XRN4 encodes a 5'->3' exoribonuclease that likely degrades viral substrates of PTGS. Indeed, *xrn4* mutants exhibit hyper-resistance to virus infection, indicating that XRN4 counteracts PTGS in wild-type plants (Gy et al., 2007). Here, we show that RTL1 has the potential to counteract the plant antiviral PTGS defense. Indeed, *35S::RTL1* plants exhibit hyper-susceptibility to infection by TYMV and lack TYMV-derived siRNAs, whereas wild-type plants exhibit mild symptoms and produce

siRNAs that target TYMV RNAs for destruction by PTGS. However, other viruses, such as TCV, TVCV or CMV cause similar symptoms on wild-type and *35S::RTL1* plants. Moreover, unlike TYMV-infected *35S::RTL1* plants that lack virus-derived siRNAs and endogenous siRNAs, TCV-, TVCV-and CMV-infected *35S::RTL1* plants accumulate virus-derived siRNAs and endogenous siRNAs, suggesting that RTL1 is unable to prevent the accumulation of viral siRNAs because its activity is inhibited by these viruses. If so, it is unlikely that RTL1 contributes to the successful infection of wild-type and *35S::RTL1* plants by TCV, TVCV and CMV. Rather, it is likely that successful infection by these viruses relies on the inhibition of the plant antiviral PTGS defense by these viruses, consistent with TCV, TVCV and CMV strongly suppressing transgene PTGS (Beclin et al., 1998; Mourrain et al., 2000), whereas TYMV only weakly suppresses transgene PTGS (Chen et al., 2004).

Since RTL1 has the potential to counteract the plant antiviral PTGS defense by cleaving dsRNA precursors of viral siRNAs and preventing the loading of virus-derived siRNAs onto antiviral AGO proteins, why do TCV, TVCV and CMV inhibit RTL1 activity? Indeed, the induction of RTL1 expression, which is generally observed upon virus infection, should only favor virus proliferation, as observed in the case of TYMV. The fact that TCV, TVCV and CMV strongly inhibit RTL1 activity suggests that the inhibition of RTL1 by certain viruses is essential for other reasons. For example, it may be necessary for certain viruses to inhibit RTL1 activity if RTL1 cleaves their dsRNA replication intermediates, which would impair infection early on. Thus, it is reasonable to assume that viruses that are sensitive to RTL1 at some step(s) of their replication have evolved strategies to inhibit or counteract RTL1 activity. Interestingly, inhibition of antiviral RTL1 activity appears to rely on VSR proteins that also inhibit antiviral plant PTGS defenses. Viral-mediated suppression of RTL1 also could be a strategy to prolong the life of their host plant so that a successful infection can be established before the plant succumbs to death. It will be interesting to determine if viruses also suppress the activity of other known endogenous silencing suppressors.

Our study has revealed a novel plant protein involved in plant-virus interactions. In the case of TYMV, RTL1 serves as an endogenous suppressor of the PTGS defense pathway that may help viruses to infect plants, likely by degrading dsRNA precursors of virus-derived siRNAs. However, the inhibition of RTL1 activity by TCV, TVCV and CMV suggests that RTL1 may also serve as an actor of the cellular defenses that help plants to fight against viruses, for example by degrading dsRNA intermediates of virus replication. Further experiments will be required to address the precise action of RTL1 towards each virus.

Materials and Methods

Plant material, transformation and virus inoculation

Arabidopsis plants are in the Col-0 ecotype. The mutants *rtl2* and *dcl2dcl3dcl4* and the line *L1* have been previously described (Comella et al., 2008; Elmayan et al., 1998; Henderson et al., 2006). Plants were grown in standard long-day conditions (16h of light and 8 h of dark at 20°C). *Arabidopsis* was transformed using the floral-dip method.

For virus infection, 10-day-old in vitro plants were inoculated with TVC, TVCV, CMV and TYMV 1 day after being transferred to soil. Virus inoculations were performed as previously described (Bouche et al., 2006; Mourrain et al., 2000). Plants were grown for 3 weeks under standard long-day conditions (14h of light and 10 h of dark at 20°C), after which the aerial parts of 4 to 12 plants were harvested.

For *Nicotiana benthamiana* agroinfiltrations, 10 ml cultures of *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* C58C1 (pMP90) carrying the plasmids of interest were grown overnight at 28°c and then centrifuged at 6000 rpm. The bacterial pellets were suspended at 10mM MgCl2, 10mM MES pH5.2, 150 μ M acetosyringone solution to a final OD₆₀₀ of 1.0. The resuspended bacterial solution was incubated at 20°C for 3 hours and then used to infiltrate leaves. Leaves were harvested 3 days after infiltration.

Plant DNA, RNA and protein analyses

RTL1 (*At4g15417*) and *RTL2* (*At3g20420*) genomic sequences starting at the ATG and ending at the stop codon were PCR-amplified and cloned into the *pDONR207* (Gateway ® Technology- Invitrogen) using *attB1RTL1F*, *attB2RTL1R*, *attB1RTL2F* and *attB2RTL2R* Gateway adapted oligonucleotides (supplemental Table 1). LR reactions were performed to create the *RTL1* N- or C-terminal *Flag* and *Myc* fusions under the control of the *35S* promoter of the *pGWB* Gateway series. Point mutations in the conserved amino acids of the RTL1 RNaseIII domain were done using QuikChange ® Site-Directed Mutagenesis Kit (Stratagene). The G89 and D96 amino acids were replaced by an A using the *RTL1m2-F* and *RTL1m2-R* oligonucleotides (supplemental Table1). The *RTL1ΔDRB* sequence was amplified using the *attB1RTL1F* and *attB2RTL1-R3-R* oligonucleotides (Supplement Table1), recombined into the *pDONR207* (Gateway ® Technology- invitrogen) and then transferred to the *pGWB* Gateway series under the control of the *35S* promoter.

RNA extraction and hybridization were performed as previously described (Mallory et al., 2009). A phosphorimager LAS-4000 Fujifilm was used to quantify the hybridization signals. Oligonucleotides used as probes for small RNA detection are listed in Supplemental Table 1. For IR71 precursor RNA detection, a DNA probe was generated by PCR using the IR71fwd1 and IR71rev1 primers. For *RTL1* RT-PCR analysis, cDNA was synthesized using 2 μ g of total RNA digested with DNaseI (Fermentas). 500 ng of final DNA-free RNA was used for a reverse transcription with oligo-dT (Fermentas). The PCR was performed using Taq DNA polymerase (Thermo Scientific-Fermentas) and 1 μ l of RT

reaction using *RTL1-6* and *RTL1-7* oligonucleotides (supplemental Table 1). *EF1* α was used as a standard.

Plant protein extraction and western blots were performed as previously described (Mallory et al., 2009). Signals were revealed using Amersham ECL SelectTM kit following the manufacturer specifications.

In vitro assays

Cloning of a full-length cDNA sequence encoding RTL1 was performed by a reverse transcription polymerase reaction (RT-PCR) as described before (Comella et al., 2008). A cDNA fragment encoding amino acids 1 to 289 of RTL1 was cloned into the NdeI/XhoI site of the pET16b plasmid (Novagen, Madison, WI) using *5rtl1NdeI* and *3rtl1XhoI* primers to produce the His-tagged-RTL1 recombinant fusion protein.

The recombinant His-RTL1 proteins were produced following Novagen's instructions. Briefly, lysis was performed in Binding buffer supplemented with Dnase (20 ug/ul), MgCl2 (10mM final concentration) and Protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche). After cell disruption and centrifugation, the soluble fraction was purified using the Ni2+ resin. Following elution, purified His-RTL1 proteins were finally dialyzed against Sample Buffer (20 mM Tris, pH7,5, 100 mM NaCl, 20% glycerol, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM DTT).

For the cleavage assay, total RNA was extracted from 14-day-old A. thaliana plantlets using TriZol reagent (GE Healthcare, Littler Chalfont, Buckinghamshire, UK). After treatment with Turbo DNase (Ambion), 500 ng of RNA were premixed in reaction Buffer (20mM Tris, pH 7,5, 50 mM MgCl2). For denaturation, the RNA premix was boiled at 70°C for 5 minutes and immediately placed on ice at least 5 minutes before adding proteins. To assay RTL1 activity, 100 ng of recombinant RTL1 or Sample Buffer were added and incubated for 1 hour on ice. Finally, the reaction was stopped by heating samples to 70°C for 5 minutes. 50 ng of treated RNAs were used for reverse transcription (RT) (Promega) using the IR71rt and U3rt primers, followed by 42 cycles of PCR using IR71fwd2 and IR71rev2 primers, and U3fwd and U3rt primers, respectively, using the *Gotaq PCR Kit* (Promega).

Bioinformatics

The 3' adapters of the reads were removed with S-MART (Zytnicki and Quesneville, 2011) tools, then sequences were mapped using Mosaik (http://code.google.com/p/mosaik-aligner/) and Bowtie (Langmead et al., 2009) to the TAIR10 assembly. Only unique reads with at most 2 mismatches to the genome were kept. Graphs were produced with S-MART tools and *ad hoc* scripts. Data were normalized with respect to Col-0 under the assumption that the 16 canonical miRNA genes (miR156, 157, 159, 160, 162, 164, 165, 166, 167, 168, 169, 170, 171, 172, 319, 390) where globally unaffected (Figure 2). The normalization of *dcl2/dcl3/dcl4*, which showed the most drastic small RNA down-regulation, was further confirmed by RNA gel blot. MicroRNA annotation was downloaded from

RFAM (Burge et al., 2013). EndoIR-siRNAs were annotated using the sRNA-producing loci predicted by (Lindow et al., 2007), which did not match RFAM miRNAs. Loci producing siRNAs in a PolIV-dependent manner where retrieved from (Mosher et al., 2008). Young miRNAs were defined as mutant *dcl1*-independant sRNA: we downloaded the sRNAs produced by (Lu et al., 2006) and discarded all of those miRNAs that contained at least one read from this data set. The data reported in this paper have been deposited in the Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) database, www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo (accession no.XXX).

Plant protein sequences homologous to Arabidopsis RTL1 and RTL2 were retrieved using TblastN. DCL sequences were discarded based on the presence of RNA helicase and PAZ domains upstream of the RNaseIII and DRB domains. In each species, the RTL1 ortholog was identified based on the presence of a single DRB domain and a higher similarity to Arabidopsis RTL1 than to RTL2 in the RNaseIII domain. Proteins were aligned using MultiAlign.

Ackowledgements

We thank T. Elmayan and Olivier Voinnet for helpful discussions, B. Letarnec, H. Ferry and P. Grillot for plant care, and Anne de Dures for technical assistance. This work was supported by Agence Nationale de la Recherche : ANR-10-LABX-40 (to HV) and ANR-11-BSV6-007 (to HV, MZ and JS-V). The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

References

- 1. Bartel DP (2009) MicroRNAs: target recognition and regulatory functions. Cell 136: 215-233.
- 2. Voinnet O (2009) Origin, biogenesis, and activity of plant microRNAs. Cell 136: 669-687.
- 3. Drinnenberg IA, Fink GR, Bartel DP (2011) Compatibility with killer explains the rise of RNAideficient fungi. Science 333: 1592.
- 4. Drinnenberg IA, Weinberg DE, Xie KT, Mower JP, Wolfe KH, et al. (2009) RNAi in budding yeast. Science 326: 544-550.
- 5. Weinberg DE, Nakanishi K, Patel DJ, Bartel DP (2011) The inside-out mechanism of Dicers from budding yeasts. Cell 146: 262-276.
- 6. Brennecke J, Aravin AA, Stark A, Dus M, Kellis M, et al. (2007) Discrete small RNA-generating loci as master regulators of transposon activity in Drosophila. Cell 128: 1089-1103.
- 7. Cheloufi S, Dos Santos CO, Chong MM, Hannon GJ (2010) A dicer-independent miRNA biogenesis pathway that requires Ago catalysis. Nature 465: 584-589.
- 8. Halic M, Moazed D (2010) Dicer-independent primal RNAs trigger RNAi and heterochromatin formation. Cell 140: 504-516.
- 9. Sijen T, Steiner FA, Thijssen KL, Plasterk RH (2007) Secondary siRNAs result from unprimed RNA synthesis and form a distinct class. Science 315: 244-247.
- Blaszczyk J, Tropea JE, Bubunenko M, Routzahn KM, Waugh DS, et al. (2001) Crystallographic and modeling studies of RNase III suggest a mechanism for double-stranded RNA cleavage. Structure 9: 1225-1236.
- 11. Filippov V, Solovyev V, Filippova M, Gill SS (2000) A novel type of RNase III family proteins in eukaryotes. Gene 245: 213-221.
- 12. Schauer SE, Jacobsen SE, Meinke DW, Ray A (2002) DICER-LIKE1: blind men and elephants in Arabidopsis development. Trends Plant Sci 7: 487-491.
- Bouche N, Lauressergues D, Gasciolli V, Vaucheret H (2006) An antagonistic function for Arabidopsis DCL2 in development and a new function for DCL4 in generating viral siRNAs. Embo J 25: 3347-3356.
- 14. Henderson IR, Zhang X, Lu C, Johnson L, Meyers BC, et al. (2006) Dissecting Arabidopsis thaliana DICER function in small RNA processing, gene silencing and DNA methylation patterning. Nat Genet 38: 721-725.
- 15. Law JA, Jacobsen SE (2010) Establishing, maintaining and modifying DNA methylation patterns in plants and animals. Nat Rev Genet 11: 204-220.
- Comella P, Pontvianne F, Lahmy S, Vignols F, Barbezier N, et al. (2008) Characterization of a ribonuclease III-like protein required for cleavage of the pre-rRNA in the 3'ETS in Arabidopsis. Nucleic Acids Res 36: 1163-1175.
- 17. Portereiko MF, Sandaklie-Nikolova L, Lloyd A, Dever CA, Otsuga D, et al. (2006) NUCLEAR FUSION DEFECTIVE1 encodes the Arabidopsis RPL21M protein and is required for karyogamy during female gametophyte development and fertilization. Plant Physiol 141: 957-965.
- Watkins KP, Kroeger TS, Cooke AM, Williams-Carrier RE, Friso G, et al. (2007) A ribonuclease III domain protein functions in group II intron splicing in maize chloroplasts. Plant Cell 19: 2606-2623.
- 19. Marshallsay C, Kiss T, Filipowicz W (1990) Amplification of plant U3 and U6 snRNA gene sequences using primers specific for an upstream promoter element and conserved intragenic regions. Nucleic Acids Res 18: 3459-3466.
- 20. Deleris A, Gallego-Bartolome J, Bao J, Kasschau KD, Carrington JC, et al. (2006) Hierarchical Action and Inhibition of Plant Dicer-Like Proteins in Antiviral Defense. Science.
- Schott G, Mari-Ordonez A, Himber C, Alioua A, Voinnet O, et al. (2012) Differential effects of viral silencing suppressors on siRNA and miRNA loading support the existence of two distinct cellular pools of ARGONAUTE1. EMBO J 31: 2553-2565.
- 22. Ding SW, Voinnet O (2007) Antiviral immunity directed by small RNAs. Cell 130: 413-426.
- 23. Felix MA, Ashe A, Piffaretti J, Wu G, Nuez I, et al. (2011) Natural and experimental infection of Caenorhabditis nematodes by novel viruses related to nodaviruses. PLoS Biol 9: e1000586.

- 24. Li H, Li WX, Ding SW (2002) Induction and suppression of RNA silencing by an animal virus. Science 296: 1319-1321.
- 25. Mourrain P, Beclin C, Elmayan T, Feuerbach F, Godon C, et al. (2000) Arabidopsis SGS2 and SGS3 genes are required for posttranscriptional gene silencing and natural virus resistance. Cell 101: 533-542.
- 26. Wang XB, Jovel J, Udomporn P, Wang Y, Wu Q, et al. (2011) The 21-nucleotide, but not 22nucleotide, viral secondary small interfering RNAs direct potent antiviral defense by two cooperative argonautes in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Cell 23: 1625-1638.
- 27. Duan CG, Fang YY, Zhou BJ, Zhao JH, Hou WN, et al. (2012) Suppression of Arabidopsis ARGONAUTE1-mediated slicing, transgene-induced RNA silencing, and DNA methylation by distinct domains of the Cucumber mosaic virus 2b protein. Plant Cell 24: 259-274.
- 28. Azevedo J, Garcia D, Pontier D, Ohnesorge S, Yu A, et al. (2010) Argonaute quenching and global changes in Dicer homeostasis caused by a pathogen-encoded GW repeat protein. Genes Dev 24: 904-915.
- 29. Zhang X, Yuan YR, Pei Y, Lin SS, Tuschl T, et al. (2006) Cucumber mosaic virus-encoded 2b suppressor inhibits Arabidopsis Argonaute1 cleavage activity to counter plant defense. Genes Dev 20: 3255-3268.
- 30. Silhavy D, Molnar A, Lucioli A, Szittya G, Hornyik C, et al. (2002) A viral protein suppresses RNA silencing and binds silencing-generated, 21- to 25-nucleotide double-stranded RNAs. EMBO J 21: 3070-3080.
- 31. Cuellar WJ, Kreuze JF, Rajamaki ML, Cruzado KR, Untiveros M, et al. (2009) Elimination of antiviral defense by viral RNase III. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106: 10354-10358.
- 32. Chen J, Li WX, Xie D, Peng JR, Ding SW (2004) Viral virulence protein suppresses RNA silencing-mediated defense but upregulates the role of microRNA in host gene expression. Plant Cell 16: 1302-1313.
- Beclin C, Berthome R, Palauqui JC, Tepfer M, Vaucheret H (1998) Infection of tobacco or Arabidopsis plants by CMV counteracts systemic post-transcriptional silencing of nonviral (trans)genes. Virology 252: 313-317.
- 34. Gy I, Gasciolli V, Lauressergues D, Morel JB, Gombert J, et al. (2007) Arabidopsis FIERY1, XRN2, and XRN3 Are Endogenous RNA Silencing Suppressors. Plant Cell 19: 3451-3461.
- 35. Elmayan T, Balzergue S, Beon F, Bourdon V, Daubremet J, et al. (1998) Arabidopsis mutants impaired in cosuppression. Plant Cell 10: 1747-1758.
- 36. Mallory AC, Hinze A, Tucker MR, Bouche N, Gasciolli V, et al. (2009) Redundant and specific roles of the ARGONAUTE proteins AGO1 and ZLL in development and small RNA-directed gene silencing. PLoS Genet 5: e1000646.
- 37. Zytnicki M, Quesneville H (2011) S-MART, a software toolbox to aid RNA-Seq data analysis. PLoS One 6: e25988.
- 38. Langmead B, Trapnell C, Pop M, Salzberg SL (2009) Ultrafast and memory-efficient alignment of short DNA sequences to the human genome. Genome Biol 10: R25.
- 39. Burge SW, Daub J, Eberhardt R, Tate J, Barquist L, et al. (2013) Rfam 11.0: 10 years of RNA families. Nucleic Acids Res 41: D226-232.
- 40. Lindow M, Jacobsen A, Nygaard S, Mang Y, Krogh A (2007) Intragenomic matching reveals a huge potential for miRNA-mediated regulation in plants. PLoS Comput Biol 3: e238.
- 41. Mosher RA, Schwach F, Studholme D, Baulcombe DC (2008) PolIVb influences RNA-directed DNA methylation independently of its role in siRNA biogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105: 3145-3150.
- 42. Lu C, Kulkarni K, Souret FF, MuthuValliappan R, Tej SS, et al. (2006) MicroRNAs and other small RNAs enriched in the Arabidopsis RNA-dependent RNA polymerase-2 mutant. Genome Res 16: 1276-1288.



Figure S1: Normalized abundance and distribution of four TASiRNA loci.

Small RNA abundance was normalized to the total amount of conserved miRNAs. The distribution of tasiRNAs along the chromosome is shown on the left, and the size distribution is shown on the right. The sizes are indicated by different colors: 21-nt (blue), 22-nt (green), 23-nt (pink) and 24-nt (red).

Shamandi_supFig2



Figure S2: Normalized abundance and distribution of two EndoIR-siRNa loci.

Small RNA abundance was normalized to the total amount of conserved miRNAs. The distribution of endoIR-siRNAs along the chromosome is shown on the left, and the size distribution is shown on the right. The sizes are indicated by different colors: 21-nt (blue), 22-nt (green), 23-nt (pink) and 24-nt (red).

Shamandi_supFig3



Figure S3: Normalized abundance and distribution of four *PolIV/PolV-siRNA* loci.

Small RNA abundance was normalized to the total amount of conserved miRNAs. The distribution of PolIV/PolV-siRNAs along the chromosome is shown on the left, and the size distribution is shown on the right. The sizes are indicated by different colors: 21-nt (blue), 22-nt (green), 23-nt (pink) and 24-nt (red).

Shamandi_supFig4



Figure S4: Normalized abundance and distribution of four young MIRNA loci.

Small RNA abundance was normalized to the total amount of conserved miRNAs. The distribution of young miRNAs along the chromosome is shown on the left, and the size distribution is shown on the right. The sizes are indicated by different colors: 21-nt (blue), 22-nt (green), 23-nt (pink) and 24-nt (red).



Flag-RTL1



RTL1

RTL1-Flag

RTL1-Myc





Figure S5: Effect of tagged-RTL1 expression on development and PTGS.

A) Representative phenotypes of wild-type plants (Col) and transgenic plants expressing the indicated tagged-RTL1 constructs. B) Total RNA was extracted from two independent transformants expressing each of the indicated tagged-RTL1 constructs and hybridized with a TAS2 probe and with U6 as a loading control. C) The same constructs were introduced into line L1. Total RNA was extracted from two independent transformants expressing each of the indicated tagged-RTL1 constructs and hybridized with a GUS probe and with U6 as a loading control.



Figure S6: Mutagenesis of the RTL1 RNaseIII and DRB domains impairs RTL1 activity.

Nicotiana benthamiana leaves were infiltrated with a 35S::GU-UG construct (GU-UG) together with either a wild-type tagged 35S::RTL1-Myc construct (RTL1-Myc), a construct mutated in the RNaseIII domain (RTL1mR3-Myc) (A), or a construct with a deleted DRB domain (RTL1\DeltaDRB-Myc) (B), or a 35S::GFP control (GFP). Low molecular weight (LMW) RNAs were hybridized with a GUS probe and with U6 as a loading control. Proteins were extracted and hybridized with a Myc antibody. Ponceau staining serves as a loading control.



Figure S7: RNA gel blot analysis of artificial miRNAs against RTL1.

А

A) RNA gel blot detection of the artificial miRNA amiR-RTL1b in *Nicotiana benthamiana* leaves infiltrated with constructs under the control of the 35S (*35S::amiRb*) or UBQ10 (*UBQ10::amiRb*) promoter. Both constructs produced similar amounts of amiR-RTL1b. B) RNA gel blot detection of the artificial miRNAs amiR-RTL1a and amiR-RTL1b in a series of transgenic Arabidopsis carrying the *UBQ10::amiRa* or *UBQ10::amiRb* constructs.

Shamandi_supFig8

	1	10	20	30	40	50	60		70	80	9	90	100	11	.0	120	130
A.thaliana		+		MGSOLSNAT	DGKDNTKTI	(GSADPDOI MF	TESLEKT	NYKEKDK	SLLLKA	FTDASY	YDDKSI	SYEL	LELLGDST	LNMGTIYN	FIKLYF	KEAPGPI	TKLRAYNY
Cicer	ME	TQAHNKKQL	EDYLYLQTI	HALNIDDEEEH	IPPKQEE	TPPQ	LFEVEAT	KYEFKNK	LLEEA	FTHNTY	DTENNI	SYER	LEYIGDAY	LNHLITQE	HYFLYF	NLSPGAL	TRLRSANY
Cucumis			MEE	GKKRYDFLEG	DGSRGGGGE	AYNGSDSPAS	LDGTEAT	NYEFROK		FTDASY-	SPENCS	SFER	LE <mark>y</mark> ygdsy	LNFLITRE	QYFSN	NLSPGSL	TRLRAANY
Fragaria			MGAEPQE	TPIDMNEYKQS	LLE-TEPS1	LYTESISLPS	LDEVEET)	(DYKFK <mark>nk</mark>)LLEEA	FTHSSF	H-CS-I	SYER	L <mark>ey</mark> ygday	LNLLFSRE	HYFLYF	DHAPGKL	TRLRAANY
Populus	MESQQE	Esaaaaal	DMIKYLEI	TSESHKGTKES	SDDRSEVAS	GKQTTDWYTD	LDEVEETI	_HYKFKSK	(LLEEA	LTHASF	S-DQCI	SYER	LE <mark>y</mark> ygdsy	LNLLFTKE	QYFLYF	DLPPGPL	TRLRSANY
Yitis				MEPHPQKPR	EGETESCAL	SYESAESFPS	LEG <mark>ve</mark> qti	_GYSFTNK	RLLEEA	YTHASC	Q-KNQI	SYER	LEFMGD <mark>s</mark> y	LSLLITKE	QFFLYF	DLQPGRL	TRLRSANY
Solanum		MQRHGKETH	KYGAYLNR	FLPGILENEEF	ITKTTSQ	DDISQN	VEE <mark>VQ</mark> KI.	Egydfndr	ILLRQA	FTHTSY	H-KDCI	SYER	LEYYGDSY	LNFMITKE	HFSKY	DLPPGLL	SPLRAANY
Brachypodium			MDTPSPP	HHUNEMPREEL	SLEREEHPF	WEAPPMGPED	VHHVETL	GYEFGUK	SLYGEH	LTHGSY	YPYPPGD	TYER	LEYLGUGY	LTCLMSR	YFLIYK	SLPPGPL	TRLRHHNY
Uryza			MESPPHHI	HSHUEMPSIAN	EQHHQUHPH	GET ALLER OF A	VHHYESL	GYEFRUK		LINGER	1121KPG=1		LETLGUHY		YFLITU	INT DOCD	TRUCKHHNY
Sorghun Zaa	н	οτουτυροο		ПТРНҮР) Оссоморуорг	ESKHKHHP1	ЧЕТЬКАКОКО ССЛОВНСОКО	WTOTCOL	CYCETOK		L I HUSE I TUCCEI	TFPTKPGD [.] VUDNDDCD		LETLUUUY		VEDTVE	TLPPUPL	TOL DOONU
Conconcus	п	HTDHTAKHH	LKAKUNAK	Q55HNPPTHP	CQK-QUOM	'UE YPPNSHKU		UTCFIDK		LINUSF	THPNKPUD		LETLODOY			I DC I	LEL DOONU
CONSCIISUS	••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	*******	L. I	LTCCU	IT I II • 5/ 0.	•••••	S/ILLI	LC9+UDS;	LII+LLC+	••••	• 1 • L • L	U LNadit
	131	140	150	160	170	180	190	2)0	210	22	20	230	24	0	250	260
A.thaliana	DTEKI A	rvavnhoi y	SYL RHKKP	I FEOTI FEVE	AMEKYPI H	NGI I KYPKVI	ADTVEST	GATENDCI	-STFT	VUKVTK		пкнк	SHPHTEL N	FHCOKRNI	KI TSK-	NTHEFNO	TYCEHTED
Cicer	DTEKLA	RYAIKHELH	RYLRHKKP	LLEEOINEFT	AISEYPLHS	YGLTIAPKTL	ADIVESA		KSFEI	YCKYFK	RLLEPHID	NTIE	KHPIAELO	EYCOKNKY	DFKFI-	DLHEESK	SYEVEYND
Cucunis	DTEKLA	RVAITHGFH	RYLRHNKA	DLHOKIEEFGF	STEEYPLHS	NGMIKAPKYL	ADIVEST	lgayfad <mark>s</mark> i	-SIDT	YHKIFK	ELMEPLIT	KTHK	KHPHTELT	ENCOKRSL	KLEFR-	DRHEETK	EIEYLIEK
Fragaria	DTEKLA	RYALRHGFH	RYLRHKKR	LLEDQIQEFAF	R <mark>atydydlh</mark> s	NGLIDAPKDL	ADLVEST	EGAYFHDC	- <mark>SID</mark> I	YHKYFK	GLLEPIIT	P <mark>etiq</mark>	I <mark>hfntql</mark> h	EMCOKNNR	TL <mark>KYY</mark> -	DSHEEN k	IVDCF <mark>ID</mark> G
Populus	DTEKLA	RVAIKHKLH	RYLRHKMP	L <mark>leeqire</mark> fs(I <mark>atldyplh</mark> 9	NGLYETPKAL	ADIVEAA)	lgayf <mark>ids</mark> i	(F <mark>sid</mark> y	YHKIFK	DLLEPIIS) <mark>etl</mark> k'	VHPVTELY	EYCQKRNL	KYKFY-	DLHKEN I	IAFD¥F <mark>IDD</mark>
Vitis	DKEKLA	RYALKHGLH	RFLRHKKP	KI <mark>eqqiye</mark> fae	AIKEYPLHS	NGQIEYPKYL	ADYYEST]	Igayfydci	ICSYD T	YHKYFK	G <mark>llephi</mark> yi	PETLK	YHPYTELN	ERCQKRGL	KLEFK-	DSHORRO	DIDFY <mark>IED</mark>
Solanum	DTEKLA	Raavkhsfh	KYLQHGKP.	ILTRRIQSFI	VIPEYPLH S	HGLIDAPKHL	ADYYEST.	LGAYF I D <mark>s</mark>	SSIDT	Theyak.	ILLEPIIT	PEMLE	TNPYKKLY	ETCQKHKL	KYRYY-	DHASHDO	SFEYFYDD
Brachypodium	DKEKLR	RYAYEHGIH	RFLRHKAP	QLDGQIDDFI	ELCKYKYH	NGLLDAPKYL	SDIVESL	IGHIYLDS	FNQEY	YHRYFR		ETLG	KHPYSELL	EFCQKTRR	GLQFYK	OGHDKHL	KYDYLYDG
Uryza	UKEKLH	RYHYYHGLH			ELSHTPIH	NGLLUPPKYL	CDYVESL		FNUL	YHQYFQI			KHPYSELF		GYKLYK		
Sorgnum		RYNYUKULN DUOUUDCI Y		KLUUUIULFII	ENKKTPYH	NGLLDPPKYL	CDIVESU	LUNITADO ICOTVI DCI	FNULL	YHKYFK	ILAUPLIU		KHPYIELF	EFCQKIKK	INTER A CONTRACT OF A CONTRACT. CONTRACT OF A CONTRACTACT OF A CONTRACTACT OF A CONTRACT. OF A CONTRACT OF A CONTRACTACTACTACTAC	DENDKOL	
Consensus	DIENLO	RYNYNKULI Dugu balb	RELKANAL OVI OHKKO	VLUUQIUFFIC	ENKNIFYN:	DAULLUFFNYL	DIVES 1	COIX D ⁰	FUNC		I 1 #P T	LC I LUI	hPut ol	EFCQKINK	11111111111111111111111111111111111111	D U a	NYQYLIDU
CONSCIISUS	DELKLI	IVALIA*LIŠTU		+LC+4T+CI +			au: TLJ.	Luii : /6 - DS	••••	WWK IT K	• • • • • • • • • • •		+III VCCL+	L.CUN	K. KI V.	U. M. C.	••••
	261	270	280	290	300	310	320	3	30 3	36 							
A.thaliana	KFYGCG	Hhpy <mark>kketa</mark>	R <mark>nfaakna</mark>	I <mark>d</mark> nfakffgdl		•	•			•							
Cicer	KFYARG	SHGS <mark>kkk-</mark> A	QSRAAKSA	DLI													
Cucumis	QY <mark>YG</mark> KG	S <mark>YR-KKLI</mark> A	QNRAAKNA	L <mark>e</mark> nldtffpqf	NQPCQPM												
Fragaria	EFYGRG	TYNLRKEYA	qnraakda	L <mark>DNKQKHMYL</mark> F	eketadeqe	EESPTSQLSE	EESEYNK)P									
Populus	QFYGRG	TYGLKKEIA	HNRAAKNA	NNIRKILS	EKDCSDYDE	QNYRYEN											
Yitis	THUR	EYPLKKUTH			ENPILMIKL	.RSKNKKYLKF	YYG										
Solanum Dlun dlum				TNEYIGALSYU	NTLECCCOL	ו חו מרמערו											
Bracnypodium		TVOOVVETO	UNDOOLOO	LUKLKETLLQ	UTEDMCOEI	KLULHENYEL ICENENIZTRI T	'ee										
Socobum	FI VACA	TYGPKKETA	ONBOOKOO	DKI KETI GOT	OSESASAN	SCALAKTOLI	GTI KCO										
Joi gilun Zea	FVVGSA	TYGPKKETA	ONRAAKNA	NKI KNTHGHI	OSESASVO	SFALDELET	OSESASVI	ivsfai dei	DTAGT	1 N							
Consensus	.fvg.g	.ykKeiA	qnrAAk.A	1#		*********	******	**									

Figure S8: Alignment of plant RTL1 amino acid sequences.

Alignment of RTL1 amino acids sequences from Arabidopsis thaliana (<u>NP_680697.4</u>), Brachypodium distachyon (<u>XP_003560753.1</u>), Cicer arietinum (<u>XP_004502137.1</u>), Cucumis sativus (<u>XP_004159229.1</u>), Fragaria vesca (<u>XP_004287969.1</u>), Oryza sativa (<u>NP_001057601.1</u>), Populus trichocarpa (<u>XP_002301611.1</u>), Solanum lycopersicum (<u>XP_004243532.1</u>), Sorghum bicolor (<u>XP_002444209.1</u>), Vitis vinifera (<u>XP_002270948.2</u>), Zea mays (<u>ACG34313.1</u>).

Supplemental Table 1. Oligonucleotide sequences

Name	DNA Sequence				
Oligonucleotides used for RT and PCR amplification					
attB1RTL1F	GGGGACAAGTTTGTACAAAAAAGCAGGCTTGATGGGATCGCAACTCTCAAA				
attB2RTL1R	GGGGACCACTTTGTACAAGAAAGCTGGGTAAAGGTCTCCGAAAAATTTAGC				
attB1RTL2F	GGGGACAAGTTTGTACAAAAAAGCAGGCTTGATGGATCACTCTATCTCACC				
attB2RTL2R	GGGGACCACTTTGTACAAGAAAGCTGGGTAGAGATAATGAGATTTTCTCAAGG				
attB2RTL1-R3-R	GGGGACCACTTTGTACAAGAAAGCTGGGTAGTCTAAATGTATTATTGGCTCCAAC				
RTL1-6	GTTCTGTCATTGGATGGCTC				
RTL1-7	CCAAAACCATCGGATCAGCGG				
RTL1m2-F	GAATCGTACGCACTCCTAGAACTTTTAGGAGCTTCGATCC				
RTL1m2-R	GGATCGAAGCTCCTAAAAGTTCTAGGAGTGCGTACGATTC				
5rtl1NdeI	CATATGAACAAGACACAAACAC				
3rtl1XhoI	CTCGAGAAGGTCTCCGAAAAATTTAGC				
IR71fwd1	AAATGACCGCTACACTGCTTATCT				
IR71rev1	TCTCTCGTCAATGGACAATGAATC				
IR71fwd2	TAGGAAAGCTCGAACCCTTGG				
IR71rev2	TGAATGGTAATGATTTGTCTC				
IR71rt	GATATGAGGTGCTTTGAATGG				
U3fwd	ACGGACCTTACTTGAACAGGATCTG				
U3rt	CTGTCAGACCGCCGTGCGA				
Oligonucleotides used as probes for small RNA detection					
miR159	TAGAGCTCCCTTCAATCCAAA				
miR160	TGGCATACAGGGAGCCAGGCA				
miR173	GTGATTTCTCTCTGCAAGCGAA				
miR167	TAGATCATGCTGGCAGCTTCA				
miR164	TGCACGTGCCCTGCTTCTCCA				
miR156	GTGCTCACTCTTCTGTCA				
miR839	GGGAACGATGAAAGGTTGGTA				
amiR-RTL1a	AAGAGTGAATCGTACGAACTA				
amiR-RTL1b	CGGGTCCCTGTAAATCACCAA				
TAS1	TACGCTATGTTGGACTTAGAA				
TAS2	GTGCTTCACAATGCTCTTTC				
siR1003	ATGCCAAGTTTGGCCTCACGGTCT				
siR02	GTTGACCAGTCCGCCAGCCGAT				
IR71	TCCTTTCCCTTTCCCTTTCTAC				
U6	TTGCGTGTCATCCTTGCGCAGG				

3.1.2 - Supplementary Results

3.1.2.1 - RTL1 exceptionally helps producing siRNAs

Although, siRNAs are generally and drastically more infrequent in *35S::RTL1* plants, siRNAs are sometimes differently distributed along small RNA-generating loci or are found in different sizes compared to wild-type controls. This suggests that long dsRNA precursor molecules are not always degraded in *35S::RTL1* plants. Rather, long dsRNA precursor molecules could sometimes be processed by a different DCL after an initial processing by RTL1. Such an example is found at the At3g18145 locus (Figure 3.1.A). In wild-type plants, the 3'UTR of the *At3g18145* mRNA is predicted to fold into a long hairpin (Figure 3.1.B), and gives rise to very low amounts of 21-nt miR3440b undetectable by RNA gel blot (Figures 3.1.C, 3.1.D and 3.2.A).

The fact that this miRNA accumulates at similar level in wild-type plants and in the *dcl2 dcl3 dcl4* triple mutant (Figures 3.1.C and 3.1.D) indicates that this hairpin is processed by DCL1. However, the low abundance of miR3440b and the fact that DCL1 normally processes imperfectly paired miRNA precursors suggests that the long near perfectly paired 3'UTR of the *At3g18145* mRNA is likely not an efficient substrate of DCL1.

In contrast to wild-type plants, *35S::RTL1* plants accumulate a high amount of a unique 24-nt At3g18145 siRNA molecule (Figures 3.1.C and 3.1.D), which is detectable by RNA gel blot (Figure 3.1.E). This result suggests that RTL1 processes the 3'UTR of the At3g18145 mRNA, thus generating a molecule that can be a substrate for another DCL, which is likely DCL3 given that the siRNA is 24-nt in length. This hypothesis is supported by the fact that this 24-nt siRNA accumulates in *35S::RTL1* plants, but not in the dcl2 dcl3 dcl4 triple mutant transformed with the *35S::RTL1* construct (Figure 3.2.A).

Moreover, *N. benthamiana* leaves infiltrated with 35S::At3g18145 + 35S::RTL1-Myc accumulated a large amount of this 24-nt siRNA (Figure 3.2.A). Consistent with its dependence on RTL1 overexpression, this 24-nt siRNA is not detected in 35S::GU-UG + 35S::GFP infiltrated *N. benthamiana* leaves, and only low amounts of 21-and 24-nt siRNAs are detected in *N. benthamiana* leaves infiltrated with 35S::At3g18145 + 35S::GFP (Figure 3.2.B). This can be explained by the action of DCL4 and DCL3, which can process every transiently expressed 35S-driven transgene, into 21- and 24-nt siRNA respectively. *N. benthamiana* leaves infiltrated with 35S::At3g18145 + 35S::RTL1mR3 accumulated less 21-nt siRNA and 24-nt siRNAs than leaves infiltrated with 35S::At3g18145 + 35S::RTL1mR3 accumulated less 21-nt siRNA and 24-nt siRNAs than leaves infiltrated with 35S::At3g18145 + 35S::GFP, suggesting that the RTL1mR3 protein, which lacks RNaseIII activity, can compete with DCL4 and DCL3, most probably by the binding of its DRB domain to At3g18145 dsRNA, thus limiting the production of siRNA by these DCLs.



Fig. 3.1 35S::RTL1 plants accumulate a 24-nt siRNA from the 3'UTR of At3g18145

A) TAIR annotation of the At3g18145 locus

B) Predicted hairpin structure of the At3g18145 3' UTR. Nucleotides of the sequence corresponding to the 24-nt siRNA are indicated in blue. Nucleotides of the sequence corresponding to the 21-nt miRNA 3440b are circled in red.

C) Chromosomal distribution of small RNAs in Col, 35S::RTL1 and dcl2 dcl3 dcl4.

D) Size distribution of small RNAs in Col, *35S::RTL1* and *dcl2 dcl3 dcl4*.


Fig 3.2: RTL1 promotes the accumulation of 24-nt siRNA from At3g18145.

A) Total RNA was extracted from flowers of wild-type Col, transgenic Col carrying the 35S::RTL1 construct, or transgenic triple mutant *dcl2 dcl3 dcl4* (*dcl234*) carrying the 35S::RTL1 construct. RNA gel blots were hybridized with an oligo probe corresponding to the At3g18145 3'UTR-derived 24-nt siRNA identified in Arabidopsis 35S::RTL1 plants. U6 serves as a loading control.

B) *N.benthamiana* leaves were infiltrated with the *35S::At3g1814535* construct + *35S::RTL1-Myc* or *35S::RTL1mR3-Myc* or *35S::GFP* as a control. RNA gel blots were hybridized with an oligo probe corresponding to the At3g18145 3'UTR-derived 24-nt siRNA identified in Arabidopsis *35S::RTL1* plants. U6 serves as a loading control.

3.1.2.2– RTL1 over expression doesn't seem to affect the susceptibility of plants to bacterial infections

Different types of small RNAs have been reported to be up or down regulated during bacterial infections and to play roles in plant immunity responses (Fahlgren et al., 2007; Katiyar-Agarwal et al., 2006; Navarro et al., 2008). Considering the impact of RTL1 overexpression on the siRNA population, we wondered if RTL1 could affect plant susceptibility during bacterial infections. To test this idea, leaves of Arabidopsis Col and *35S::RTL1-Flag* were infiltrated with *Pseudomonas syringe* DC3000 AvrRpm1or *Edwina amylovora* CFBP1430.

Grinded infected leaves were used for serial dilutions, followed by plating on an LB medium and counting of the colonies. For plants, which were inoculated with *P.syringe* DC3000 AvrRpm1, in both Col and *35S::RTL1-Flag*, the number of colonies at T0 (just after infiltration) was similar (Fig 3.3.A), suggesting that the quality of infiltration in both was identical. Moreover the number of colonies 3 days after infiltration for both Col and *35S::RTL1*, was lower than T0; showing that the plant's initial immune system was activated due to bacterial infection. Finally, there was no significant differences between the number of the colonies at 3 days after infiltrations between Col and *35S::RTL1-Flag* which means the overexpression of RTL1 in Arabidopsis plants has no significant impact on plants susceptibilities to *P. syringe* (Fig.3.3.A).

For plants infiltrated with *E. solanacearum*, the same results were obtained. No significant change between Col and *35S::RTL1-Flag*, was observed (Fig. 3.3.B). Altogether it seems that RTL1 doesn't interfere with plant responses to bacterial infections, at least for the two bacteria tested.

3.1.2.3 - Attempts to down-regulate RTL1 using artificial miRNAs

Because *rtl1* null alleles could not be found in publicly available libraries, we decided to use artificial miRNAs to specifically target *RTL1* mRNA. Two different constructs were generated to produce amiR-RTL1a and amiR-RTL1b using the constitutive pUBQ10 promoter. At first, the accumulation of both amiR-RTL1a and amiR-RTL1b was confirmed by northern blot analysis in *N.benthamiana* agroinfiltrated leaves (Fig. 3.4.A & 3.4.B).

Because RTL1 is only very weakly expressed in roots, we anticipated that it would be difficult to monitor a decrease in *RTL1* mRNA accumulation in roots of transgenic Arabidopsis expressing these amiRs. Thus, we first tested if these amiRs were capable of suppressing the accumulation of *RTL1* mRNA in a transient assay. For this purpose, we co-infiltrated 35S::GU-UG + 35S::RTL1 + pUBQ10::amiR-RTL1a or pUBQ10::amiR-RTL1b. The results showed that, even though we were able to detect the accumulation of amiR-RTL1a and amiR-RTL1b, neither of them was able to inhibit the action of RTL1 on the production of GU siRNAs (Fig. 3.4.C). In a second experiment, we transformed





Fig. 3.3 Effect of RTL1 overexpression on bacterial infection.

8

6

4

A) Leaves of wild-type Arabidopsis control (Col) and transgenic 35S::RTL1-Flag plants were infiltrated with *Pseudomonas syringae* DC3000 AvrRpm1. The average number of bacterial colonies growing on LB mediums from 30 µl of 10^{-3} dilutions of grinded individual leaves suspended in water was determined at T0 (just after infiltration) or three days after infiltration. **B)** Leaves of wild-type Arabidopsis control (Col) and transgenic 35S::RTL1-Flag plants were infiltrated with *Erwina amylovora* CFBP1430. The average number of bacterial colonies growing on LB mediums from 30 µl of 10^{-4} dilutions of grinded individual leaves suspended in water was determined at T0 (just after infiltration) or one day after infiltration.

T0

1 day after infiltration



Fig. 3.4: Effect of artificial miRNA directed against RTL1.

A) *N.benthamiana* leaves were infiltrated with the *pUBQ10::amiR-RTL1a* or *pUBQ10::amiR-RTL1b* construct. RNA gel blots were hybridized with oligo probes complementary to *amiR-RTL1a* or *amiR-RTL1b*. U6 serves as a loading control.

B) *N.benthamiana* leaves were infiltrated with the 35S::GU-UG construct + pUBQ10::amiR-RTL1a or pUBQ10::amiR-RTL1b construct or 35S::GFP as a control. RNA gel blots were hybridized with a GU probe. U6 serves as a loading control.

C) Phenotypes of Arabidopsis transformants carrying the 35S::RTL1-Myc construct alone or 35S::RTL1-Myc + pUBQ10::amiR-RTL1a or pUBQ10::amiR-RTL1b.

Arabidopsis plants with 35S::RTL1-Myc + pUBQ10::amiR-RTL1a or pUBQ10::amiR-RTL1b. All transformants exhibited the typical zyppy phenotype of 35S::RTL1-Myc plants (Fig. 3.4.D), suggesting that amiR-RTL1a and amiR-RTL1b are unable to target RTL1 mRNA, at least when produced from the 35S promoter. Indeed, it is possible that the amiR-RTL1a and amiR-RTL1b are unable to suppress RTL1 simply because the 35S promoter driving RTL1 is stronger than the pUBQ10 promoter driving the amiR-RTL1 constructs.

To determine if amiR-RTL1a or amiR-RTL1b could target the endogenous *RTL1* mRNA when expressed at physiological level, we transformed the *L1* and *L2* lines with the *pUBQ10::amiR-RTL1a* and *pUBQ10::amiR-RTL1b* constructs. The *L1* and *L2* lines each carry a *35S::GUS* reporter transgene that undergoes PTGS with 100% efficiency (Elmayan et al., 1998). However, PTGS completely suppresses *GUS* mRNA accumulation in leaves of these lines, but not in roots (Elmayan and Vaucheret, unpublished data), suggesting that the expression of RTL1 in roots could contribute to partially impairing PTGS in this tissue. Therefore, we anticipated that the expression of amiR-RTL1a or amiR-RTL1b under the pUBQ10 promoter could down-regulate *RTL1* mRNA accumulation and thus enhance PTGS efficiency in roots to the level observed in leaves. *L1* and *L2* transformants accumulating the highest levels of amiR-RTL1a or amiR-RTL1b (Figure 3.5) were grown in hydroponic conditions, and GUS enzymatic activity was measured in roots (Figure 3.6.A & 3.6.B). One *L1/pUBQ10::amiR-RTL1b*, one *L2/pUBQ10::amiR-RTL1a* and one *L2/pUBQ10::amiR-RTL1b* plants exhibited a level of GUS enzymatic activity significantly lower than that observed in *L1* and *L2* controls, suggesting that these lines could have reduced RTL1 activity.

Homozygous siblings will be identified to confirm this result. If it is confirmed, these plants will be used to determine if RTL1 down-regulation affects virus-sensitivity in the opposite way to RTL1 overexpression.

3.2 – RTL2

RTL2 contains one RNaseIII domain and two DRB domains and is ubiquitously expressed. RTL2 is able to cleave the 3'External Transcribed Spacer (EST) of ribosomal 45S-pre-rRNA *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Comella et al., 2008). Another in vitro assay indicates that AtRTL2 recognizes and cleaves dsRNA specifically and can cleave higher-order structures of ssRNAs and also causes the high accumulation of 21 nt- siRNAs in-vivo (Kiyota et al., 2011).

Neither *rtl2* mutants nor 35S::*RTL2* plants exhibit consistent developmental defects under standard greenhouse growth conditions, and their small RNA profile is comparable to that of the wild-type control. Indeed, the 23-24-nt reads represented 90% of the small RNA reads, and the distribution of unique siRNA reads along the five chromosomes is similar to that of wild-type plants, suggesting that



Fig. 3.5 Detection of amiR-RTL1a and amiR-RTL1b in L1 and L2 transformants.

Total RNA was extracted from flowers of individual *L1* and *L2* transformants carrying the *pUBQ10::amiR-RTL1a* or *pUBQ10::amiR-RTL1b* construct. RNA gel blots were hybridized with oligo probes complementary to amiR-RTL1a or amiR-RTL1b. U6 serves as a loading control.



Fig. 3.6 GUS activity in roots of plants expressing amiR-RTL1a or amiR-RTL1b

A) *L1* control plants and transformants.

B) *L2* control plants and transformants.

The * indicates plants with a significantly lower level of GUS activity than the L1 or L2 control.

RTL2 has no major contribution to the small RNA repertoire (see article). Nevertheless, we further looked at RTL2's action using in vivo approaches. The results obtained are detailed bellow.

3.2.1 - RTL2 enhances the accumulation of 21- and 24-nt siRNAs

The effect of RTL2 overexpression on transgene-derived siRNAs was tested using *N. benthamiana* Agroinfiltration. The *35S::GU-UG* transgene expressing a inverted repeat hairpin RNA consisting of the 5' part of the GUS reporter sequence (GU) was introduced transiently into *N. benthamiana* leaves together with either a *35S::RTL2* or a *35S::GFP* control. *35S::GU-UG* + *35S::RTL2* infiltrated leaves accumulated higher levels of 21- and 24-nt GU siRNAs compared with *35S::GU-UG* + *35S::GFP* infiltrated leaves (Fig. 3.7.A), indicating that RTL2 enhance the accumulation of transgene siRNAs deriving from an inverted repeat

This enhancing activity however, could only be observed when the RTL2 construct is without any additional tag proteins and has its original stop codon. Indeed, none of the combinations of RTL2, fused to Myc or Flag tag proteins at its N- or C-terminal affected the level of GU siRNA accumulation (Fig. 3.7.B). Moreover, western blot analysis revealed that an RTL2-Myc fusion protein is stable whereas the addition of a Myc tag at the N-terminus of RTL2 destabilizes the protein (Fig.3.7.C). Therefore, RTL2 enzymatic activity or protein stability can easily be perturbed by the presence of tags.

3.2.2 – Mutations in the RTL2 RNaseIII domain mostly affect the accumulation of 24-nt siRNAs

To determine if an intact RNaseIII domain is required for RTL2 to enhance siRNA accumulation, the conserved catalytic site aminoacids E89 and D96 were both mutagenized to alanine (we refer to this transgene as RTL2mR3). Then, *N. benthamiana* leaves were co-infiltrated with *35S::GU-UG* and either *35S::RTL2* or *35S::RTL2mR3*. *35S::GU-UG* + *35S::RTL2mR3* infiltrated leaves accumulated lower levels of 24-nt GU siRNAs but almost the same level of 21-nt GU siRNAs compared with *35S::GU-UG* + *35S::RTL2* infiltrated leaves. The level of 24-nt GU siRNA was similar to *35S::GU-UG* + *35S::GU-UG* + *35S::GFP* control (Fig. 3.7.A), suggesting that the wild-type RNaseIII domain of RTL2 is required for RTL2 action on 24-nt siRNA but not on 21-nt. Although tagged RTL2 proteins appears inactive, western blot analyses were performed on *N.benthamiana* leaves infiltrated with *35S::RTL2-Myc* and *35S::RTL2mR3-Myc* to determine the effect of the RNaseIII mutations on protein stability. Results indicate that the RNaseIII mutations reduce protein stability (Fig.3.7.C), similar to what has been observed with RTL1. Whether the reduced amount of protein is responsible for the reduced amount of 24-nt remains to be determined.



Fig.3.7 Effect of wild-type, mutant or tagged RTL2 on siRNA accumulation.

A) *N.benthamiana* leaves were infiltrated with the *35S::GU-UG* construct + *35S::RTL2* or *35S::RTL2mR3* or *35S::GFP* as a control. RNA gel blots were hybridized with a GU probe. U6 serves as a loading control.

B) *N.benthamiana* leaves were infiltrated with the *35S::GU-UG* construct + the indicated tagged *35S::RTL2* constructs or *35S::GFP* as a control. RNA gel blots were hybridized with a GU probe. U6 serves as a loading control.

C) *N.benthamiana* leaves were infiltrated with the 35S::GU-UG construct + the indicated tagged 35S::RTL2 constructs or 35S::GFP as a control. Western blots were hybridized with a Myc probe. Ponceau staining serves as a loading control.

3.2.3 - The second DRB domain is required for RTL2 activity

To determine if RTL2 activity requires the presence of functional DRB domains, a construct lacking the most C-terminal DRB domain (Δ DRB) was generated. *N. benthamiana* leaves infiltrated with 35S::GU-UG + 35S::RTL2- Δ DRB accumulated lower level of 21- and 24-nt GU siRNAs, compared with 35S::GU-UG + 35S::RTL2, suggesting that the second DRB domain of RTL2 is required for RTL2 action on both 21- and 24-nt siRNA (Fig.3.8.A). Again, although tagged RTL2 proteins appears inactive, western blot analyses were performed on *N.benthamiana* leaves infiltrated with 35S::RTL2- Δ DRB-Myc to determine the effect of the deletion of the second DRB domain on protein stability. Western blot analysis of *N.benthamiana* leaves infiltrated with 35S::RTL2-Myc or 35S::RTL2- Δ DRB-Myc revealed that the deletion of RTL2 C-terminal DRB domain has no effect on protein levels (Fig.3.8.B), indicating that the second DRB domain is required for RTL2 activity.

3.3 – Epistatic relationship between RTL1 and RTL2

Considering the opposite effects of 35S::RTL1 and 35S::RTL2 on accumulation of GU siRNAs, we analyzed the epistatic relationship between RTL2 and RTL1 by co-infiltrating *N. benthamiana* leaves with 35S::GU-UG + 35S::RTL1 + 35S::RTL2 (Fig. 3.9.A). The level of accumulation of GU siRNA was compared with those of 35S::GU-UG + 35S::GFP, 35S::GU-UG + 35S::RTL1 + 35S::GFP and 35S::GU-UG + 35S::RTL2 + 35S::GFP. The results showed that, for 35S::GU-UG + 35S::RTL1 + 35S::RTL1 + 35S::RTL2 there was no accumulation of GU siRNA, similar to 35S::GU-UG + 35S::RTL1 + 35S::RTL1 + 35S::GFP. We also infiltrated different ratios of 35S::RTL1 and/or 35S::RTL2. Irrespective of the different ratios of 35S::RTL1 to 35S::RTL2, 35S::RTL1 was found to still be able to inhibit the accumulation of GU siRNA.

RTL1 over expression can exceptionally result in an over-accumulation of siRNAs at specific loci (for example At3g18145). To confirm the epistatic effect of RTL1 over RTL2 on endogenous targets, we coinfiltrated *N.benthamiana* leaves with 35S::At3g18145 + 35S::GFP, 35S::At3g18145 + 35S::RTL1 + 35S::GFP, 35S::At3g18145 + 35S::RTL1 + 35S::RTL2 + 35S::GFP, 35S::At3g18145 + 35S::RTL1 + 35S::RTL2 and 35S::At3g18145 + 35S::RTL1 + 35S::RTL2 + 35S::RTL1 + 35S::RTL2 + 35S::RTL1 + 35S::RTL1 + 35S::RTL2 + 35S::RTL2 + 35S::RTL1 + 35S::RTL1 + 35S::RTL1 + 35S::RTL2 + 35S::RTL2 + 35S::RTL2 + 35S::RTL1 + 35S::RTL1 + 35S::RTL1 + 35S::RTL2 + 35S::RTL3 + 35S::RTL3 + 35S::RTL3 + 35S::RTL2 + 35S::RTL3 +



Fig 3.8 Effect of the deletion of the second DRB domain of RTL2

A) *N.benthamiana* leaves were infiltrated with the 35S::GU-UG construct + 35S::RTL2 or $35S::RTL2\Delta DRB$ or 35S::GFP as a control. RNA gel blots were hybridized with a GU probe. U6 serves as a loading control.

B) *N.benthamiana* leaves were infiltrated with the 35S::GU-UG construct + 35S::RTL2-Myc or 35S::RTL2ADRB-Myc or 35S::GFP as a control. Western blots were hybridized with a Myc probe. Ponceau staining serves as a loading control.

82



Fig 3.9 Epistatic relationship between RTL1 and RTL2

A) *N.benthamiana* leaves were infiltrated with the *35S::GU-UG* construct + *35S::RTL1, 35S:: RTL2* or both at the indicated ratio. RNA gel blots were hybridized with a GU probe. U6 serves as a loading control.

B) *N.benthamiana* leaves were infiltrated with the *35S::At3g18145* construct + *35S::RTL1*, *35S::RTL2* or both at the indicated ratio. RNA gel blots were hybridized with an oligo probe corresponding to the At3g18145 3'UTR-derived 24-nt siRNA detected in Arabidopsis *35S::RTL1* plants. U6 serves as a loading control.

83

accumulation for coinfiltration of 35S::At3g18145 + 35S::RTL1 + 35S::RTL2mR3, was similar to those of 35S::At3g18145 + 35S::RTL1 + 35S::GFP, confirming that RTL2 activity requires an active RNase III domain.

4-Discussion

4.1 - RTL1

The following reflections are based on the functional studies of two RNase III like enzymes, RTL1 and RTL2. Based on its protein structure RTL1 can be considered as a ClassI RNaseIII member. Its function however is very different from the classical RNA processing role of other members of the RNaseIII family. In fact our results revealed that in *35S::RTL1* plants, there is no accumulation of siRNAs which are usually processed by DCL2, DCL3 or DCL4.

As the overexpression of RTL1 seems to be ineffective on the miRNA population, which is the products of DCL1 processing on imperfectly-paired short hairpins, it is likely that RTL1 can only affect perfectly paired long dsRNA precursors. However RTL1 can interfere with classical DCL1 precursors in specific cases. For example, in wild-type plants, the 3'UTR of the At3g18145 mRNA folds into a long hairpin, and gives rise to very low amounts of 21-nt miR3440b. In contrast, *35S::RTL1* plants accumulate a high amount of a unique 24-nt siRNA molecule, which suggests that RTL1 somehow processes the 3'UTR of the At3g18145 mRNA, thus generating a molecule that can be a substrate for another DCL, which is likely to be DCL3 given that the siRNA is 24-nt in length. Therefore it seems that RNA cleavage activity is more than structure-specific and can also be sequence specific in some rare examples.

Proteins similar to RTL1 can be found in many other plant species. This would seem to prove the importance of RTL1 activity in plants. However under laboratory controlled growth conditions, RTL1 is only very poorly expressed in Arabidopsis roots (Comella et al., 2008). To determine if endogenous RTL1 expression in roots can actually down-regulate siRNA accumulation in this tissue, we compared small RNA sequence level between wild type roots and flowers. The ratio between siRNA and miRNA was lower in roots (351415/175233=2.0) compared with flowers (11416165/1797097=6.4), which is consistent with the RTL1 siRNA suppressing activity. However, the analysis of *rtl1* mutants will be necessary to sustain this hypothesis.

We also showed that RTL1 could interfere with the accumulation of exogenous siRNAs, such as transgene-derived siRNAs. Therefore RTL1 appears as a general suppressor of plant siRNA pathways. We then wondered if RTL1 could also suppress the accumulation of virus-derived siRNAs and affect the plant anti-viral PTGS defense mechanism.

In fact, PTGS is known to act as an antiviral mechanism in plants, flies and worms. In plants DCL2 and DCL4 are able to process viral dsRNA into siRNAs, which are loaded onto AGO1 or AGO2 to target viral RNAs. However, viruses are also able to interfere with this mechanism by producing viral suppressers of RNA silencing (VSRs). VSRs can interact with PTGS in different steps and they also exhibit different strengths in blocking plant anti viral PTGS defense. For example, the VSR activity of

TYMV p69 is weaker than of CMV 2b, which is weaker that TCV P38. This causes the mild symptoms in TYMV-infected Arabidopsis, intermediate symptoms in CMV-infected and severe symptoms in TCV-infected Arabidopsis.

Our results showed that RTL1 has the potential to counteract the plant antiviral PTGS defense by cleaving dsRNA precursors of viral siRNAs and preventing the loading of virus-derived siRNAs into AGO proteins. Indeed, *35S::RTL1* plants exhibit hyper-susceptibility to infection by TYMV and lack TYMV-derived siRNAs. On the other hand, *35S::RTL1* plants that were infected with TCV, TVCV or CMV, accumulated virus-derived siRNAs suggesting that RTL1 activity is inhibited by these viruses.

In addition infection caused by TCV, TVC and CMV cause similar symptoms on wild-type and *35S::RTL1* plants. It is then possible that the successful infection by these viruses relies on the inhibition of plant antiviral PTGS defense by these viruses and not to RTL1 action.

The fact that TCV, TVCV and CMV strongly inhibit RTL1 activity suggests that the inhibition of RTL1 by certain viruses is essential for other reasons. For example, it may be necessary for certain viruses to inhibit RTL1 activity if RTL1 cleaves their dsRNA replication intermediates, which would impair infection early on. Thus, it is reasonable to assume that viruses that are sensitive to RTL1 at some step(s) of their replication have evolved strategies to inhibit or counteract RTL1 activity. Interestingly, inhibition of antiviral RTL1 activity appears to rely on VSR proteins that also inhibit antiviral plant PTGS defenses. Viral-mediated suppression of RTL1 also could be a strategy to prolong the life of their host plant so that a successful infection can be established before the plant succumbs to death. It will be interesting to determine if viruses also suppress the activity of other known endogenous silencing suppressors.

Our study has revealed a novel plant protein involved in plant-virus interactions. In the case of TYMV, RTL1 serves as an endogenous suppressor of the PTGS defense pathway that may help viruses to infect plants, most likely by degrading dsRNA precursors of virus-derived siRNAs. In fact RTL1 is not the only example of proteins that counteract their antiviral PTGS defense. For example, XRN4 encodes a 5'->3' exoribonuclease that likely degrades viral substrates of PTGS. Indeed, xrn4 mutants exhibit hyper-resistance to virus infection, indicating that XRN4 counteracts PTGS in wild-type plants (Gy et al., 2007).

However, the inhibition of RTL1 activity by TCV, TVCV and CMV suggests that RTL1 may also serve as an actor of the cellular defenses that help plants to fight against viruses, for example by degrading dsRNA intermediates of virus replication. Further experiments will be required to address the precise action of RTL1 towards each virus.

4.2 - RTL2

RTL2 has one RNaseIII and two DRB domains, and thus resemble the atypical Dicer protein from *S.castelli*. RTL2 is found in both dicotyledons and monocotyledonous suggesting evolutionary and functional conservation (Fig. 4.1). AtRTL2 is capable of dimerization (Comella et al., 2008). Most probably, RTL2 homodimers cleave RNAs, as do bacterial RNaseIII and yeast Rtn1 proteins.

Although RTL2 transcripts are detectable in all tissues, no protein is detected in dry seeds. In fact the AtRTL2 protein level decreases during seed formation and becomes detectable after seed imbibition (Comella et al., 2008).

We showed an enhancing effect of RTL2 on the accumulation of exogenous siRNAs. This activity requires a functional RNaseIII domain and a functional second DRB domain.

RTL2 also enhances the accumulation of siRNAs derived from At3g18145, suggesting a possible requirement of RTL2 before DCL action. In animals, Drosha is involved in the process of pri-miRNA to pre-miRNA precursors. Therefore it is possible that, in plants, RTL2 can act in the same way by facilitating the action of DCLs on certain substrates. However, the number of RTL2 substrates likely is limited because *rtl2* mutants do not exhibit morphological defects.

Further in depth studies will be required to complete our understanding of the functional mechanisms of RTL2 in plants.

	1	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100	110	120	130
A.thaliana	MDHSI	SPEYNFPAI	TRCSLSNSLP		ADIHRFYNSL	SPSAPSYP-	VSSEMESHE	RVEKILNYKF9		THTSCTDFP-	SYERLEFIG	SAIGLAISN	LYLTYPSLE	PHOLSLLR
H, Lyrata Ricinus	UDH213	SPETNEPHI	TRUTLSNSLP	HLPPSHPPPP	HUTAKL122L	SPSHPSYP-	MEASSSTS	HLEKILNIKFR Rvekti nyter	(NKOLVEFAL)	THISCIDEP-	-STERLEFYGU -NYORI FFTGD	ISHIGLAISN IAALGLAISNI	IVFI AYPDI D	PHULSLLK
Vitis				MFLEML	ALPFNYKDKI	EPEFFSYP-	-SKSMERSYE	VERIINYKF	NKKLLEEAL	THSSYTDSA-	SYQRLEFIGD	AALGCALSN	YFLAYPSLD	PGQLSLIR
Cucumis							MESSYI			THPSYSASA-	SYERLEFYGD	SAIGLAYTN	FFLASPHLH	IQGHLSLLR
Given Circer							MESSULE	EVENILKTKFM Rventtgyter	(NKKLLEEHL (NKKLLEEHL	THSSPLUGY THSSYPFSV.	SYERI FELGO	IPYLSENISNI IAVI GLATSNI	I FLAYTSVH	IPGULSHLK IPGKI SI I R
Medicago						H	-KMKMEDSYA	RVEKIIGYTFF	NKNLLEEAL	THSSYPESY-	SYERLEFIGD	AYLGHAISN	ILFLYYTNYD	QRQLSLLR
Sorghun			MTPS	ONPCKRRHPT	PPPPSAASPA	APYALSLPG	YADRAEAAY	RVERLLRYQFC	DRALLEEAL	THQSFSDGAF	SYQRLEFYGD	AALGLAFSN	LYLTNPTLG	PGALSTLR
Ee2 Suscessor			MIPS	KPPGKRR-S	HPPPKLPSPH	PPYHLSPPG	YHUKHEHHH	KYEKLEKYQFU		THQSESUGHL THeSu. de	SYUKLEFYGU	HHLGLHESNE JaalolA sNu	LYLINPILG	PGHLSTLR
CONSCIISUS	*****	•••••	•••••	• • • • • • • • • • • •	•••••	••••••	•••••••	UVL.11.1.1.	WK+LIGHIL	maag.ua.	ST WILLT VUL	ιαατέτιι+οιί	itwragh•1•	P8+LJIIN
	131	140	150	160	170	180	190	200	210	220	230	240	250	260
A.thaliana	AANVS	Teklarysl	NHGLYSFLRR	NAPS <mark>ldeky</mark> k	EFSERVGKED	DLS <mark>V</mark> S-Y	GGL <mark>V-Kapkv</mark>	LADLF <mark>es</mark> lage	IVYYD <mark>YN</mark> FDL	QRLHYIFRGL	LEPIVTLOOL	QKQPQPYSHI	FKLCHKHKK	R idiknu k
A.lyrata	AANYS	TEKLARVTL	NHGLYQFLRR	NAPSLDEKYK	EFSDAYGKED	DFSVA-Y	GGLY-KAPKY	LADLFESYAGA	IYYYDYNFDL	QRLHYIFRGL		QKQPQPYSH	FKLCHKHKK	RIDIKNHK
Kicinus Vitie	HHNT2	ieklhryhy Tevi advav	NHULFRFLKH	NH I HLUUKYK NAAAL DDKVD	EFSUHYLKEE	DEHYH-H GDSVI -Y	GCV-KAPKY	LHUIYESYHHF	IYTYUYNFUL ITYVDCNEDL	UVI UVTEDGI	LEPIVIPEUL		FELCUKKUK	EVDIVHHK
Cucumis	AANYS'	TEKLARVAY	THGLYNYYRR	DSPAMDDKYK	EFYDSY-ALE	GSSVP-Y	GGMM-KAPKY		IYYDYEFDL	OKLHAIIRG	LEPIYTLEEL	QVEPQPVTVI	FQYCORNGK	QYDIKHHK
Glycine	AANYS	TEKLARYAY	RIGLHRFYRH	sapp <mark>lydky</mark> e	R <mark>fyday-</mark> kle	INPVA-H	G <mark>gsv-kapkv</mark>	LADYYESYAAA	IYYD <mark>yn</mark> fol	QTLHYIMRG	/LEPIVTPDAL	EKQPQPYTH	YENCOKKGK	Q <mark>YDIK</mark> PSR
Cicer	AANVS	TEKLARAAY	RHGLHRYFRH	NTISLYDKYT	EFYDAYAREK	NHRALYY-Y	GGLY-KAPKI		IVYVDVDFDL	QRLHYIIRG		EQQPQPYTM	FEICOKNOK	KYDIKHGR
Socobus	SHNY5	ieklikhiy: Teki advav	SNULHKTIKLI Dhdi ypi i pri	KTHSLHEHIK KCARLDLLVG	CEPHHHYEQEK	HIDI ATAPY	GCAAKHLKA CCCAAKHLKA	Lhuyyesyhhf Lantve a taac	IYTYULUFUL IVYVOCKEDI	EKI UKVTRU	EEPVTTAETV	EUKPUPYINI DEOPVIII	HELCOKHGK	KYULKHSK VAOFFTUO
Zea	AANIS	TEKLARVAV		KCPRLDLLYG	OFIESYKQEL	MHDLATAPY	GGSYYKAPKY		IVYYDCKFDL	EKLAKYTRAL	FEPIITAETI	DEQPYTTI	HELCOKHOK	YAQFKTHQ
Consensus	aAN!S	TEKLARvav	rhgLyR.	\$ <mark>ddk!</mark> .	eF.daYe.	vy	GG .v. KAPKv	LAD <mark>ivEs!</mark> Aaf	I! YYDv . FOL	q.LWv!.Rg]	LIEPIVT.#.1	#.qpQPvtnl	.elCqk.gK	v#ikhw.
	261	270	280	290	300	310	320	330	340	350	360	370	380	390
Athaliana	261 		280	290	300	310 +	320	330	340	350	360	370	380	390
A.thaliana A.lyrata	261 DGNVS: DGNIS:	270 IAVIYLDDE IADIYLDDE	280 Llasgraenki Flasgraenki	290 † DIARLIAAKE DIARLIAAKE	300 ALRKLSEVFP ALRKLSEVFP	310 + VEM VEM	320 VIDEDS VIDEDS	330 Veiolthaktk Veielkhaktk	340 (LNEICLKKK (LNEICLKKK	350 HPKPIYSVEE	360 Drssyqgkr Drtsyhgkr	370 VCSAKIKITI VCSAKIKIPI	380 Eektlynkgd Feetlynkgd	390 EQSKIKKA EQSKIKKA
A.thaliana A.lyrata Ricinus	261 DGNVS: DGNIS: SGTKN:	270 IRVIYLDDE IRDIYLDDE IRDIYLDDE IRSIYVDGG	280 + LLASGRAENK FLASGRAENK FVASGSSEQK	290 TARLIAAKE DIARLIAAKE ETAKLNAAKG	300 ALRKLSEVFP ALRKLSEVFP ALRKLSEVFP	310 VEM VEM SNLGHFE	320 VIDEDS VIDEDS DYLKTIG	330 YEIQLTHAKTK YEIELKHAKTK GSFEIEGAKRK	340 LNEICLKKK LNEICLKKK LHELCGKKK	350 HPKPIYSVEE HPKPIYSIEE HPKPTYNIE)	360 DRSSYQGKRF DRTSYHGKRF Ketgpshekky	370 VCSAKIKITI VCSAKIKIPI VCSVQIA-TV	380 Eektlynkgd Feetlynkgd /Dgylynrgd	390 EQSKIKKA EQSKIKKA EKHRYKEA
A.thaliana A.lyrata Ricinus Yitis	261 I DGNYS DGNIS SGTKN KGSKN	270 IRVIYLDDE IRDIYLDDE IRSIYVDGG IRSYYVGGK	280 LLASGRAENKI FLASGRAENKI FVASGSSEQKI FIASGSSDEKI	290 DIARLIAAKE DIARLIAAKE ETAKLNAAKG EIAKLNAAKE	300 ALRKLSEVFP ALRKLSEVFP ALQKLSHLMP ALQKLSHLMP	310 VEM VEM SNLGHFE DTEMTQN	320 YIDEDS YIDEDS DYLKTIG NLEIN	330 VEIQLTHAKTK VEIQLKHAKTK GSFEIEGAKRK GSCEIDGAKQK	340 LNEICLKKK LNEICLKKK LHELCGKKK LHEFCSKKK	350 HPKPIYSVEF HPKPIYSIEF HPKPTYNIEF HPKPSYRIEF	360 Drssvqgkrf Drtsvhgkrf Etgpshekky Evgpahekgf	370 VCSAKIKITI VCSAKIKIPI VCSVQIA-TV LCSVHIE-TV	380 EEKTLYHKGD IEETLYHKGD /Dgylyhrgd /Dgylyhggd	390 EQSKIKKA EQSKIKKA EKHRYKEA IKPRYKDA
A.thaliana A.lyrata Ricinus Vitis Cucumis Glucine	261 I DGNYS DGNIS SGTKN KGSKN NGSNS EGDLS	270 IRVIYLDDE IADIYLDDE IRSIYVDGG IRSYYVGGK IRSYHVDGK VRVFVDGF	280 LLASGRAENK FLASGRAENK FVASGSSEQKI FIASGSSDEK FVASGSSMQK FVASGSSSNK	290 DIARLIAAKE DIARLIAAKE ETAKLNAAKG EIAKLNAAKE EIARLNAARE DHAKLEAAKT	300 ALRKLSEVFP ALRKLSEVFP ALQKLSHLMP ALQKLSSKLK ALIKLSDSMD ALGKLAHLVP	310 VEM VEM SNLGHFE DTEMTQN TRIKTFV STDKKSQTNI	320 YIDEDS YIDEDS DYLKTIG NLEIN TI-DGID 1KI NEOODEN	330 VEIQLTHAKTK VEIELKHAKTK GSFEIEGAKOK GSCEIDGAKOK GSFEIEGAKOK GTUVUCAPKNK	340 LNEICLKKK LNEICLKKK LHELCGKKK LHEFCSKKK LHEFCSKKK LHEFCSKKK	350 HPKPIYSVEE HPKPIYSIEE HPKPTYNIEE HPKPSYRIEE HQKPNYSVEE HQKPNYSVEE	360 DRSSYQGKRF DRTSYHGKRF KETGPSHEKKY KEYGPAHEKGF KDLGPSHERIF IDSGPSHEKKE	370 VCSAKIKIT VCSAKIKIP VCSVQIA-TV LCSVHIE-TV VCSVKIA-T(VCSVKIA-T(380 EEKTLYHKGD IEETLYHKGD /DGYLYHRGD /DGYLYHQGD CYGTFYIYGD 2005TL0HSGD	390
A.thaliana A.lyrata Ricinus Vitis Cucumis Glycine Cicer	261 I DGNYS: DGNIS: SGTKN: KGSKN: KGSKN: KGSNS: EGDLS SATKS	270 IRVIYLDDE IRDIYLDDE IRSIYVDGG IRSYVVGGK IRSVHVDGK VRKVFVDGE TRSVYVDGQ	280 LLASGRAENK FLASGRAENK FVASGSSEQKI FIASGSSDEKI FVASGSSSQKI LFASASSSQKI LFASASSSQKI	290 DIARLIAAKE DIARLIAAKE ETAKLNAAKE ETAKLNAAKE ETARLNAARE DHAKLEAAKI DIARLDAAKY	300 ALRKLSEVFP ALRKLSEVFP ALQKLSHLMP ALQKLSSKLK ALIKLSDSMD ALGKLAHLYP ALHKLEHMLP	310 VEM VEM SNLGHFE DTEMTQN TRIKTFV STDKKSATNI ATASTVMFD	320 YIDEDS YIDEDS VIDEDS DYLKTIG NLEIN TI-DGID 1KLNFADEN CCAGGID	330 VEIQLTHAKTK VEIELKHAKTK GSFEIEGAKQK GSCEIDGAKQK GSTEIEGAKQK GTWYVEAPKNK DTFEIEAAKQK	340 LNEICLKKK LNEICLKKK LHELCGKKK LHEFCSKKK LHDYCCKRK LRELCAYKK LYAICGTKK	350 HPKPIYSVEE HPKPIYSIEE HPKPTYNIEI HPKPSYRIEI HQKPNYSVEI HPIPEYIIEI HPKPYYSIEI	360 DRSSVQGKRF DRTSVHGKRF (ETGPSHEKKY (EVGPAHEKGF (DLGPSHERIF (DSGPSHEKKF (DEGTPQEKKF	370 VCSAKIKIPI VCSAKIKIPI VCSVQIA-TV LCSVHIE-TV VCSVKIA-TO VCAVQIP-TI VTSVQIA-TI	380 EEKTLYHKGD TEETLYHKGD /DGYLYHKGD /DGYLYHQGD /DGYLYHQGD /DGILQHSGD /DGILQHSGD	390
A.thaliana A.lyrata Ricinus Vitis Cucumis Glycine Cicer Medicago	261 I DGNVS: DGNIS: SGTKN: KGSKN: KGSNS: EGDLS' SATKS' NGDKS	270 IRVIYLDDE IRDIYLDDE IRSIYVDGG IRSVYVGGK IRSVHVDGK VRKVFVDGE TRSVYVDGQ TRSVYVDGE	280 LLASGRAENK FLASGRAENK FVASGSSEQK FVASGSSDEK FVASGSSNQKI FVASASSSQKI LFASASSDQKI LFAYASSDQKI	290 DIARLIAAKE DIARLIAAKE ETAKLNAAKG EIAKLNAAKE EIARLNAARE DHAKLEAAKI DIARLDAAKY DIAKLDAAKY	300 ALRKL SEVFP ALRKL SEVFP ALQKL SHLMP ALQKL SSKLK ALIKL SDSHD ALGKL AHL VP ALHKL EHMLP AVQKL ERVLP	310 VEM VEM SNLGHFE DTEMTQN TRIKTFV TRIKTFV STDKKSATNI ATASTVMFD- ITTTTPD-	320 YIDEDS YIDEDS DYLKTIG NLEIN TI-DGID 1KLNFAADEN CCAGGID NCKG-LD	330 VEIQLTHAKTK VEIELKHAKTK GSFEIEGAKQK GSCEIDGAKQK GSFEIEGAKQK GTHVVEAPKNK DTFEIEAAKQK GTFEIEEPKQK	340 LNEICLKKK LNEICLKKK LHELCGKKK LHEFCSKKK LHDYCCKRK LHDYCCKRK LYALCGTKK LYALCGRKK	350 HPKPIYSVEE HPKPIYSVEE HPKPTYNIE HPKPYSYRIE HQKPNYSVEF HPIPEYIIE HPKPYYSIE HPTPYYSIE	360 DRSSVQGKRF DRTSVHGKR (ETGPSHEKKY (DLGPSHERIF (DLGPSHERIF (DSGPSHEKKF (DEGTPQEKKF (DEGTPQNKIF	370 VCSAKIKIT VCSAKIKIP VCSVQIA-TV VCSVQIA-TV VCSVKIA-TO VCSVKIA-TO VTSVQIA-TI	380 EEKTLYHKGD TEETLYHKGD YDGYLYHQGD YDGYLYHQGD YGGTLYHGD YGGILQHSGD YDGTLKHLGE	390 EQSKIKKA EQSKIKKA EKMRVKEA ITKPRVKDA EKSRVKDA EKSRVKDA EKSRVKDA EKSRVKDS
A.thaliana A.lyrata Ricinus Vitis Cucunis Glycine Cicer Medicago Sorghum Zaa	261 I DGNVS: DGNIS: SGTKN: KGSKN: NGSNS: EGDLS ³ SATKS NGDKS KGGMTI	270 IRVIYLDDE IRDIYLDDE IRSIYVDGG IRSYVVGGK IRSVHVDGK VRKVFVDGE TRSVVVDGU TRSVVVDGU TRSVVVDGU VNVVVVCGE	280 LLASGRAENK FLASGRAENK FVASGSSEQKI FVASGSSDEKI FVASGSSDQKI LFASASSDQKI LFASASSDQKI UFQLGSSEQK	290 DIARLIAAKE DIARLIAAKE ETAKLNAAKG EIAKLNAAKE DIAKLAAKE DIAKLDAAKS VIAKLNAARD VIAKLNAARD	300 ALRKLSEVFP ALRKLSEVFP ALQKLSHLMP ALQKLSSKLK ALIKLSDSHD ALGKLAHLVP ALHKLEHHLP AVQKLERVLP ALGKLIGGAK	310 VEM VEM SNLGHFE DTEMTQN TRIKTFY TRIKTFY STDKKSATNI ATRSTYMFD- ITTTPD- QQVIING DOWI TWC	320 YIDEDS YIDEDS VIDEDS VIDEDS 	330 VEIQLTHAKTK VEIELKHAKTK GSFEIEGAKQK GSCEIDGAKQK GSCEIDGAKQK GTHYYEAPKNK GTHYYEAPKNK GTHEIECAKQK GTHEIECHKQK GTHEIECHCKQK GTHEIECHCKQK	340 LNEICLKKK LNEICLKKK LHELCGKKK LHEFCSKKK LHEFCSKKK LHEFCSKKK LHEFCSKKK LHELCGKKK LTELCGKKK LTELCGKKK LTELCGKKK LTELCGKKK	350 HPKPIYSVEE HPKPIYSIEE HPKPSYRIEE HPKPSYRIEE HPIPEYIIEE HPKPYSIEE HPTPYSIEE HPKPYSIEE HPKPYSIEE	360 DRSSVQGKRF DRTSVHGKRF EDRTSVHGKRF KETGPSHEKKF (DLGPSHERTF KDSGPSHEKKF (DEGTPQEKKF RDEGTPQEKKF RDEGTPQEKKF CEGDPUEDUE	370 VCSAKIKIT VCSAKIKIP VCSVQIA-TV VCSVQIA-TV VCSVKIA-TI VTSVQIA-TI VCSVQVD-TV VCSVQVD-TV	380 EEKTLYHKGD TEETLYHKGD /DGYLYHRGD /DGYLYHQGD CYGTFYIYGD ADGILQHSGD PGGILQHSGD PGGILKHLGE (TGTFYTIGD	390 EQSKIKKA EQSKIKKA EKIRYKEA EKSRYKDA EKSRYKDA EKSRYKDA EKSRYKDA EKSRYKDA
A.thaliana A.lyrata Ricinus Vitis Glycine Cicer Medicago Sorghum Zea Consensus	261 I DGNYS DGNIS SGTKH KGSKN KGSNS EGDLS SATKS NGDKS KGGMTI KDGMT ****	270 IRVIYLDDE IRDIYLDDE IRSIYVDGG IRSYVVGGK IRSVHVDGK VRVFVDGE TRSVYVDGE HVVVFVGGE VVWVFVGGE .as!yvdge	280 LLASGRAENKI FLASGRAENKI FVASGSSEQKI FVASGSSDEKI FVASGSSDEKI FVASGSSSDQKI LFAYASSDQKI IVGLGSSEQK FVASGSSEQK FVASGSSEQK	290 DIARLIAAKE DIARLIAAKE ETAKLNAAKG EIAKLNAAKG EIAKLNAAKE DHAKLEAAKI DIARLDAAKS VIAKLNAARD JIAKLDAAKS	300 ALRKLSEVFP ALRKLSEVFP ALQKLSHLM ALQKLSKLK ALIKLSOSHD ALGKLAHLVP ALHKLEHMLP ALGKLIGGAK ALGKLIGGAK ALGKLIGGAK	310 VEM VEM SNLGHFE DTEMTQN TRIKTFV STDKKSATNI ATASTVHED ITTTTPD QQYLING QQYLINC	320 	330 VEIQLTHAKTK VEIELKHAKTK GSFEIEGAKQK GSCEIDGAKQK GSCEIDGAKQK GTHYVEAPKNK GTFEIEARKQK GTFEIEERKQK GTFEIEERKQK GTFEIEERCKQK eie.aKqk	340 LNEICLKKK LNEICLKKK LHELCGKKK LHECSKKK LHOYCCKRK LHOYCCKRK LYALCGKKK LYALCGRKK LTEQCIGKH LIEQCIRKH LEQCIRKH LEQCIRKH	350 HPKPIYSVEE HPKPIYSIEE HPKPSYRIEH HQKPNYSVEF HQKPNYSVEF HPKPYSIEF HPKPYSIEF HPKPIFKLEF HPKPIFKLEF HPKPIFKLEF	360 DRSSVQGKRF DRTSVHGKR ETGPSHEKKY CEVGPAHEKGF ODGPSHEKKF ODGGTPQHKKF CDGGTPQNKTF CEGGPAHERNF CEGGPAHERNF (#.gp.hek.2	370 VCSAKIKIT VCSAKIKIP VCSVQIA-TV VCSVQIA-TV VCSVQIA-TI VTSVQVA-TI VCSVQVD-TV VCSVQVD-TV VCSVQVD-TV VCSVQVD-TV	380 EEKTLYMKGD FEETLYMKGD /DGVLYMKGD /DGVLYMQGD /YGFYIYGD ADGILQMSGD 9GGILQMSGD 9GGILQMSGD 9GGILQMSGD 20GTLKMLGE YGFFYIIGD 11GTFVIIGE .ggll.m.G#	390 IEQSKIKKA IEQSKIKKA IEQSKIKKA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA
A.thaliana A.lyrata Ricinus Vitis Cucumis Glycine Cicer Medicago Sorghum Zea Consensus	261 I DGNYS: DGNIS: SGTKN: KGSKN: NGSNS: EGDLS' SATKS' NGDKS' KGGMT' •g••\$ 391	270 IAYIYLDDEI IADIYLDDEI IASIYVOGG IASIYVOGG IASYVAGGEI YANYFVGGEI YANYFVGGEI YANYFVGGEI YANYFVGGEI YANYFVGGEI YANYFVGGEI YANG	280 LLASGRAENK FLASGRAENK FVRSGSSDEK FVRSGSSDEK FVRSGSSDEK FVRSGSSDEK FVRSGSSDEK FVRSGSSDEK HVGLGSSEQK HVGLGSSEQK fvasgss.#K	290 DIARLIAAKE DIARLIAAKE ETAKLNAAKE ETAKLNAAKE EIARLNAAKE DIAKLDAAKS VIAKLNAARD VIAKLNAARD , IAKLNAARD	300 ALRKLSEVFP ALRKLSEVFP ALQKLSHLMP ALQKLSKLK ALIKLSDSMD ALGKLAHLVP YALHKLEHMLV ALGKLIGGAK ALGKLIGGAK ALKLP	310 VEH SNLGHFE DTEMTQN TRIKTFV STDKKSATN TATSTVHFD- ITTTTPD- QQVLING QQVLINC	320 YIDEDS YIDEDS DYLKTIG DYLKTIG 	330 VEIQLTHAKTK VEIELKHAKTK GSFEIEGAKQK GSFEIEGAKQK GTHVYEAPKNK DTFEIEAAKQK GTFEIEAAKQK GTFEIEPKQK ETFEIEPKQK ETVELRECKQK eie.aKqk	340 LNEICLKKK LHEICSKKK LHEFCSKKK LHEFCSKKK LHEVCKKK LRELCAVKK LTRUCGKKK LYALCGRKK LTEQCIGKH LIEQCIRKH L.e.Ckk	350 HPKPIYSVEF HPKPTYNIE HPKPTYNIE HPKPYSVEF HPRPYIE HPKPYSIEF HPKPIFKLE HPKPIFKLE HPKP, %, IEF	360 DRSSVQGKR DRSSVQGKR ETGPSHEKK ETGPSHEKK CUGPSHEKK OLGPSHEKK OLGPSHEKK CUGPSHEKK CUGGPAHERNF CGGPAHERNF CGGPAHERNF CGGPAHERNF	370 VCSAKIKITI VCSAKIKITI VCSVAIA-TV LCSVHIE-TV VCSVAIA-TI VCSVAIA-TI VTSVQIA-TI VCSVQVD-TI VCSVQVD-TI VCSVQVD-TI VCSVQVD-TI	380 EEKTLYHKGD TEETLYHKGD 70GVLYNGGD 70GVLYNGGD 70GTLQNGD 70GTLQNG 70GTLKHLGE 70GTLKHLGE 71GTFYTIGC 71GTFYTIGC 71GTFYTIGC 71GTFYTIGC	390 IEQSKIKKA IEQSKIKKA IEKRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA SMSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA
A.thaliana A.lyrata Ricinus Vitis Cucumis Glycine Cicer Medicago Sorghum Zea Consensus	261 I DGNVS: DGNIS: SGTKN: KGSKNS: EGDLS: SATKS NGDKS KGGMTI KDGMT' •\$\$ 391 I	270 IRVIVLODEI IRDIVLODEI IRSIYAGG IRSYYAGKI IRSVHADGK IRSVHADGK IRSVHADGK IRSVADGEI VYNVFVGGEI ABSIYAGGEI ABSIYAGGEI ADO	280 LLASGRAENK FLASGRAENK FVRSGSSDEK FVRSGSSDEK FVRSGSSDEK FVRSGSSDEK FVRSGSSDEK FVRSGSSDEK FVRSGSSEK HVGLGSSEQK fvasgss.#K 411 +1	290 DIARLIAAKE DIARLIAAKE ETAKLNAAKE ETAKLNAAKE ETARLNAARE DIARLDAAKY DIARLDAAKY VIAKLNAARE VIAKLNAARE	300 ALRKLSEVFP ALRKLSEVFP ALQKLSKLK ALQKLSKLK ALQKLSKLK ALQKLSKL ALGKLAHLYP ALHKLEHALY ALGKLIGGAK ALGKLIGGAK ALGKLIGGAK	310 VEM	320 YIDEDS VIDEDS 	330 VEIQLTHAKTK VEIELKHAKTK GSFEIEGAKQK GSFEIEGAKQK GTHVYEAPKNK DTFEIEARAQK GTFEIEARAQK GTFEIEPKQK ETFEIEPKQK ETVELRECKQK eie.aKqk	340 LNEICLKKK LHELCKKK LHELCKKK LHELCKKK LHELCSKKK LHELCSKKK LRELCRVKK LRELCRVKK LTEQCIGKK LTEQCIGKK LEQCIRKH L.e.C., kk	350 HPKPTYSVEE HPKPTYNIE HPKPSYRIE HPKPSYRIE HPKPSYLE HPKPTFKLE HPKPIFKLE HPKPIFKLE	360 DRSSVQGKR DRSSVQGKR ETGPSHEKK ETGPSHEKK CUGPSHEKK OLGPSHEKK OLGPSHEKK CUGPSHEKK CUGGPAHERNF CGGPAHERNF CGGPAHERNF CGGPAHERNF	370 VCSAKIKITI VCSAKIKIPI VCSVIA-TY LCSVHIA-TY VCSVKIA-TC VCRV0IP-TI VCSVQIA-TT VCSVQVID-TI VCSVQVD-TC VCSVQVD-TC VCSVQVI-TC	380 EEKTLYHKGD TEETLYHKGO VDGVLYHRGD VDGVLYHGC YGGTLYGD DGGLQHSGD OGGLQHSGD OGGLKHLGE VGGTLKHLGE IGGTFYTIGE IGGTFYTIGE	390 I IEQSKIKKA IEQSKIKKA IEKRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA
A.thaliana A.lyrata Ricinus Uitis Cucumis Glycine Cicer Medicago Sorghum Zea Consensus A.thaliana	261 I DGNVS: DGNIS: SGTKN: KGSKN: NGSNS: EGDLS' SATKS NGDKS KGGMTI KDGMT' •\$••\$ 391 I ESSSA	270 IRVIYLDDE IRDIVLDDE IRSIYDGG IRSYYGKK IRSVHVDGE IRSVYDGE TRSVYDGE VVNYFVGGE VVNYFVGGE 400 YHNIRRRRKK	280 LLASGRAENKI FLASGRAENKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' fvasgss.#K 411 +1 SHYL	290 DIARLIAAKE DIARLIAAKE ETAKLNAAKE ETAKLNAAKE ETARLNAARE DIARLDAAKY DIARLDAAKY DIAKLDAARK VIAKLNAARK	300 ALRKLSEVFP ALRKLSEVFP ALQKLSHLMP ALQKLSKLK ALQKLSKLK ALIKLSDSMD ALGKLAHLVP ALKLEMALP ALGKLIGGAK ALGKLIGGAK	310 	320 YIDEDS YIDEDS 	330 VEIQLTHAKTK VEIELKHAKTK GSFEIEGAKQK GSFEIEGAKQK GTHVYEAPKNK DTFEIEARQK GTFEIEARQK GTFEIEPKQK ETFEIEPKQK ETVELRECKQK eie.aKqk	340 LNEICLKKK LHELCKKK LHELCKKK LHELCSKKK LHELCSKKK LHELCSKKK LRELCRVKK LTEQCIGKK LTEQCIGKK LTEQCIGKK LEQCIRKH	350 HPKPTYSVEE HPKPTYNIE HPKPSYRIE HPTPYSIE HPTPYSIE HPKPTFKLE HPKPIFKLE HPKPIFKLE	360 DRSSVQGKR DRSSVQGKR ETGPSHEKK ETGPSHEKK CUGPSHERIF DSGPSHEKK OEGTPQEKKF ZOEGTPQEKKF ZOEGTPAHERNF EGGPAHERNF #.gp.hek.%	370 VCSAKIKITI VCSAKIKIPI VCSVIA-TY LCSVHIA-TY VCSVKIA-TC VCSVQIA-TI VTSVQIA-TI VTSVQIA-TI VTSVQVA-TI VCSVQVD-TC VCSVQVD-TC	380 EEKTLYHKGD TEETLYHKGO VDGVLYHRGD VDGVLYHGO VDGVLYHGO VDGTLQHSGD VDGTLKHLGE VDGTLKHLGE ITGTFYTIGE ITGTFYTIGE	390 IEQSKIKKA IEQSKIKKA IEQSKIKKA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA
A.thaliana A.lyrata Ricinus Vitis Cucumis Glycine Cicer Medicago Sorghum Zea Consensus A.thaliana A.thaliana B.ciauua	261 I DGNYS: DGNIS: SGTKN: KGSKN: NGSNS: EGDLS' SATKS: NGDKS: KGGHT' -8 391 I ESSSA ESSSA	270 IRVIYLDDEI IRDIYLDDEI IRSIYDGG IRSYYGKI IRSVYHQKU IRSVYDGU TRSYYDGU TRSYYDGU TRSYYDGU IRSYYDGU AUVYFVGGEI ASI JUGU 400 YHNIRALRK YHNIRALRK	280 LLASGRAENKI FLASGRAENKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSEQK' HVGLGSQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSQK' HVGLGSQK' HVGLGSQK' HVGLGSQK' HVGLGSQK' HVGLGSQK' H	290 DIARLIAAKE DIARLIAAKE ETAKLNAAKE ETAKLNAAKE DIARLAAAKE DIARLAAAKE DIARLAAAKE VIAKLNAARE VIAKLNAARE	300 ALRKLSEVFP ALRKLSEVFP ALQKLSHLMP ALQKLSKLK ALQKLSKLK ALQKLSKLK ALGKLAHLVP ALGKLIGGAK ALGKLIGGAK ALGKLIGGAK	310 	320 YIDEDS YIDEDS 	330 VEIQLTHAKTK VEIELKHAKTK GSELEGARKQK GSELEGARKQK GSFELEGARKQK GTHVYEAPKNK DTFELEARKQK GTFELEARKQK GTFELEEPKQK ETVELRECKQK eie.aKqk	340 LNEICLKKK LNEICLKKK LHELCGKKK LHELCGKKK LHELCGKKK LHELCGKKK LTEQCIGKK LTEQCIGKK LTEQCIGKK LEQCIRKH	350 HPKPTYSVEE HPKPTYNIE HPKPSYRIE HPKPSYRIE HPKPSYLE HPKPTFKLE HPKPIFKLE HPKPIFKLE	360 DRSSVQGKR DRSSVQGKR ETGPSHEKK ETGPSHEKK CUGPSHERIF DSGPSHEKKF DEGTPQEKKF ZEGGPAHERNF (#.gp.hek.%	370 VCSAKIKITI VCSAKIKIPI VCSVKIA-TQ LCSVHIE-TI VCSVVIA-TI VCSVQIA-TI VTSVQIA-TI VTSVQIA-TI VCSVQVD-TI VCSVQVD-TI VCSVQVD-TI	380 EEKTLYHKGD TEETLYHKGO VDGVLYHRGD VDGVLYHGO VDGVLYHGO VDGTLQHSGD VDGTLQHSGD VDGTLKHLGE VDGTLKHLGE LGTFYTIGE LGTFYTIGE	390 IEQSKIKKA IEQSKIKKA IEQSKIKKA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA
A.thaliana A.lyrata Ricinus Vitis Cucumis Glycine Cicer Medicago Sorghum Zea Consensus A.thaliana A.lyrata Ricinus Vitis	261 I DGNVS: DGNIS: SGTKN: KGSKN: NGSNS: EGDLS' SATKS NGDKS' KGGHTI KDGHT' •\$••\$ 391 I ESSSA ESSSA ENSAA	270 IRVIYLDDEI IRDIVLDDEI IRSIYDGG IRSYYGKK IRSVHVDGEI TRSVYDGEI VNVFVGGEI ASIYVDGE VNVFVGGEI ASIYVDG VNVFVGGEI AUVFVGGEI AUVFVGGEI VNNFRALRK SLMIRALRK SLMIRALRE	280 LLASGRAENKI FLASGRAENKI FVASGSSDEKI FVASGSSDEKI FVASGSSDEKI FVASGSSDEKI FVASGSSDEKI FVASGSSDEKI HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' SQL HVGLGSSEQK' SQL HVGLGSSEQK' SQL HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSQK' HVGLGSQK' HVGLGSQK' HVGLGSQK' HVGLGSQK' HVGLGSQK' HVGLGSQK' HVGLGSQK' H	290 DIARLIAAKE DIARLIAAKE ETAKLNAAKE ETAKLNAAKE DIARLAAAKE DIARLDAAKY DIARLDAAKY VIAKLNAARK VIAKLNAARK	300 ALRKLSEVFP ALRKLSEVFP ALQKLSKLK ALQKLSKLK ALQKLSKLK ALQKLSKL ALQKLGKLAHUYP ALKLEHAL ALGKLIGGAK ALGKLIGGAK ALKLP	310 VEM SNLGHFE TRIKTFV TRIKTFV TRIKTFV QQVLINC QQVLINC	320 YIDEDS YIDEDS 	330 VEIQLTHAKTK VEIELKHAKTK GSFEIEGAKQK GSFEIEGAKQK GTHVYEAPKNK DTFEIEAAKQK GTFEIEAAKQK GTFEIEAAKQK DIAELRECKQK eie.aKqk	340 LNEICLKKK LHELCKKK LHELCKKK LHELCSKKK LHELCSKKK LHELCSKKK LRELCRVKK LTEQCIGKK LTEQCIGKK LTEQCIGKK LEQCIRKH LeQC., kk	350 HPKPIYSVEE HPKPIYSIEE HPKPSYRIEP HPKPSYRIEP HPKPIFKLEP HPKPIFKLEP HPKPIFKLEP	360 DRSSVQGKR DRSSVQGKR ETGPSHEKK ETGPSHEKK OLGPSHERIF OSGPSHEKK OLGPSHERIF OSGPSHEKK COEGTPQKKF COEGTPQHKR EGGPAHERNF #.gp.hek.%	370 VCSAKIKITI VCSAKIKIPI VCSVRIA-TY V	380 EEKTLYHKGU TEETLYHKGU YDGVLYHRGU YDGVLYHGGU YDGVLYHGGU YGGTLQHSGU YDGTLKHLGE YDGTLKHLGE YTGTFYTIGU YTGTFYTIGU	390 IEQSKIKKA IEQSKIKKA IEQSKIKKA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA
A.thaliana A.lyrata Ricinus Uitis Cucumis Glycine Cicer Medicago Sorghum Zea Consensus A.thaliana A.lyrata Ricinus Vitis Cucumis	261 I DGNVS: DGNIS: SGTKN: KGSKN: NGSNS: EGDLS' SATKS NGDKS' KGGHTI KDGHT' •\$••\$ 391 I ESSSA ESSA ENSAA ENSAA	270 IRVIYLDDEI IRDIYUDGG IRSYYGGK IRSVYHQKG IRSVYHQKV YRVYVDGQI TRSYYQDGQI TRSYYQDGQI YRVYVGGGEI 400 YNHIRALRK YHHIRALRK YHHIRALRK SLMIRALQEI SLMIRALQEI	280 LLASGRAENKI FLASGRAENKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI HVGLGSSEQK' H H H H H H H H H H H H H	290 DIARLIAAKE DIARLIAAKE ETAKLNAAKE ETAKLNAAKE DIARLAAAKE DIARLAAAKE DIARLAAAKE VIAKLNAARK VIAKLNAARK	300 ALRKLSEVFP ALRKLSEVFP ALQKLSHLMP ALQKLSKLK ALQKLSKLK ALQKLSKLK ALQKLGKLAHLVP ALGKLIGGAK ALGKLIGGAK ALGKLIGGAK	310 VEM	320 YIDEDS YIDEDS 	330 VEIQLTHAKTK VEIELKHAKTK GSFEIEGAKQK GSFEIEGAKQK GTHVYEAPKNK DTFEIEARQK GTFEIEARQK GTFEIEPKQK ETFEIEPKQK ETVELRECKQK eie.aKqk	340 LNEICLKKK LNEICLKKK LHELCGKKK LHELCGKKK LHELCGKKK LHELCGKKK LTEQCIGKK LTEQCIGKK LTEQCIGKK LEQCIRKH	350 HPKPTYSYEE HPKPTYNIE HPKPSYRIE HPKPSYRIE HPKPSYEE HPKPTFKLE HPKPIFKLE HPKPIFKLE	360 DRSSVQGKR DRSSVQGKR ETGPSHEKK ETGPSHEKK OLGPSHERIF DSGPSHEKK DEGTPQEKKF ZDEGTPQEKKF ZGGPAHERNF (#.gp.hek.%	370 VCSAKIKITI VCSAKIKIPI VCSVIA-TY LCSVHIE-TI VCSVQIA-TI VCSVQIA-TI VTSVQIA-TI VTSVQIA-TI VCSVQVD-TI VCSVQVD-TI VCSVQVD-TI	380 EEKTLYHKGU TEETLYHKGU YDGVLYHRGU YDGVLYHGGU YDGTLQHSGU YDGTLQHSGU YDGTLKHLGE YDGTLKHLGE YDGTLKHLGE YDGTLKHLGE	390 IEQSKIKKA IEQSKIKKA IEQSKIKKA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA
A.thaliana A.lyrata Ricinus Uitis Cucumis Glycine Cicer Medicago Sorghum Zea Consensus A.thaliana A.lyrata Ricinus Vitis Cucumis Glycine	261 I DGNVS: DGNIS: SGTKN: KGSKN: KGSKS: EGDLS: SATKS NGDKS: KGGHTI KDGHTI ESSA I ESSA DNSAR ENSAR ENSAR	270 IRVIYLDDEI IRDIYLDDEI IRDIYLDDEI IRSYYAGK IRSVHYDGEI TRSYYADGEI TRSYYADGEI VWNFYGGEI VWNFYGGEI VWNFYGGEI VWNFYGGEI VWNFYGGEI VWNFRALRE SLMIRALQE SLMIRALQE SLMIRALQE	280 LLASGRAENKI FLASGRAENKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI HVGLGSSEQK' H H H H H H H H H H H H H	290 DIARLIAAKE DIARLIAAKE ETAKLNAAKE ETAKLNAAKE DIARLAAAKE DIARLAAAKE DIARLAAAKE VIAKLNAARE VIAKLNAARE	300 ALRKLSEVFP ALRKLSEVFP ALQKLSHLMP ALQKLSKLK ALQKLSKLK ALQKLSKLK ALQKLGKLAHLVP ALGKLIGGAK ALGKLIGGAK ALGKLIGGAK	310 	320 YIDEDS 	330 VEIQLTHAKTK VEIELKHAKTK GSELEGAKQK GSELEGAKQK GTHVYEAPKNK DTFELEARKQK GTHVYEAPKNK DTFELEARKQK GTFELEPKQK DIAELRECKQK eie.aKqk	340 LNEICLKKK LNEICLKKK LHELCGKKK LHELCGKKK LHELCGKKK LAELCAVKK LAELCAVKK LTEQCIGKK LTEQCIGKK LTEQCIGKH LEQCIRKH	350 HPKPTYSVEE HPKPTYNIE HPKPSYRIE HPKPSYRIE HPKPSYSIE HPKPTFKLE HPKPIFKLE HPkPIFKLE	360 DRSSVQGKR DRSSVQGKR ETGPSHEKK ETGPSHEKK CUGPSHERIF DSGPSHEKKF DEGTPQNKIF ZEGGPAHERNF (#.gp.hek.%	370 VCSAKIKITI VCSAKIKIPI VCSVGA-TY LCSVHIE-TI VCSVQIA-TY VCSVQIA-TI VCSVQIA-TI VCSVQVA-TI VCSVQVD-TI VCSVQVD-TI VCSVQVD-TI	380 EEKTLYHKGU TEETLYHKGU YDGVLYHRGU YDGVLYHGG YDGTLQNSGU YGGTLQNSGU YGGTLQNSGU YGGTLKHLGE YGGTLKHLGE YGGTLKHLGE	390 IEQSKIKKA IEQSKIKKA IEQSKIKKA IEKRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA
A.thaliana A.lyrata Ricinus Uitis Cucumis Glycine Cicer Medicago Sorghum Zea Consensus A.thaliana A.lyrata Ricinus Vitis Cucumis Glycine Cicer	261 1 DGNVS: SGTKN: KGSNN: EGDLS: EGDLS: SGTKN: KGGNT: KGGNT: +8+-8- 391 1 ESSSA DNSAR: ENSAR: ENSAR: ENSAR: ENSAR:	270 IRVIYLDDEI IRDIYLDDEI IRDIYLDDEI IRSYYAGK IRSVHYDGEI TRSYYADGEI TRSYYADGEI VINVFVGGEI VNVFVGGEI VNVFVGGEI VNVFVGGEI VNVFVGGEI SLMIRALQE SLMIRALQE SLMIRALQE SFMITLYE SLMIRALQE	280 LLASGRAENKI FLASGSEDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' CKULLSI GULY	290 DIARLIAAKE DIARLIAAKE ETAKLNAAKE ETAKLNAAKE DIARLAAAKE DIARLAAAKE DIARLAAAKE VIAKLNAARK JIAKLNAARK	300 ALRKLSEVFP ALRKLSEVFP ALQKLSHLMP ALQKLSKLK ALQKLSKLK ALQKLSKLK ALQKLGKLAHLVP ALGKLIGGAK ALGKLIGGAK ALGKLIGGAK	310 	320 YIDEDS 	330 VEIQLTHAKTK VEIELKHAKTK GSELEGAKQK GSEEIIGAKQK GTHVYEAPKNK DTFEIEARKQK GTFEIEARKQK GTFEIEEPKQK DIAELRECKQK eie.aKqk	340 LNEICLKKK LNEICLKKK LHELCGKKK LHELCGKKK LHELCGKKK LRELCAVKK LTEQCIGKK LTEQCIGKK LTEQCIGKK LEQCIRKH	350 HPKPTYSVEE HPKPTYNIE HPKPSYRIE HPKPSYRIE HPKPSYRIE HPKPTFKLE HPKPIFKLE HPkPIFKLE	360 DRSSVQGKR DRSSVQGKR ETGPSHEKK ETGPSHEKK OLGPSHERIF OLGPSHERK DEGTPQHKKF COEGTPAHERNF (#.gp.hek.%	370 VCSAKIKITI VCSAKIKIPI VCSVAIA-TY LCSVHIE-TI VCSVQIA-TY VCSVQIA-TI VCSVQIA-TI VCSVQVA-TI VCSVQVD-TI VCSVQVD-TI VCSVQVD-TI	380 EEKTLYHKGD TEETLYHKGO VDGVLYHRGD VDGVLYHGO CYGTLYHGD DGTLQHSGD OGTLQHSGD OGTLKHLGE TGTFVTIGE TGFFVTIGE .gcl.n.G#	390 I IEQSKIKKA IEQSKIKKA IEKRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA
A.thaliana A.lyrata Ricinus Uitis Cucunis Glycine Cicer Medicago Sorghum Zea Consensus A.thaliana A.lyrata Ricinus Vitis Cucunis Glycine Cicer Medicago Sorghum	261 I DGNVS: SGTKU KGSKU K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	270 IRVIYLDDEI IRDIVLDDEI IRDIVLDDEI IRSVYHQGK IRSVYHQGK IRSVYHQGK IRSVYHQGQ IRSVYQGQ VNVFVGGEI VNVFVGGEI VNVFVGGEI VNVFVGGEI VNVFVGGEI SLMIRALQE SLMIRALQE SLMIRALQE SLMIRALQE SLMIRALQE	280 LLASGRAENKI FLASGRAENKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSDEKI FVRSGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' H CKHLLSI GQLV H	290 DIARLIAAKE DIARLIAAKE ETAKLNAAKE ETAKLNAAKE ETAKLNAAKE DHAKLEAAKI DIARLDAAKS VIAKLNAARK VIAKLNAARK , iAKLNAAK	300 ALRKLSEVFP ALRKLSEVFP ALQKLSKLK ALQKLSSKLK ALIKLSDSHD ALQKLERVLP ALKLEHHL ALKLEHHL ALKLIGGAK A1, KLp	310 	320 YIDEDS YIDEDS 	330 VEIQLTHAKTK VEIELKHAKTK GSFEIEGAKQK GSCEIIGGAKQK GTHVYEAPKNK DTFEIEARKQK GTHVYEAPKNK DTFEIEARKQK GTFEIEARCKQK DIAELRECKQK eie.aKqk	340 	350 HPKPTYSVER HPKPTYNIE HPKPSYRIE HPKPSYRIE HPKPSYRIE HPKPTFKLE HPKPIFKLE HPKPIFKLE	360 DRSSVQGKR DRSSVQGKR ETGPSHEKK ETGPSHEKKF OEGTPQEKKF OEGTPQEKKF OEGTPQEKKF COEGTPQEKKF COEGTPQEKKF COEGTPAHERNF (#.gp.hek.%	370 VCSAKIKITI VCSAKIKIPI VCSAKIKIPI VCSVQIA-TI VCSVQIA-TI VCSVQIA-TI VTSVQIA-TI VCSVQVD-TI VCSVQVD-TI VCSVQVD-TI VCSVQVD-TI	380 EEKTLYHKGD TEETLYHKGD JOGVLYHRGD JOGVLYHRGD JOGTLQHSGD GGILQHSGD GGILQHSGD GGILKHLGE TGFTVTIGE TGFTVTIGE TGFTVTIGE	390 IEQSKIKKA IEQSKIKKA IEQSKIKKA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA IEKSRYKDA
A.thaliana A.lyrata Ricinus Uitis Cucunis Glycine Cicer Medicago Sorghum Zea Consensus A.thaliana A.lyrata Ricinus Vitis Cucunis Glycine Cicer Medicago Sorghum Zea	261 I DGNVS: SGTKN: KGSKN: KGSKN: KGSKN: KGSKN: KGSKN: KGSKN: KGSKN: KGSKN: KGSKN: KGSKN: KGSKN: KGSKN: SATKS: KGSKN: KGSKN: SATKS: KGSKN: KGSKN: SATKS: KGSKN: KGSKN: SATKS: KGSKN: KGSKN: SATKS: KGSKN: KGSKN: SATKS: KGSKN: KGSKN: SATKS: KGSKN: KGSKN: SATKS: KGSKN: KGSKN: SATKS: KGSKN: SATKS: KGSKN: SATKS: KGSKN: SATKS: SATKS: KGSKN: SATKS: S	270 IRVIYLDDEI IRDIVLDDEI IRDIVLDDEI IRSIYHQGG IRSVYHQKU IRSVHVDGK IRSVYHQGU IRSVYHQGQI ASSYHVDGQI ASSYHVDGQI ASSYHVGGGI ASSYHVGGGI AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND	280 LLASGRAENKI FLASGRAENKI FVASGSSSEQKI FVASGSSDEKI FVASGSSDEKI FVASASSOQKI HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' HVGLGSSEQK' SHYL	290 DIARLIAAKE DIARLIAAKE ETAKLNAAKE ETAKLNAAKE ETAKLNAAKE DHAKLEAAKI DIARLDAAKS VIAKLNAARK VIAKLNAARK , iAKLNAAK	300 ALRKLSEVFP ALRKLSEVFP ALQKLSSKLK ALQKLSSKLK ALIKLSDSHD ALQKLERVLP ALKLEHHL ALKLIGGAK ALKLEHHL ALKLIGGAK ALKLP	310 VEM VEM SNLGHFE DTEMTQN TRIKTFYD ITTTTPD QQVLING QQVLING	320 YIDEDS YIDEDS DYLKTIG 	330 VEIQLTHAKTK GSFEIEGAKQK GSFEIEGAKQK GSFEIEGAKQK GTHVYEAPKNK DTFEIEARKQK GTHVYEAPKNK DTFEIEARKQK GTFEIEPKQK LVELRECKQK eie.aKqk	340 .NEICLKKK LNEICLKKK LHELGKKK LHELGKKK LHELGKKK LTEQCIGKH LTEQCIGKH LEQCIKH LEQCIKH LQC, kk	350 HPKPIYSIE HPKPIYSIE HPKPYTHE HPKPYTHE HPKPYTFLE HPKPYFKLE HPKPIFKLE HPKPIFKLE	360 DRSSVQGKR DRSSVQGKR ETGPSHEKK ETGPSHEKKF OEGTPQEKKF OEGTPQEKKF OEGTPQEKKF COEGTPQEKKF COEGTPAHERNF (#.gp.hek.%	370 VCSAKIKITI VCSAKIKIPI VCSVGA-TV LCSVHIE-TV VCSVQIA-TT VCSVQIA-TT VTSVQVA-TT VCSVQVD-TC VCSVQVD-TC VCSVQVD-TC	380 EEKTLYHKGD TEETLYHKGD JDGVLYHRGD JDGVLYHRGD JDGTLQHSGD GGTLQHSGD GGTLQHSGD JGTLKHLGE .gcl.n.G#	390 IEQSKIKKA IEQSKIKKA IEQSKIKKA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA IEKSRYKOA

Fig. 4.1: Alignment of plant RTL2 amino acid sequences.

Alignment of RTL1 amino acids sequences from Arabidopsis thaliana (<u>NP_566661.1</u>), Arabidopsis lyrata (<u>XP_002885372.1</u>), Ricinus communis (<u>XP_002529460.1</u>), Cucumis sativus (<u>XP_004147555.1</u>), Vitis vinifera (<u>XP_002278706.1</u>), Glycine max (<u>XP_003544820.1</u>), Cicer arietinum (<u>XP_004491416.1</u>), Medicago truncatula(<u>XP_003602658.1</u>), Sorghum bicolour (<u>XP_002440883.1</u>), Zea mays (<u>NP_001140816.1</u>).

5 - Possibilities for future research

5.1 - Short-term goals

5.1.1 - RTL specificity

One of the main unanswered questions from this project is the identification of the factors which define RTL specificity. Both RTL1 and RTL2 have very simple protein structures containing one RNaseIII domain and one or two DRB domains. Their RNaseIII motif sequences retain a high degree of similarity and yet they are different enough to enable them to produce the opposite effect on the small RNA accumulation.

The elimination of the RTL2's C-terminal DRB domain, in RTL2 Δ DRB, did not transform its action to that of RTL1. The number of DRB domains alone therefore is not sufficient for controlling RTL function - other factors must be involved.

In order to further explore this question we plan to perform a swap experiment between RTL1 and RTL2 exchanging their RNaseIII and DRB domains and generating new recombinant RTLswap1-2 and RTLswap2-1 to see if the swap can modify their original activities. At the time of writing, these new recombinant RTLs have already been generated in our lab. Our next step will be to check their effects on the accumulation of different types of small RNAs in *N.benthamiana* and Arabidopsis.

5.1.2 - RTL1 localization

RTL2 has already been shown to be present in both nucleoplasm and the nucleus (Comella et al., 2008). RTL1 localization however, has not yet been ascertained.

We are therefore performing trails where we are fusing RTL1 to a GFP protein in order to try and pinpoint its location.

5.1.3 - Complimentary viral trails with RTL1

Although RTL1 expression is induced by viral infections, RTL1 activity is most probably perturbed as a response to VSRs. A series of viral trails are planned using viruses lacking their VSRs on plants with RTL1 overexpression in order to observe the effect of VSRs on RTL1 action and RTL's subsequent effect on plants susceptibility to viral infections.

We have also identified three Arabidopsis lines with overexpression of amiR-RTL1a or amiR-RTL1b, which have low GUS activities in their roots. The effect of viral infection on these three lines will be investigated in near future.

5.1.4- RTL2 overexpression in dcl mutants

One of the hypotheses for the enhancing activity of RTL2 on the accumulation of GU siRNAs is that RTL2 interacts with Arabidopsis DCL enzymes. It is possible that RTL2 is involved in the first steps of small RNAs biogenesis and followed by the action of DCLs or, alternatively, it could replace DCL's activity in some places.

To see if this is the case we will overexpress RTL2 in dcl mutants and observe its effect on the populations of different types of siRNAs.

5.2 - Long term goals

5.2.1 - Functional studies of other RTLs

The focus of this project was on RTL1 and RTL2 activity only. There are however, three other RTLs to be studied in the future. RTL 4 and RTL5 are present in all plant tissues while RTL3 expression was not detected in any part of the Arabidopsis plants.

rtl4 mutants are impaired in male and female gamethophyte formation and RTL5 is similar to maize RNC1, which splices several chloroplastic group II introns, suggesting essential biological roles for other RTLs. It would therefore be interesting to investigate their respective functions.

5.2.2 - RTL interactions with other proteins/RNAs

RTL proteins have very simple structures and yet very important effects on small RNA populations and plant morphology. It is therefore quite possible that their action comes from their interaction with other proteins or RNAs.

Tagged RTL structures could be used to identify possible co-factors through immunoprecipitation trails.

And finally

This project represents one of first attempts to try to develop a clear picture of RTL functions and their interaction in RNAi pathways. There is still a long way to go and a lot of interesting research to be done!

6 - References

1) Allen, E., and Howell, M.D. (2010). miRNAs in the biogenesis of trans-acting siRNAs in higher plants. Semin Cell Dev Biol *21*, 798-804.

2) Allen, E., Xie, Z., Gustafson, A.M., and Carrington, J.C. (2005). microRNA-directed phasing during trans-acting siRNA biogenesis in plants. Cell *121*, 207-221.

3) Aregger, M., Borah, B.K., Seguin, J., Rajeswaran, R., Gubaeva, E.G., Zvereva, A.S., Windels, D., Vazquez, F., Blevins, T., Farinelli, L., *et al.* (2012). Primary and secondary siRNAs in geminivirus-induced gene silencing. PLoS Pathog *8*, e1002941.

4) Azevedo, J., Garcia, D., Pontier, D., Ohnesorge, S., Yu, A., Garcia, S., Braun, L., Bergdoll, M., Hakimi, M.A., Lagrange, T., *et al.* (2010). Argonaute quenching and global changes in Dicer homeostasis caused by a pathogen-encoded GW repeat protein. Genes Dev 24, 904-915.

5) Bartel, D.P. (2009). MicroRNAs: target recognition and regulatory functions. Cell 136, 215-233.

6) Baulcombe, D. (2004). RNA silencing in plants. Nature 431, 356-363.

7) Baumberger, N., Tsai, C.H., Lie, M., Havecker, E., and Baulcombe, D.C. (2007). The Polerovirus silencing suppressor P0 targets ARGONAUTE proteins for degradation. Curr Biol *17*, 1609-1614.

8) Beclin, C., Berthome, R., Palauqui, J.C., Tepfer, M., and Vaucheret, H. (1998). Infection of tobacco or Arabidopsis plants by CMV counteracts systemic post-transcriptional silencing of nonviral (trans)genes. Virology *252*, 313-317.

9) Beclin, C., Boutet, S., Waterhouse, P., and Vaucheret, H. (2002). A branched pathway for transgene-induced RNA silencing in plants. Curr Biol *12*, 684-688.

10) Bivalkar-Mehla, S., Vakharia, J., Mehla, R., Abreha, M., Kanwar, J.R., Tikoo, A., and Chauhan, A. (2011). Viral RNA silencing suppressors (RSS): novel strategy of viruses to ablate the host RNA interference (RNAi) defense system. Virus Res *155*, 1-9.

11) Blaszczyk, J., Tropea, J.E., Bubunenko, M., Routzahn, K.M., Waugh, D.S., Court, D.L., and Ji, X. (2001). Crystallographic and modeling studies of RNase III suggest a mechanism for double-stranded RNA cleavage. Structure *9*, 1225-1236.

12) Blevins, T., Rajeswaran, R., Shivaprasad, P.V., Beknazariants, D., Si-Ammour, A., Park, H.S., Vazquez, F., Robertson, D., Meins, F., Jr., Hohn, T., *et al.* (2006). Four plant Dicers mediate viral small RNA biogenesis and DNA virus induced silencing. Nucleic Acids Res *34*, 6233-6246.

13) Bohmert, K., Camus, I., Bellini, C., Bouchez, D., Caboche, M., and Benning, C. (1998). AGO1 defines a novel locus of Arabidopsis controlling leaf development. EMBO J *17*, 170-180.

14) Borsani, O., Zhu, J., Verslues, P.E., Sunkar, R., and Zhu, J.K. (2005). Endogenous siRNAs derived from a pair of natural cis-antisense transcripts regulate salt tolerance in Arabidopsis. Cell *123*, 1279-1291.

15) Bouche, N., Lauressergues, D., Gasciolli, V., and Vaucheret, H. (2006). An antagonistic function for Arabidopsis DCL2 in development and a new function for DCL4 in generating viral siRNAs. Embo J *25*, 3347-3356.

16) Bozorov, T.A., Pandey, S.P., Dinh, S.T., Kim, S.G., Heinrich, M., Gase, K., and Baldwin, I.T. (2012). DICER-like proteins and their role in plant-herbivore interactions in Nicotiana attenuata. J Integr Plant Biol *54*, 189-206.

17) Brennecke, J., Aravin, A.A., Stark, A., Dus, M., Kellis, M., Sachidanandam, R., and Hannon, G.J. (2007). Discrete small RNA-generating loci as master regulators of transposon activity in Drosophila. Cell *128*, 1089-1103.

18) Brodersen, P., Sakvarelidze-Achard, L., Bruun-Rasmussen, M., Dunoyer, P., Yamamoto, Y.Y., Sieburth, L., and Voinnet, O. (2008). Widespread translational inhibition by plant miRNAs and siRNAs. Science *320*, 1185-1190.

19) Brodersen, P., and Voinnet, O. (2006). The diversity of RNA silencing pathways in plants. Trends Genet 22, 268-280.

20) Brodersen, P., and Voinnet, O. (2009). Revisiting the principles of microRNA target recognition and mode of action. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol *10*, 141-148.

21) Brosnan, C.A., and Voinnet, O. (2009). The long and the short of noncoding RNAs. Curr Opin Cell Biol *21*, 416-425.

22) Buhler, M., and Moazed, D. (2007). Transcription and RNAi in heterochromatic gene silencing. Nat Struct Mol Biol *14*, 1041-1048.

23) Burge, S.W., Daub, J., Eberhardt, R., Tate, J., Barquist, L., Nawrocki, E.P., Eddy, S.R., Gardner, P.P., and Bateman, A. (2013). Rfam 11.0: 10 years of RNA families. Nucleic Acids Res *41*, D226-232.

24) Burgyan, J., and Havelda, Z. (2011). Viral suppressors of RNA silencing. Trends Plant Sci 16, 265-272.

25) Cao, X., Aufsatz, W., Zilberman, D., Mette, M.F., Huang, M.S., Matzke, M., and Jacobsen, S.E. (2003). Role of the DRM and CMT3 methyltransferases in RNA-directed DNA methylation. Curr Biol *13*, 2212-2217.

26) Cao, X., and Jacobsen, S.E. (2002). Role of the arabidopsis DRM methyltransferases in de novo DNA methylation and gene silencing. Curr Biol *12*, 1138-1144.

Carmell, M.A., Xuan, Z., Zhang, M.Q., and Hannon, G.J. (2002). The Argonaute family: tentacles that reach into RNAi, developmental control, stem cell maintenance, and tumorigenesis. Genes Dev *16*, 2733-2742.

27) Castel, S.E., and Martienssen, R.A. (2013). RNA interference in the nucleus: roles for small RNAs in transcription, epigenetics and beyond. Nat Rev Genet *14*, 100-112.

28) Chan, S.W., Henderson, I.R., and Jacobsen, S.E. (2005). Gardening the genome: DNA methylation in Arabidopsis thaliana. Nat Rev Genet *6*, 351-360.

29) Chapman, E.J., and Carrington, J.C. (2007). Specialization and evolution of endogenous small RNA pathways. Nat Rev Genet *8*, 884-896.

30) Chellappan, P., Vanitharani, R., Pita, J., and Fauquet, C.M. (2004). Short interfering RNA accumulation correlates with host recovery in DNA virus-infected hosts, and gene silencing targets specific viral sequences. J Virol *78*, 7465-7477.

31) Cheloufi, S., Dos Santos, C.O., Chong, M.M., and Hannon, G.J. (2010). A dicerindependent miRNA biogenesis pathway that requires Ago catalysis. Nature *465*, 584-589.

32) Chen, J., Li, W.X., Xie, D., Peng, J.R., and Ding, S.W. (2004). Viral virulence protein suppresses RNA silencing-mediated defense but upregulates the role of microRNA in host gene expression. Plant Cell *16*, 1302-1313.

33) Comella, P., Pontvianne, F., Lahmy, S., Vignols, F., Barbezier, N., Debures, A., Jobet, E., Brugidou, E., Echeverria, M., and Saez-Vasquez, J. (2008). Characterization of a ribonuclease III-like protein required for cleavage of the pre-rRNA in the 3'ETS in Arabidopsis. Nucleic Acids Res *36*, 1163-1175.

34) Cuellar, W.J., Kreuze, J.F., Rajamaki, M.L., Cruzado, K.R., Untiveros, M., and Valkonen, J.P. (2009). Elimination of antiviral defense by viral RNase III. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *106*, 10354-10358.

35) Daxinger, L., Kanno, T., Bucher, E., van der Winden, J., Naumann, U., Matzke, A.J., and Matzke, M. (2009). A stepwise pathway for biogenesis of 24-nt secondary siRNAs and spreading of DNA methylation. EMBO J *28*, 48-57.

36) Deleris, A., Gallego-Bartolome, J., Bao, J., Kasschau, K.D., Carrington, J.C., and Voinnet, O. (2006). Hierarchical action and inhibition of plant Dicer-like proteins in antiviral defense. Science *313*, 68-71.

37) Ding, S.W., and Voinnet, O. (2007). Antiviral immunity directed by small RNAs. Cell 130, 413-426.

38) Drinnenberg, I.A., Fink, G.R., and Bartel, D.P. (2011). Compatibility with killer explains the rise of RNAi-deficient fungi. Science *333*, 1592.

39) Drinnenberg, I.A., Weinberg, D.E., Xie, K.T., Mower, J.P., Wolfe, K.H., Fink, G.R., and Bartel, D.P. (2009). RNAi in budding yeast. Science *326*, 544-550.

40) Du, Z., Lee, J.K., Tjhen, R., Stroud, R.M., and James, T.L. (2008). Structural and biochemical insights into the dicing mechanism of mouse Dicer: a conserved lysine is critical for dsRNA cleavage. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *105*, 2391-2396.

41) Duan, C.G., Fang, Y.Y., Zhou, B.J., Zhao, J.H., Hou, W.N., Zhu, H., Ding, S.W., and Guo, H.S. (2012). Suppression of Arabidopsis ARGONAUTE1-mediated slicing, transgeneinduced RNA silencing, and DNA methylation by distinct domains of the Cucumber mosaic virus 2b protein. Plant Cell *24*, 259-274.

42) Dunoyer, P., Brosnan, C.A., Schott, G., Wang, Y., Jay, F., Alioua, A., Himber, C., and Voinnet, O. (2010). An endogenous, systemic RNAi pathway in plants. EMBO J *29*, 1699-1712.

43) Duran-Figueroa, N., and Vielle-Calzada, J.P. (2010). ARGONAUTE9-dependent silencing of transposable elements in pericentromeric regions of Arabidopsis. Plant Signal Behav 5, 1476-1479.

44) Elmayan, T., Adenot, X., Gissot, L., Lauressergues, D., Gy, I., and Vaucheret, H. (2009). A neomorphic sgs3 allele stabilizing miRNA cleavage products reveals that SGS3 acts as a homodimer. FEBS J *276*, 835-844.

45) Elmayan, T., Balzergue, S., Beon, F., Bourdon, V., Daubremet, J., Guenet, Y., Mourrain, P., Palauqui, J.C., Vernhettes, S., Vialle, T., *et al.* (1998). Arabidopsis mutants impaired in cosuppression. Plant Cell *10*, 1747-1758.

46) Faehnle, C.R., and Joshua-Tor, L. (2007). Argonautes confront new small RNAs. Curr Opin Chem Biol *11*, 569-577.

47) Fahlgren, N., Howell, M.D., Kasschau, K.D., Chapman, E.J., Sullivan, C.M., Cumbie, J.S., Givan, S.A., Law, T.F., Grant, S.R., Dangl, J.L., *et al.* (2007). High-throughput sequencing of Arabidopsis microRNAs: evidence for frequent birth and death of MIRNA genes. PLoS One *2*, e219.

48) Felix, M.A., Ashe, A., Piffaretti, J., Wu, G., Nuez, I., Belicard, T., Jiang, Y., Zhao, G., Franz, C.J., Goldstein, L.D., *et al.* (2011). Natural and experimental infection of Caenorhabditis nematodes by novel viruses related to nodaviruses. PLoS Biol *9*, e1000586.

49) Filippov, V., Solovyev, V., Filippova, M., and Gill, S.S. (2000). A novel type of RNase III family proteins in eukaryotes. Gene *245*, 213-221.

49) Fire, A., Xu, S., Montgomery, M.K., Kostas, S.A., Driver, S.E., and Mello, C.C. (1998). Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature *391*, 806-811.

50) Forstemann, K., Horwich, M.D., Wee, L., Tomari, Y., and Zamore, P.D. (2007). Drosophila microRNAs are sorted into functionally distinct argonaute complexes after production by dicer-1. Cell *130*, 287-297.

51) Gan, J., Tropea, J.E., Austin, B.P., Court, D.L., Waugh, D.S., and Ji, X. (2006). Structural insight into the mechanism of double-stranded RNA processing by ribonuclease III. Cell *124*, 355-366.

52) Garcia-Ruiz, H., Takeda, A., Chapman, E.J., Sullivan, C.M., Fahlgren, N., Brempelis, K.J., and Carrington, J.C. (2010). Arabidopsis RNA-dependent RNA polymerases and dicerlike proteins in antiviral defense and small interfering RNA biogenesis during Turnip Mosaic Virus infection. Plant Cell *22*, 481-496.

53) Gasciolli, V., Mallory, A.C., Bartel, D.P., and Vaucheret, H. (2005). Partially redundant functions of Arabidopsis DICER-like enzymes and a role for DCL4 in producing trans-acting siRNAs. Curr Biol *15*, 1494-1500.

54) Gaudin, C., Ghazal, G., Yoshizawa, S., Elela, S.A., and Fourmy, D. (2006). Structure of an AAGU tetraloop and its contribution to substrate selection by yeast RNase III. J Mol Biol *363*, 322-331.

55) Ghildiyal, M., and Zamore, P.D. (2009). Small silencing RNAs: an expanding universe. Nat Rev Genet *10*, 94-108.

56) Gillet, F.X., Cattoni, D.I., Petiot-Becard, S., Delalande, F., Poignavent, V., Brizard, J.P., Bessin, Y., Dorsselaer, A.V., Declerck, N., Sanglier-Cianferani, S., *et al.* (2013). The RYMV-Encoded Viral Suppressor of RNA Silencing P1 Is a Zinc-Binding Protein with Redox-Dependent Flexibility. J Mol Biol *425*, 2423-2435.

57) Glick, E., Zrachya, A., Levy, Y., Mett, A., Gidoni, D., Belausov, E., Citovsky, V., and Gafni, Y. (2008). Interaction with host SGS3 is required for suppression of RNA silencing by tomato yellow leaf curl virus V2 protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *105*, 157-161.

58) Greenberg, M.V., Ausin, I., Chan, S.W., Cokus, S.J., Cuperus, J.T., Feng, S., Law, J.A., Chu, C., Pellegrini, M., Carrington, J.C., *et al.* (2011). Identification of genes required for de novo DNA methylation in Arabidopsis. Epigenetics *6*, 344-354.

59) Gregory, B.D., O'Malley, R.C., Lister, R., Urich, M.A., Tonti-Filippini, J., Chen, H., Millar, A.H., and Ecker, J.R. (2008). A link between RNA metabolism and silencing affecting Arabidopsis development. Dev Cell *14*, 854-866.

60) Guo, S., and Kemphues, K.J. (1995). par-1, a gene required for establishing polarity in C. elegans embryos, encodes a putative Ser/Thr kinase that is asymmetrically distributed. Cell *81*, 611-620.

61) Gy, I., Gasciolli, V., Lauressergues, D., Morel, J.B., Gombert, J., Proux, F., Proux, C., Vaucheret, H., and Mallory, A.C. (2007). Arabidopsis FIERY1, XRN2, and XRN3 are endogenous RNA silencing suppressors. Plant Cell *19*, 3451-3461.

62) Haag, J.R., and Pikaard, C.S. (2011). Multisubunit RNA polymerases IV and V: purveyors of non-coding RNA for plant gene silencing. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol *12*, 483-492.

63) Haas, G., Azevedo, J., Moissiard, G., Geldreich, A., Himber, C., Bureau, M., Fukuhara, T., Keller, M., and Voinnet, O. (2008). Nuclear import of CaMV P6 is required for infection and suppression of the RNA silencing factor DRB4. EMBO J *27*, 2102-2112.

64) Halic, M., and Moazed, D. (2010). Dicer-independent primal RNAs trigger RNAi and heterochromatin formation. Cell *140*, 504-516.

65) Hamilton, A.J., and Baulcombe, D.C. (1999). A species of small antisense RNA in posttranscriptional gene silencing in plants. Science *286*, 950-952.

66) Hammond, S.M., Bernstein, E., Beach, D., and Hannon, G.J. (2000). An RNA-directed nuclease mediates post-transcriptional gene silencing in Drosophila cells. Nature *404*, 293-296.

67) Han, M.H., Goud, S., Song, L., and Fedoroff, N. (2004). The Arabidopsis double-stranded RNA-binding protein HYL1 plays a role in microRNA-mediated gene regulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *101*, 1093-1098.

68) Hao, X., Lu, A., Sokal, N., Bhagwat, B., Leung, E., Mao, R., Reade, R., Wu, Y., Rochon, D., and Xiang, Y. (2011). Cucumber necrosis virus p20 is a viral suppressor of RNA silencing. Virus Res *155*, 423-432.

69) Harvey, J.J., Lewsey, M.G., Patel, K., Westwood, J., Heimstadt, S., Carr, J.P., and Baulcombe, D.C. (2011). An antiviral defense role of AGO2 in plants. PLoS One *6*, e14639.

70) Henderson, I.R., Zhang, X., Lu, C., Johnson, L., Meyers, B.C., Green, P.J., and Jacobsen, S.E. (2006). Dissecting Arabidopsis thaliana DICER function in small RNA processing, gene silencing and DNA methylation patterning. Nat Genet *38*, 721-725.

71) Hernandez-Pinzon, I., Yelina, N.E., Schwach, F., Studholme, D.J., Baulcombe, D., and Dalmay, T. (2007). SDE5, the putative homologue of a human mRNA export factor, is required for transgene silencing and accumulation of trans-acting endogenous siRNA. Plant J *50*, 140-148.

72) Hutvagner, G., and Simard, M.J. (2008). Argonaute proteins: key players in RNA silencing. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol *9*, 22-32.

73) Jauvion, V., Elmayan, T., and Vaucheret, H. (2010). The conserved RNA trafficking proteins HPR1 and TEX1 are involved in the production of endogenous and exogenous small interfering RNA in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell *22*, 2697-2709.

74) Jones-Rhoades, M.W., Bartel, D.P., and Bartel, B. (2006). MicroRNAS and their regulatory roles in plants. Annu Rev Plant Biol *57*, 19-53.

75) Kasschau, K.D., Fahlgren, N., Chapman, E.J., Sullivan, C.M., Cumbie, J.S., Givan, S.A., and Carrington, J.C. (2007). Genome-wide profiling and analysis of Arabidopsis siRNAs. PLoS Biol *5*, e57.

76) Katiyar-Agarwal, S., Morgan, R., Dahlbeck, D., Borsani, O., Villegas, A., Jr., Zhu, J.K., Staskawicz, B.J., and Jin, H. (2006). A pathogen-inducible endogenous siRNA in plant immunity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *103*, 18002-18007.

77) Kharrat, A., Macias, M.J., Gibson, T.J., Nilges, M., and Pastore, A. (1995). Structure of the dsRNA binding domain of E. coli RNase III. EMBO J *14*, 3572-3584.

78) Kim, S., Yang, J.Y., Xu, J., Jang, I.C., Prigge, M.J., and Chua, N.H. (2008). Two capbinding proteins CBP20 and CBP80 are involved in processing primary MicroRNAs. Plant Cell Physiol *49*, 1634-1644.

79) Kiyota, E., Okada, R., Kondo, N., Hiraguri, A., Moriyama, H., and Fukuhara, T. (2011). An Arabidopsis RNase III-like protein, AtRTL2, cleaves double-stranded RNA in vitro. J Plant Res *124*, 405-414.

80) Koseki, M., Goto, K., Masuta, C., and Kanazawa, A. (2005). The star-type color pattern in Petunia hybrida 'red Star' flowers is induced by sequence-specific degradation of chalcone synthase RNA. Plant Cell Physiol *46*, 1879-1883.

81) Kreuze, J.F., Savenkov, E.I., Cuellar, W., Li, X., and Valkonen, J.P. (2005). Viral class 1 RNase III involved in suppression of RNA silencing. J Virol *79*, 7227-7238.

82) Kurihara, Y., Takashi, Y., and Watanabe, Y. (2006). The interaction between DCL1 and HYL1 is important for efficient and precise processing of pri-miRNA in plant microRNA biogenesis. RNA *12*, 206-212.

83) Lahmy, S., Bies-Etheve, N., and Lagrange, T. (2010). Plant-specific multisubunit RNA polymerase in gene silencing. Epigenetics *5*, 4-8.

84) Lamontagne, B., Hannoush, R.N., Damha, M.J., and Abou Elela, S. (2004). Molecular requirements for duplex recognition and cleavage by eukaryotic RNase III: discovery of an RNA-dependent DNA cleavage activity of yeast Rnt1p. J Mol Biol *338*, 401-418.

85) Langmead, B., Trapnell, C., Pop, M., and Salzberg, S.L. (2009). Ultrafast and memoryefficient alignment of short DNA sequences to the human genome. Genome Biol *10*, R25.

86) Laubinger, S., Sachsenberg, T., Zeller, G., Busch, W., Lohmann, J.U., Ratsch, G., and Weigel, D. (2008). Dual roles of the nuclear cap-binding complex and SERRATE in premRNA splicing and microRNA processing in Arabidopsis thaliana. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *105*, 8795-8800.

87) Law, J.A., and Jacobsen, S.E. (2010). Establishing, maintaining and modifying DNA methylation patterns in plants and animals. Nat Rev Genet *11*, 204-220.

88) Law, J.A., Vashisht, A.A., Wohlschlegel, J.A., and Jacobsen, S.E. (2011). SHH1, a homeodomain protein required for DNA methylation, as well as RDR2, RDM4, and chromatin remodeling factors, associate with RNA polymerase IV. PLoS Genet 7, e1002195.

89) Lee, H.C., Li, L., Gu, W., Xue, Z., Crosthwaite, S.K., Pertsemlidis, A., Lewis, Z.A., Freitag, M., Selker, E.U., Mello, C.C., *et al.* (2010). Diverse pathways generate microRNA-like RNAs and Dicer-independent small interfering RNAs in fungi. Mol Cell *38*, 803-814.

90) Li, H., Li, W.X., and Ding, S.W. (2002). Induction and suppression of RNA silencing by an animal virus. Science *296*, 1319-1321.

91) Li, J., Yang, Z., Yu, B., Liu, J., and Chen, X. (2005). Methylation protects miRNAs and siRNAs from a 3'-end uridylation activity in Arabidopsis. Curr Biol *15*, 1501-1507.

92) Lindow, M., Jacobsen, A., Nygaard, S., Mang, Y., and Krogh, A. (2007). Intragenomic matching reveals a huge potential for miRNA-mediated regulation in plants. PLoS Comput Biol *3*, e238.

93) Liu, J., Carmell, M.A., Rivas, F.V., Marsden, C.G., Thomson, J.M., Song, J.J., Hammond, S.M., Joshua-Tor, L., and Hannon, G.J. (2004). Argonaute2 is the catalytic engine of mammalian RNAi. Science *305*, 1437-1441.

94) Liu, Q., Feng, Y., and Zhu, Z. (2009). Dicer-like (DCL) proteins in plants. Funct Integr Genomics *9*, 277-286.

95) Lobbes, D., Rallapalli, G., Schmidt, D.D., Martin, C., and Clarke, J. (2006). SERRATE: a new player on the plant microRNA scene. EMBO Rep *7*, 1052-1058.

96) Lu, C., Kulkarni, K., Souret, F.F., MuthuValliappan, R., Tej, S.S., Poethig, R.S., Henderson, I.R., Jacobsen, S.E., Wang, W., Green, P.J., *et al.* (2006). MicroRNAs and other small RNAs enriched in the Arabidopsis RNA-dependent RNA polymerase-2 mutant. Genome Res *16*, 1276-1288.

97) Macrae, I.J., Zhou, K., Li, F., Repic, A., Brooks, A.N., Cande, W.Z., Adams, P.D., and Doudna, J.A. (2006). Structural basis for double-stranded RNA processing by Dicer. Science *311*, 195-198.

98) Maiti, M., Lee, H.C., and Liu, Y. (2007). QIP, a putative exonuclease, interacts with the Neurospora Argonaute protein and facilitates conversion of duplex siRNA into single strands. Genes Dev *21*, 590-600.

99) Mallory, A., and Vaucheret, H. (2010). Form, function, and regulation of ARGONAUTE proteins. Plant Cell *22*, 3879-3889.

100) Mallory, A.C., Elmayan, T., and Vaucheret, H. (2008). MicroRNA maturation and action--the expanding roles of ARGONAUTEs. Curr Opin Plant Biol *11*, 560-566.

101) Mallory, A.C., Hinze, A., Tucker, M.R., Bouche, N., Gasciolli, V., Elmayan, T., Lauressergues, D., Jauvion, V., Vaucheret, H., and Laux, T. (2009). Redundant and specific roles of the ARGONAUTE proteins AGO1 and ZLL in development and small RNA-directed gene silencing. PLoS Genet *5*, e1000646.

102) Mallory, A.C., and Vaucheret, H. (2009). ARGONAUTE 1 homeostasis invokes the coordinate action of the microRNA and siRNA pathways. EMBO Rep *10*, 521-526.

103) Malone, C.D., and Hannon, G.J. (2009). Small RNAs as guardians of the genome. Cell *136*, 656-668.

104) Marshallsay, C., Kiss, T., and Filipowicz, W. (1990). Amplification of plant U3 and U6 snRNA gene sequences using primers specific for an upstream promoter element and conserved intragenic regions. Nucleic Acids Res *18*, 3459-3466.

105) Martinez, J., Patkaniowska, A., Urlaub, H., Luhrmann, R., and Tuschl, T. (2002). Singlestranded antisense siRNAs guide target RNA cleavage in RNAi. Cell *110*, 563-574.

106) Matzke, M., Kanno, T., Daxinger, L., Huettel, B., and Matzke, A.J. (2009). RNAmediated chromatin-based silencing in plants. Curr Opin Cell Biol *21*, 367-376.

107) Mello, C.C., and Conte, D., Jr. (2004). Revealing the world of RNA interference. Nature *431*, 338-342.

108) Merai, Z., Kerenyi, Z., Kertesz, S., Magna, M., Lakatos, L., and Silhavy, D. (2006). Double-stranded RNA binding may be a general plant RNA viral strategy to suppress RNA silencing. J Virol *80*, 5747-5756.

109) Merai, Z., Kerenyi, Z., Molnar, A., Barta, E., Valoczi, A., Bisztray, G., Havelda, Z., Burgyan, J., and Silhavy, D. (2005). Aureusvirus P14 is an efficient RNA silencing suppressor that binds double-stranded RNAs without size specificity. J Virol *79*, 7217-7226.

110) Mette, M.F., Aufsatz, W., van der Winden, J., Matzke, M.A., and Matzke, A.J. (2000). Transcriptional silencing and promoter methylation triggered by double-stranded RNA. EMBO J *19*, 5194-5201.

111) Mi, S., Cai, T., Hu, Y., Chen, Y., Hodges, E., Ni, F., Wu, L., Li, S., Zhou, H., Long, C., *et al.* (2008). Sorting of small RNAs into Arabidopsis argonaute complexes is directed by the 5' terminal nucleotide. Cell *133*, 116-127.

112) Moissiard, G., and Voinnet, O. (2006). RNA silencing of host transcripts by cauliflower mosaic virus requires coordinated action of the four Arabidopsis Dicer-like proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *103*, 19593-19598.

113) Montgomery, T.A., Howell, M.D., Cuperus, J.T., Li, D., Hansen, J.E., Alexander, A.L., Chapman, E.J., Fahlgren, N., Allen, E., and Carrington, J.C. (2008). Specificity of ARGONAUTE7-miR390 interaction and dual functionality in TAS3 trans-acting siRNA formation. Cell *133*, 128-141.

114) Morel, J.B., Godon, C., Mourrain, P., Beclin, C., Boutet, S., Feuerbach, F., Proux, F., and Vaucheret, H. (2002). Fertile hypomorphic ARGONAUTE (ago1) mutants impaired in post-transcriptional gene silencing and virus resistance. Plant Cell *14*, 629-639.

115) Mosher, R.A., Schwach, F., Studholme, D., and Baulcombe, D.C. (2008). PolIVb influences RNA-directed DNA methylation independently of its role in siRNA biogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *105*, 3145-3150.

116) Mourrain, P., Beclin, C., Elmayan, T., Feuerbach, F., Godon, C., Morel, J.B., Jouette, D., Lacombe, A.M., Nikic, S., Picault, N., *et al.* (2000). Arabidopsis SGS2 and SGS3 genes are required for posttranscriptional gene silencing and natural virus resistance. Cell *101*, 533-542.

117) Nakazawa, Y., Hiraguri, A., Moriyama, H., and Fukuhara, T. (2007). The dsRNAbinding protein DRB4 interacts with the Dicer-like protein DCL4 in vivo and functions in the trans-acting siRNA pathway. Plant Mol Biol *63*, 777-785.

118) Napoli, C., Lemieux, C., and Jorgensen, R. (1990). Introduction of a Chimeric Chalcone Synthase Gene into Petunia Results in Reversible Co-Suppression of Homologous Genes in trans. Plant Cell *2*, 279-289.

119) Navarro, L., Dunoyer, P., Jay, F., Arnold, B., Dharmasiri, N., Estelle, M., Voinnet, O., and Jones, J.D. (2006). A plant miRNA contributes to antibacterial resistance by repressing auxin signaling. Science *312*, 436-439.

120) Navarro, L., Jay, F., Nomura, K., He, S.Y., and Voinnet, O. (2008). Suppression of the microRNA pathway by bacterial effector proteins. Science *321*, 964-967.

121) Palauqui, J.C., Elmayan, T., Pollien, J.M., and Vaucheret, H. (1997). Systemic acquired silencing: transgene-specific post-transcriptional silencing is transmitted by grafting from silenced stocks to non-silenced scions. EMBO J *16*, 4738-4745.

122) Park, M.Y., Wu, G., Gonzalez-Sulser, A., Vaucheret, H., and Poethig, R.S. (2005). Nuclear processing and export of microRNAs in Arabidopsis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *102*, 3691-3696.

123) Pazhouhandeh, M., Dieterle, M., Marrocco, K., Lechner, E., Berry, B., Brault, V., Hemmer, O., Kretsch, T., Richards, K.E., Genschik, P., *et al.* (2006). F-box-like domain in the polerovirus protein P0 is required for silencing suppressor function. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *103*, 1994-1999.

124) Peragine, A., Yoshikawa, M., Wu, G., Albrecht, H.L., and Poethig, R.S. (2004). SGS3 and SGS2/SDE1/RDR6 are required for juvenile development and the production of transacting siRNAs in Arabidopsis. Genes Dev *18*, 2368-2379.

125) Pikaard, C.S., Haag, J.R., Ream, T., and Wierzbicki, A.T. (2008). Roles of RNA polymerase IV in gene silencing. Trends Plant Sci *13*, 390-397.

126) Pontier, D., Picart, C., Roudier, F., Garcia, D., Lahmy, S., Azevedo, J., Alart, E., Laudie, M., Karlowski, W.M., Cooke, R., *et al.* (2012). NERD, a plant-specific GW protein, defines an additional RNAi-dependent chromatin-based pathway in Arabidopsis. Mol Cell *48*, 121-132.

127) Portereiko, M.F., Sandaklie-Nikolova, L., Lloyd, A., Dever, C.A., Otsuga, D., and Drews, G.N. (2006). NUCLEAR FUSION DEFECTIVE1 encodes the Arabidopsis RPL21M protein and is required for karyogamy during female gametophyte development and fertilization. Plant Physiol *141*, 957-965.

128) Qin, H., Chen, F., Huan, X., Machida, S., Song, J., and Yuan, Y.A. (2010). Structure of the Arabidopsis thaliana DCL4 DUF283 domain reveals a noncanonical double-stranded RNA-binding fold for protein-protein interaction. RNA *16*, 474-481.

129) Ratcliff, F., Harrison, B.D., and Baulcombe, D.C. (1997). A similarity between viral defense and gene silencing in plants. Science *276*, 1558-1560.

130) Redko, Y., Bechhofer, D.H., and Condon, C. (2008). Mini-III, an unusual member of the RNase III family of enzymes, catalyses 23S ribosomal RNA maturation in B. subtilis. Mol Microbiol *68*, 1096-1106.

131) Robert-Seilaniantz, A., Navarro, L., Bari, R., and Jones, J.D. (2007). Pathological hormone imbalances. Curr Opin Plant Biol *10*, 372-379.

132) Rotondo, G., Huang, J.Y., and Frendewey, D. (1997). Substrate structure requirements of the Pac1 ribonuclease from Schizosaccharmyces pombe. RNA *3*, 1182-1193.

133) Ruiz-Ferrer, V., and Voinnet, O. (2009). Roles of plant small RNAs in biotic stress responses. Annu Rev Plant Biol *60*, 485-510.

134) Sansregret, R., Dufour, V., Langlois, M., Daayf, F., Dunoyer, P., Voinnet, O., and Bouarab, K. (2013). Extreme Resistance as a Host Counter-counter Defense against Viral Suppression of RNA Silencing. PLoS Pathog *9*, e1003435.

135) Schauer, S.E., Jacobsen, S.E., Meinke, D.W., and Ray, A. (2002). DICER-LIKE1: blind men and elephants in Arabidopsis development. Trends Plant Sci 7, 487-491.

136) Schott, G., Mari-Ordonez, A., Himber, C., Alioua, A., Voinnet, O., and Dunoyer, P. (2012). Differential effects of viral silencing suppressors on siRNA and miRNA loading support the existence of two distinct cellular pools of ARGONAUTE1. EMBO J *31*, 2553-2565.

137) Schwarz, D.S., Tomari, Y., and Zamore, P.D. (2004). The RNA-induced silencing complex is a Mg2+-dependent endonuclease. Curr Biol *14*, 787-791.

139) Shimura, H., and Pantaleo, V. (2011). Viral induction and suppression of RNA silencing in plants. Biochim Biophys Acta *1809*, 601-612.

140) Sijen, T., Steiner, F.A., Thijssen, K.L., and Plasterk, R.H. (2007). Secondary siRNAs result from unprimed RNA synthesis and form a distinct class. Science *315*, 244-247.

141) Sijen, T., Vijn, I., Rebocho, A., van Blokland, R., Roelofs, D., Mol, J.N., and Kooter, J.M. (2001). Transcriptional and posttranscriptional gene silencing are mechanistically related. Curr Biol *11*, 436-440.

142) Silhavy, D., Molnar, A., Lucioli, A., Szittya, G., Hornyik, C., Tavazza, M., and Burgyan, J. (2002). A viral protein suppresses RNA silencing and binds silencing-generated, 21- to 25nucleotide double-stranded RNAs. EMBO J *21*, 3070-3080.

143) Smith, C.J., Watson, C.F., Bird, C.R., Ray, J., Schuch, W., and Grierson, D. (1990). Expression of a truncated tomato polygalacturonase gene inhibits expression of the endogenous gene in transgenic plants. Mol Gen Genet *224*, 477-481.

145) Smith, L.M., Pontes, O., Searle, I., Yelina, N., Yousafzai, F.K., Herr, A.J., Pikaard, C.S., and Baulcombe, D.C. (2007). An SNF2 protein associated with nuclear RNA silencing and the spread of a silencing signal between cells in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell *19*, 1507-1521.

146) Song, J.J., Smith, S.K., Hannon, G.J., and Joshua-Tor, L. (2004). Crystal structure of Argonaute and its implications for RISC slicer activity. Science *305*, 1434-1437.

147) Stam, M., Viterbo, A., Mol, J.N., and Kooter, J.M. (1998). Position-dependent methylation and transcriptional silencing of transgenes in inverted T-DNA repeats: implications for posttranscriptional silencing of homologous host genes in plants. Mol Cell Biol *18*, 6165-6177.

148) Takeda, A., Iwasaki, S., Watanabe, T., Utsumi, M., and Watanabe, Y. (2008). The mechanism selecting the guide strand from small RNA duplexes is different among argonaute proteins. Plant Cell Physiol *49*, 493-500.

149) Tolia, N.H., and Joshua-Tor, L. (2007). Slicer and the argonautes. Nat Chem Biol *3*, 36-43.

150) van der Krol, A.R., Mur, L.A., Beld, M., Mol, J.N., and Stuitje, A.R. (1990). Flavonoid genes in petunia: addition of a limited number of gene copies may lead to a suppression of gene expression. Plant Cell *2*, 291-299.

151) Vaucheret, H. (2005). MicroRNA-dependent trans-acting siRNA production. Sci STKE 2005, pe43.

152) Vaucheret, H. (2006). Post-transcriptional small RNA pathways in plants: mechanisms and regulations. Genes Dev *20*, 759-771.

153) Vazquez, F., Vaucheret, H., Rajagopalan, R., Lepers, C., Gasciolli, V., Mallory, A.C., Hilbert, J.L., Bartel, D.P., and Crete, P. (2004). Endogenous trans-acting siRNAs regulate the accumulation of Arabidopsis mRNAs. Mol Cell *16*, 69-79.

154) Voinnet, O. (2009). Origin, biogenesis, and activity of plant microRNAs. Cell *136*, 669-687.

156) Voinnet, O., and Baulcombe, D.C. (1997). Systemic signalling in gene silencing. Nature *389*, 553.

157) Wang, X.B., Jovel, J., Udomporn, P., Wang, Y., Wu, Q., Li, W.X., Gasciolli, V., Vaucheret, H., and Ding, S.W. (2011). The 21-nucleotide, but not 22-nucleotide, viral secondary small interfering RNAs direct potent antiviral defense by two cooperative argonautes in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Cell *23*, 1625-1638.

158) Wang, X.B., Wu, Q., Ito, T., Cillo, F., Li, W.X., Chen, X., Yu, J.L., and Ding, S.W. (2010). RNAi-mediated viral immunity requires amplification of virus-derived siRNAs in Arabidopsis thaliana. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *107*, 484-489.

156) Wang, X.J., Gaasterland, T., and Chua, N.H. (2005). Genome-wide prediction and identification of cis-natural antisense transcripts in Arabidopsis thaliana. Genome Biol *6*, R30.
160) Wassenegger, M., Heimes, S., Riedel, L., and Sanger, H.L. (1994). RNA-directed de novo methylation of genomic sequences in plants. Cell *76*, 567-576.

161) Watkins, K.P., Kroeger, T.S., Cooke, A.M., Williams-Carrier, R.E., Friso, G., Belcher, S.E., van Wijk, K.J., and Barkan, A. (2007). A ribonuclease III domain protein functions in group II intron splicing in maize chloroplasts. Plant Cell *19*, 2606-2623.

162) Weinberg, D.E., Nakanishi, K., Patel, D.J., and Bartel, D.P. (2011). The inside-out mechanism of Dicers from budding yeasts. Cell *146*, 262-276.

163) wingard, S.A. (1928). Hosts and symptoms of ring spot, a virus disease of plants Journal of Aricultural Research *37*, 30.

164) Wu, H., Henras, A., Chanfreau, G., and Feigon, J. (2004). Structural basis for recognition of the AGNN tetraloop RNA fold by the double-stranded RNA-binding domain of Rnt1p RNase III. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *101*, 8307-8312.

165) Xie, Z., Allen, E., Wilken, A., and Carrington, J.C. (2005). DICER-LIKE 4 functions in trans-acting small interfering RNA biogenesis and vegetative phase change in Arabidopsis thaliana. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *102*, 12984-12989.

166) Yang, L., Liu, Z., Lu, F., Dong, A., and Huang, H. (2006). SERRATE is a novel nuclear regulator in primary microRNA processing in Arabidopsis. Plant J *47*, 841-850.

167) Ye, K., and Patel, D.J. (2005). RNA silencing suppressor p21 of Beet yellows virus forms an RNA binding octameric ring structure. Structure *13*, 1375-1384.

168) Yelina, N.E., Smith, L.M., Jones, A.M., Patel, K., Kelly, K.A., and Baulcombe, D.C. (2010). Putative Arabidopsis THO/TREX mRNA export complex is involved in transgene and endogenous siRNA biosynthesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *107*, 13948-13953.

169) Yigit, E., Batista, P.J., Bei, Y., Pang, K.M., Chen, C.C., Tolia, N.H., Joshua-Tor, L., Mitani, S., Simard, M.J., and Mello, C.C. (2006). Analysis of the C. elegans Argonaute family reveals that distinct Argonautes act sequentially during RNAi. Cell *127*, 747-757.

170) Yoshikawa, M., Peragine, A., Park, M.Y., and Poethig, R.S. (2005). A pathway for the biogenesis of trans-acting siRNAs in Arabidopsis. Genes Dev *19*, 2164-2175.

171) Yu, B., Bi, L., Zheng, B., Ji, L., Chevalier, D., Agarwal, M., Ramachandran, V., Li, W., Lagrange, T., Walker, J.C., *et al.* (2008). The FHA domain proteins DAWDLE in Arabidopsis and SNIP1 in humans act in small RNA biogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *105*, 10073-10078.

172) Zamore, P.D. (2004). Plant RNAi: How a viral silencing suppressor inactivates siRNA. Curr Biol *14*, R198-200.

173) Zamore, P.D., Tuschl, T., Sharp, P.A., and Bartel, D.P. (2000). RNAi: double-stranded RNA directs the ATP-dependent cleavage of mRNA at 21 to 23 nucleotide intervals. Cell *101*, 25-33.

174) Zhang, H., Kolb, F.A., Jaskiewicz, L., Westhof, E., and Filipowicz, W. (2004). Single processing center models for human Dicer and bacterial RNase III. Cell *118*, 57-68.

175) Zhang, X., Yuan, Y.R., Pei, Y., Lin, S.S., Tuschl, T., Patel, D.J., and Chua, N.H. (2006). Cucumber mosaic virus-encoded 2b suppressor inhibits Arabidopsis Argonaute1 cleavage activity to counter plant defense. Genes Dev *20*, 3255-3268.

176) Zhang, X., Zhao, H., Gao, S., Wang, W.C., Katiyar-Agarwal, S., Huang, H.D., Raikhel, N., and Jin, H. (2011). Arabidopsis Argonaute 2 regulates innate immunity via miRNA393(
*)-mediated silencing of a Golgi-localized SNARE gene, MEMB12. Mol Cell *42*, 356-366.

177) Zheng, X., Zhu, J., Kapoor, A., and Zhu, J.K. (2007). Role of Arabidopsis AGO6 in siRNA accumulation, DNA methylation and transcriptional gene silencing. EMBO J *26*, 1691-1701.

178) Zhu, H., Hu, F., Wang, R., Zhou, X., Sze, S.H., Liou, L.W., Barefoot, A., Dickman, M., and Zhang, X. (2011). Arabidopsis Argonaute10 specifically sequesters miR166/165 to regulate shoot apical meristem development. Cell *145*, 242-256.

179) Zilberman, D., Cao, X., and Jacobsen, S.E. (2003). ARGONAUTE4 control of locusspecific siRNA accumulation and DNA and histone methylation. Science *299*, 716-719.

180) Zytnicki, M., and Quesneville, H. (2011). S-MART, a software toolbox to aid RNA-Seq data analysis. PLoS One *6*, e25988.

Résumé

Chez la majorité des eucaryotes, les petits ARN (miRNA et siRNA) jouent des rôles essentiels au cours du développement, dans les réponses adaptatives aux stress, et dans la maintenance de la stabilité génétique. Les plantes codent quatre enzymes RNaseIII de type DICER-LIKE (DCL). DCL1, produit les miRNAs, tandis que DCL2, DCL3 et DCL4 produisent des siRNAs des tailles diverses. Les plantes codent également des enzymes appelées RNASE-THREE-LIKE (RTL) auxquelles il manque certains domaines spécifiques aux DCLs, et dont la fonction est largement inconnue.

Des plantes sur-exprimant RTL1 montrent des défauts morphologiques, et n'accumulent pas les siRNAs produits par DCL2, DCL3 ou DCL4, indiquant que RTL1 est un suppresseur général des voies de siRNA chez les plantes. L'activité de RTL1 nécessite un domaine RNaseIII fonctionnel. RTL1 ne s'exprime naturellement que faiblement dans les racines, mais l'infection virale induite fortement son expression dans les feuilles, ce qui suggère que l'induction de RTL1 est une stratégie générale utilisée par les virus pour contrer la défense antivirale basée sur siRNAs. En accord avec cette hypothèse, les plantes transgéniques sur-exprimant RTL1 sont plus sensibles à l'infection par le TYMV que des plantes de type sauvage, probablement parce que RTL1 empêche la production des siRNAs dirigés contre les RNA viraux. Cependant, les plantes transgéniques sur-exprimant RTL1 ne sont pas plus sensibles à l'infection par le TCV, TVCV ou le CMV, qui codent les suppresseurs de RNA silencing (VSR) plus puissants que le TYMV. En effet, le VSR de TCV inhibe l'activité de RTL1, suggérant que l'induction de l'expression de RTL1 par les virus et l'amortissement de l'activité de RTL1 par leurs VSRs est une double stratégie permettant d'établir une infection avec succès.

Des plantes sur-exprimant RTL2 ou des mutants *rtl2* ne montrent aucun défaut morphologique, et ne montrent pas de changement majeur du répertoire des petits ARNs endogènes. Toutefois, la sur-expression de RTL2 augmente l'accumulation des petits ARNs exogènes dans des essais d'expression transitoire, et cette activité nécessite un domaine RNaseIII fonctionnel. Il est donc possible que RTL2 clive certains substrats pour faciliter l'action des enzymes DCL.